© 2023 European Mathematical Society Published by EMS Press and licensed under a CC BY 4.0 license JEMS

Renjun Duan · Shuangqian Liu · Tong Yang

The Boltzmann equation for plane Couette flow

Received July 5, 2021

Abstract. In the paper, we study the plane Couette flow of a rarefied gas between two parallel infinite plates at $y = \pm L$ moving relative to each other with opposite velocities $(\pm \alpha L, 0, 0)$ along the *x*-direction. Assuming that the stationary state takes the specific form of $F(y, v_x - \alpha y, v_y, v_z)$ with the *x*-component of the molecular velocity sheared linearly along the *y*-direction, such steady flow is governed by a boundary value problem for a steady nonlinear Boltzmann equation driven by an external shear force under the homogeneous nonmoving diffuse reflection boundary condition. In the case of the Maxwell molecule collisions, we establish the existence of spatially inhomogeneous nonequilibrium stationary solutions to the steady problem for any small enough shear rate $\alpha > 0$ via an elaborate perturbation approach using Caffisch's decomposition together with Guo's $L^{\infty} \cap L^2$ theory. The result indicates a polynomial tail at large velocities for the stationary distribution. Moreover, the large time asymptotic stability of the stationary solution with exponential convergence is also obtained and as a consequence the nonnegativity of the steady profile is justified.

Keywords. Boltzmann equation, plane Couette flow, existence, dynamical stability

Contents

1.	Intoduction
2.	Basic estimates
3.	A trace theorem
4.	Steady problem: the first order correction
5.	Steady problem: remainder
	5.1. Caflisch's decomposition
	5.2. A priori estimates with parameters ϵ and σ
	5.3. Existence for the linear problem with $\sigma = 1$ and $\epsilon > 0$
	5.4. Estimates on the remainder 1152
6.	Unsteady problem: local existence

Renjun Duan: Department of Mathematics, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong, P. R. China; rjduan@math.cuhk.edu.hk

Shuangqian Liu: School of Mathematics and Statistics, and Key Laboratory of Nonlinear Analysis & Applications (Ministry of Education), Central China Normal University, Wuhan, 430079, P. R. China; sqliu@ccnu.edu.cn

Tong Yang: Department of Applied Mathematics, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Hong Kong, P. R. China; t.yang@polyu.edu.hk

Mathematics Subject Classification (2020): 35Q20

7.	Unsteady problem: asymptotic stability and positivity	1168
	7.1. L^{∞} estimates	1168
	7.2. L^2 estimates	1174
8.	Appendix	1179
Re	ferences	1181

1. Intoduction

The steady state of a rarefied gas between two parallel plates with the same temperatures and opposite velocities is one of the most fundamental boundary value problems in kinetic theory; see the books of Kogan [28], Cercignani [11], Garzó–Santos [22], and Sone [33]. In particular, numerical analysis of the plane Couette flow of rarefied gas on the basis of the nonlinear Boltzmann equation has been extensively conducted in the physics literature; see [29-31, 34, 35]. On the other hand, the mathematical study of this problem, even in the case when there is a temperature gap between two plates and a constant external force parallel to the boundaries, has been carried out by Esposito-Lebowitz-Marra [18, 19], proving the hydrodynamic description of the steady rarefied gas flow via approximation of the corresponding compressible Navier-Stokes equations with no-slip boundary condition. The result in [19] for the hard sphere model was later extended in [13] to the case of hard intermolecular potentials with Grad's angular cutoff as well as to the Maxwell molecule case for which only the polynomial decay of the stationary solution for large velocities is obtained compared to the exponential decay for the hard sphere model. In addition, closely related to the plane Couette flow, the stationary Boltzmann equation for rarefied gas in a Couette flow setting between two coaxial rotating cylinders was also extensively studied by Arkeryd–Nouri [3,4] in the fluid dynamic regime; see also a recent work [1] for further investigation of the ghost effect induced by curvature.

The current study of the plane Couette flow with boundaries is motivated by the previous work [15] by the first two authors on uniform shear flow via the Boltzmann equation without boundaries. We refer the readers to [9, 12, 21, 27, 36, 37] and references therein for more details on uniform shear flow. In particular, in recent significant progress [9], Bobylev–Nota–Velázquez studied the self-similar asymptotics of large time solutions for the Boltzmann equation with a general deformation of small strength and also showed that the self-similar profile can have finite polynomial moments of higher order as long as the deformation strength is small. In this paper, we will take into account the effect of shear force induced by the relative motion of the boundaries. We hope that the current study can shed some light on the relation between the Couette flow with boundary and the uniform shear flow without boundary. A rigorous justification of the behavior of solutions as $L \to \infty$ is left for future research.

To specify the problem, we consider the rarefied gas between two parallel infinite plates with the same uniform temperature $T_0 > 0$; the plate at y = +L is moving with velocity $(U_+, 0, 0)$ and $U_+ = \alpha L$ and the other at y = -L is moving with velocity $(U_-, 0, 0)$ and $U_- = -\alpha L$, where $\alpha > 0$ is a parameter for the shear rate; see Figure 1



Fig. 1. Plane Couette flow

below. Moreover, we assume that the gas molecules are of Maxwellian type and reflected diffusively on the plates $y = \pm L$.

Let $F = F(y, v) \ge 0$ be the unknown time-independent density distribution function of gas particles with velocity $v = (v_x, v_y, v_z) \in \mathbb{R}^3$ located at $y \in (-L, L)$ along the vertical direction with slab symmetry in the horizontal (x, z)-plane in space. The motion of such rarefied gas can be governed by the steady Boltzmann equation

$$v_y \partial_y F = \frac{1}{\mathrm{Kn}} Q(F, F) \tag{1.1}$$

subject to the diffuse reflection boundary conditions at $y = \pm L$, i.e.,

$$F(\pm L, v) = \mathcal{M}_{T_0}(v_x - U_{\pm}, v_y, v_z) \int_{v_y \leq 0} F(\pm L, v) |v_2| \, dv \quad \text{for } v_y \geq 0, \qquad (1.2)$$

and with a given total mass

$$\frac{1}{2L} \int_{-L}^{L} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} F(y, v) \, dv \, dy = M \tag{1.3}$$

for some positive constant M > 0. Here, the dimension parameter Kn > 0 is the Knudsen number given by the ratio of the mean free path length to the typical length and $\mathcal{M}_{T_0} = \mathcal{M}_{T_0}(v)$ associated with the uniform wall temperature T_0 at $y = \pm L$ is a global Maxwellian of the form

$$\mathcal{M}_{T_0}(v) = \frac{1}{2\pi T_0^2} e^{-\frac{|v_x|^2 + |v_y|^2 + |v_z|^2}{2T_0}}, \quad v = (v_x, v_y, v_z) \in \mathbb{R}^3.$$

For the Maxwell molecule model, the collision operator Q, which is bilinear and acts only on the velocity variable, takes the form

$$Q(F_1, F_2)(v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} B_0(\cos\theta) [F_1(v'_*)F_2(v') - F_1(v_*)F_2(v)] \, d\omega \, dv_*, \quad (1.4)$$

where the velocity pairs (v_*, v) and (v'_*, v') satisfy the relation

$$v'_{*} = v_{*} - [(v_{*} - v) \cdot \omega]\omega, \quad v' = v + [(v_{*} - v) \cdot \omega]\omega,$$
 (1.5)

denoting the ω -representation according to conservation of momentum and energy in the elastic collision, i.e., $v_* + v = v'_* + v'$ and $|v_*|^2 + |v|^2 = |v'_*|^2 + |v'|^2$. Throughout the paper, we assume that the collision kernel $B_0(\cos \theta)$ with $\cos \theta = (v - v_*) \cdot \omega / |v - v_*|$, depending only on the angle θ between the relative velocity $v - v_*$ and ω , satisfies Grad's angular cutoff assumption

$$0 \le B_0(\cos\theta) \le C |\cos\theta| \tag{1.6}$$

for a generic constant C > 0.

In this paper, for the boundary value problem (1.1)–(1.3) with finite Knudsen number, we look for stationary solutions of the specific form

$$F_{\rm st}(y, v_x - \alpha y, v_y, v_z), \tag{1.7}$$

where the horizontal molecular velocity $v_x - \alpha y$ is sheared linearly along the y-direction. After plugging (1.7) into (1.1)–(1.3) and normalizing L, M and T₀ to be 1 for simplicity, the stationary distribution function F_{st} is determined by the following boundary value problem:

$$\begin{cases} v_{y}\partial_{y}F_{st} - \alpha v_{y}\partial_{v_{x}}F_{st} = Q(F_{st}, F_{st}), & y \in (-1, 1), v = (v_{x}, v_{y}, v_{z}) \in \mathbb{R}^{3}, \\ F_{st}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_{y} \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi} \mu \int_{v_{y} \geq 0} F_{st}(\pm 1, v)|v_{y}| \, dv, & v \in \mathbb{R}^{3}, \\ \frac{1}{2} \int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} F_{st}(y, v) \, dv \, dy = 1, \end{cases}$$
(1.8)

with the global Maxwellian $\mu = (2\pi)^{-3/2} e^{-|v|^2/2}$. This paper aims to establish the existence of solutions to the above boundary value problem (1.8) for any small enough shear rate $\alpha > 0$, as well as its large time asymptotic stability.

To solve (1.8), we will apply the perturbation approach by taking the shear rate as a small parameter. If $\alpha = 0$, then $F_{st} = \mu$ is the unique equilibrium solution to the boundary value problem (1.8). However, for $\alpha > 0$, the external shear force drives the rarefied gas far from the equilibrium. Precisely, we set

$$F_{\rm st} = \mu + \sqrt{\mu} \left\{ \alpha G_1 + \alpha^2 G_R \right\} \tag{1.9}$$

with

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \sqrt{\mu} \, G_1 \, dv \, dy = \int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \sqrt{\mu} \, G_R \, dv \, dy = 0. \tag{1.10}$$

By plugging (1.9) into (1.8) and comparing coefficients of the equation in the order of α , we obtain the equation for G_1 :

$$v_y \partial_y G_1 + LG_1 = -v_x v_y \sqrt{\mu} \tag{1.11}$$

with boundary condition

$$G_1(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} G_1(\pm 1, v)|v_y| \, dv, \tag{1.12}$$

and the equation for the remainder G_R :

$$v_y \partial_y G_R - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} G_R + \frac{1}{2} \alpha v_x v_y G_R + L G_R$$

= $v_y \partial_{v_x} G_1 - \frac{1}{2} v_x v_y G_1$
+ $\Gamma(G_1, G_1) + \alpha \{ \Gamma(G_R, G_1) + \Gamma(G_1, G_R) \} + \alpha^2 \Gamma(G_R, G_R)$ (1.13)

with boundary condition

$$G_R(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} \, G_R(\pm 1, v)|v_y| \, dv.$$
(1.14)

Here, the linear and nonlinear collision operators L and Γ are given by

$$Lf = -\mu^{-1/2} \{ Q(\mu, \sqrt{\mu} f) + Q(\sqrt{\mu} f, \mu) \},\$$

and

$$\Gamma(f,g) = \mu^{-1/2} \{ Q(\sqrt{\mu} f, \sqrt{\mu} g) + Q(\sqrt{\mu} g, \sqrt{\mu} f) \}.$$

Properties of these two operators will be presented in Section 2. Note that to solve G_1 , both (1.11) and (1.12) with the restriction $\int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \sqrt{\mu} G_1 dv dy = 0$ are invariant under the transformation $G_1(y, v) \rightarrow -G_1(y, -v_x, v_y, v_z)$. Thus, if the solution is unique, then G_1 is odd in v_x , i.e.

$$G_1(y,v) = -G_1(y, -v_x, v_y, v_z), \quad -1 \le y \le 1, \ v = (v_x, v_y, v_z) \in \mathbb{R}^3.$$
(1.15)

Hence, the diffuse reflection boundary condition (1.12) for G_1 can be reduced to the homogeneous inflow boundary condition

$$G_1(\pm 1, v)|_{v_v \le 0} = 0. \tag{1.16}$$

The first existence result for the Couette flow problem is stated as follows; we use a velocity weight function

$$w_q = w_q(v) := (1 + |v|^2)^q \tag{1.17}$$

with an integer q > 0.

Theorem 1.1. Assume that the Boltzmann collision kernel is of Maxwell molecule type (1.6). Then the boundary value problem (1.8) admits a unique steady solution $F_{st} = F_{st}(y, v) \ge 0$ of the form (1.9) satisfying (1.10) and the following estimates on G_1 and G_R , respectively.

(i) The first order correction G₁ = G₁(y, v), uniquely solving the boundary value problem (1.11), (1.16), satisfies (1.15), and for any integers m ≥ 0 and q ≥ 0,

$$\|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_1\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \tilde{C}_1, \tag{1.18}$$

where $\tilde{C}_1 > 0$ is a constant depending only on m and q.

(ii) The remainder $G_R = G_R(y, v)$, uniquely solving the boundary value problem (1.13)– (1.14), has the property that there is an integer $q_0 > 0$ such that for any integer $q \ge q_0$, there is $\alpha_0 = \alpha_0(q) > 0$ depending on q such that for any $\alpha \in (0, \alpha_0)$ and any integer $m \ge 0$, $\tilde{G}_R := \sqrt{\mu} G_R$ satisfies

$$\|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \tilde{G}_R\|_{L^\infty} \le \tilde{C}_{m,q}, \tag{1.19}$$

where $\tilde{C}_{m,q} > 0$ is a constant depending only on m and q but independent of α .

Here are some remarks on Theorem 1.1.

Remark 1.1. The steady solution F_{st} to the boundary value problem (1.8) is essentially constructed in the regime where the collision is dominated and the shearing effect is weak. By (1.18) and (1.19), the steady solution takes the form of

$$F_{\rm st} = \mu + \alpha \sqrt{\mu} \, G_1 + O(1) \alpha^2 \tag{1.20}$$

with the second order remainder decaying in large velocities only polynomially. The order of the polynomial decay can be arbitrarily large as long as the shear rate is sufficiently small. One generally has $\alpha_0(q) \rightarrow 0$ as $q \rightarrow \infty$, and in particular one may take

$$\alpha_0(q) = \frac{\nu_0}{8q}$$

as shown in the proof. The result is consistent with the one in [15] for uniform shear flow without boundaries in the spatially homogeneous setting.

Remark 1.2. Without using the odd-in- v_x property as in (1.15), the existence of a solution $G_1(y, v)$ to the BVP (1.11) under the diffuse reflection boundary condition (1.12) can also be established by the same approach as for the remainder G_R . Here, we take this formulation only for brevity of presentation because the proof for the homogeneous inflow boundary is relatively easier than that for the diffuse reflection boundary.

Remark 1.3. We notice that it is necessary to deal with the v_x -derivative estimates due to the appearance of the shear force term $v_y \partial_{v_x} F_{st}$; in particular, the term $v_y \partial_{v_x} G_1$ becomes a source term in equation (1.13) for G_R . We emphasize that although one can obtain the derivative estimates as in (1.18) and (1.19) in v_x , it is impossible to obtain a similar estimate on the v_y -derivative because $G_1(y, v)$ is discontinuous at $v_y = 0$; see (4.25) for an explicit form of G_1 when the nonlocal collision term is omitted.

To establish the nonnegativity of the stationary profile $F_{st}(y, v)$, we further study the following initial boundary value problem for the Boltzmann equation with a shear force:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t F + v_y \partial_y F - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} F = Q(F, F), & t > 0, \ y \in (-1, 1), \ v = (v_x, v_y, v_z) \in \mathbb{R}^3, \\ F(0, y, v) = F_0(y, v), & y \in (-1, 1), \ v \in \mathbb{R}^3, \\ F(t, \pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi} \ \mu \int_{v_y \geq 0} F(t, \pm 1, v)|v_y| \ dv, \quad t \geq 0, \ v \in \mathbb{R}^3. \end{cases}$$

$$(1.21)$$

One may expect that the solution of the time-dependent problem (1.21) tends in large time toward that of the steady problem (1.8). In this connection, the second result is concerned with the large time asymptotic stability of the stationary solution F_{st} which gives the nonnegativity of F_{st} .

Theorem 1.2. Let $F_{st}(y, v)$ be the steady state obtained in Theorem 1.1 corresponding to a shear rate $\alpha \in (0, \alpha_0)$. There are constants $\varepsilon_0 > 0$, $\lambda_0 > 0$ and C > 0, independent of α , such that if the initial data $F_0(y, v) \ge 0$ satisfy

$$\|w_q[F_0(y,v) - F_{\rm st}(y,v))]\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \varepsilon_0$$

with

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} [F_0(y,v) - F_{\rm st}(y,v)] \, dv \, dy = 0, \tag{1.22}$$

then the initial boundary value problem (1.21) admits a unique solution $F(t, y, v) \ge 0$ satisfying the following decay estimate:

 $\|w_q[F(t, y, v) - F_{\rm st}(y, v)]\|_{L^{\infty}} \le Ce^{-\lambda_0 t} \|w_q[F_0(y, v) - F_{\rm st}(y, v)]\|_{L^{\infty}}$ (1.23)

for any $t \ge 0$.

Remark 1.4. Thanks to Theorem 1.1, the expansion (1.20) for the steady state $F_{st}(y, v)$ is uniform in $\alpha \in (0, \alpha_0)$ when the large enough integer q is chosen and hence $\alpha_0 = \alpha_0(q) > 0$ is fixed. Thus, the exponential time decay estimate (1.23) also holds uniformly in $\alpha \in (0, \alpha_0)$, in particular, C and λ_0 are independent of α . As $\alpha \to 0$, we are able to recover the exponential convergence of the solution F(t, y, v) to the global Maxwellian μ in L^{∞} norm weighted by the polynomial velocity weight $w_q(v)$.

In what follows we present the key points and strategy of the proof of the main results stated above. As pointed out in a recent nice survey by Esposito–Marra [20], stationary non-equilibrium solutions to the Boltzmann equation, despite their relevance in applications, are much less studied than time-dependent solutions, and no general existence theory is available, due to technical difficulties. The readers may refer to [20] and references therein for a thorough review of this subject. As for the Boltzmann equation for the plane Couette flow, [13,19] mentioned before seem to be the only mathematical works on the fluid dynamic approximation solutions in the steady case for small Knudsen number. But it remains unsolved how to justify the large time asymptotics toward the stationary solution for the time-dependent problem in the same setting of the fluid limit. In this paper, motivated by [15], instead of constructing the fluid dynamic approximation solutions, we focus on the existence and dynamical stability of the plane Couette flow with finite Knudsen number for both the steady and unsteady problems.

First of all, for the original Couette flow problem (1.1)–(1.3), we note that a direct perturbation approach by linearization of the boundary condition in α with the techniques of [13,16,18,19] can be applied to prove the existence of stationary solutions, because the

inhomogeneous data appear only on the tangent (x, z)-plane. The solution thus obtained has the structure around global Maxwellians of the form

$$F(y,v) = \mu(v) + \sqrt{\mu(v)} \left(\alpha g_1 + \alpha^2 g_2 + \cdots \right)$$

corresponding to the linearization of the wall Maxwellians at $y = \pm L$,

$$\mu(v_x \pm \alpha L, v_y, v_z) = \mu(v) + (\pm \alpha L)\mu_1(v) + (\pm \alpha L)^2 \mu_2(v) + \cdots$$

On the other hand, in the formulation used in this paper, we rather look for the solution of the specific structure (1.7), and hence the problem can be reduced to solving (1.8) for the Boltzmann equation driven by an external shear force under the homogeneous nonmoving diffuse reflection boundary condition. This means that the solution to the Couette flow problem (1.1)–(1.3) is established around the local Maxwellian $\mu(v_x - \alpha y, v_y, v_z)$ instead of the global Maxwellian μ such that the kinetic diffusive reflection boundary condition (1.2) is satisfied for the background solution $\mu(v_x - \alpha y, v_y, v_z)$. In addition, as mentioned before, it seems more convenient to use the formulation with shear forces than the original one driven by the relative motion of boundaries in order to understand the asymptotic behavior of solutions as $L \to \infty$, that is, how the Couette flow with boundaries converges to a shear flow without boundary; that is closely related to what has been studied in the previous works [15] for uniform shear flow in the spatially homogeneous setting.

We also comment on the boundary value problem (1.11)–(1.12) for the first order correction term $G_1(y, v)$. Notice that the inhomogeneous source term $-v_x v_y \sqrt{\mu}$ in (1.11) does not satisfy the boundary condition (1.12), so a space-dependent nontrivial solution is induced. If the boundary condition is omitted and only the spatially homogeneous equation is considered, the corresponding solution can be written as

$$L^{-1}(-v_x v_y \sqrt{\mu}) = -\frac{1}{2b_0} v_x v_y \sqrt{\mu}$$
(1.24)

with the positive constant $b_0 := 3\pi \int_{-1}^{1} B_0(z) z^2(1-z^2) dz$. The form (1.24) is then consistent with the uniform shear flow in [15]. To solve the boundary value problem (1.11)–(1.12), the same approach as for the remainder G_R can be applied. However, in order to simplify the proof, we have made use of an additional property (1.15) to reduce the diffusive reflection boundary condition (1.12) to the homogeneous inflow boundary condition (1.16). To treat (1.11) and (1.16), we develop a direct $L^{\infty}-L^2$ method without using the stochastic cycles as in [25]. In particular, thanks to the splitting $L = \nu_0 - K$, if the nonlocal term KG_1 is omitted, the solution to the boundary value problem

$$v_{y}\partial_{y}G_{1} + v_{0}G_{1} = \mathfrak{F}, \quad G_{1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_{y} \leq 0} = 0,$$

can be explicitly expressed as

$$G_1(y,v) = \mathbf{1}_{v_y > 0} \int_{-1}^{y} e^{-\frac{v_0(y-y')}{v_y}} v_y^{-1} \mathfrak{F}(y',v) \, dy' + \mathbf{1}_{v_y < 0} \int_{y}^{1} e^{-\frac{v_0(y-y')}{v_y}} v_y^{-1} \mathfrak{F}(y',v) \, dy'.$$

Moreover, we use the bootstrap argument as in [14] to treat the following problem with a parameter $\sigma \in [0, 1]$:

$$v_y \partial_y G_1 + v_0 G_1 = \sigma K G_1 + \mathfrak{F}, \quad G_1(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = 0.$$

With the solvability starting from $\sigma = 0$, we are able to iteratively solve the above boundary value problem for σ over the intervals $[0, \sigma_*]$, $[\sigma_*, 2\sigma_*]$, and so on, where $\sigma_* > 0$ is small enough such that $\sigma_* KG_1$ can be regarded as a source term in the L^{∞} estimation. Therefore, in the end, the original problem corresponding to $\sigma = 1$ can be solved. In this procedure, the uniform L^{∞} estimate can be obtained through the interplay with the L^2 estimates by using Guo's technique [25]. Here, we have omitted the discussion of the mass conservation (1.10) for G_1 . In fact, inspired by [25], an extra damping term ϵG_1 with the vanishing parameter $\epsilon > 0$ has to be used; cf. Section 4 for details.

We now discuss some key points about estimating the remainder G_R solving the boundary value problem (1.13)–(1.14). The direct $L^{\infty}-L^2$ approach is no longer available because the linear term $\frac{1}{2}\alpha v_x v_y G_R$ cannot be controlled in the large velocity regime. Notice that this term arises from the action of the shear force on the exponential weight function $\sqrt{\mu}$ in the perturbation. To overcome it, as in [15], we apply Caflisch's decomposition

$$\sqrt{\mu}\,G_R = G_{R,1} + \sqrt{\mu}\,G_{R,2},$$

where $G_{R,1}$ and $G_{R,2}$ satisfy the coupled boundary value problems

$$\begin{cases} v_y \partial_y G_{R,1} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} G_{R,1} + v_0 G_{R,1} = \chi_M \,\mathcal{K} G_{R,1} - \frac{1}{2} \alpha \sqrt{\mu} \, v_x v_y G_{R,2} + \mathcal{F}_1, \\ G_{R,1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \le 0} = 0, \end{cases}$$
(1.25)

and

$$\begin{cases} v_{y}\partial_{y}G_{R,2} - \alpha v_{y}\partial_{v_{x}}G_{R,2} + LG_{R,2} = (1 - \chi_{M})\mu^{-1/2}\mathcal{K}G_{R,1} + \mathcal{F}_{2}, \\ G_{R,2}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_{y} \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_{y} \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} G_{R}(\pm 1, v)|v_{y}| \, dv, \end{cases}$$
(1.26)

respectively. Then, in (1.25), the term $-\frac{1}{2}\alpha\sqrt{\mu} v_x v_y G_{R,2}$ can be controlled due to the appearance of $\sqrt{\mu}$. Here, since the operator norm of \mathcal{K} may not be small, the term $\chi_M \mathcal{K} G_{R,1}$ over the large velocity regime can be viewed as a source in (1.25) for $G_{R,1}$, while the complementary term $(1 - \chi_M)\mu^{-1/2}\mathcal{K} G_{R,1}$ is taken as a source in (1.26) for $G_{R,2}$. A crucial observation inspired by [2] in estimating $G_{R,1}$ is that the norm of the weighted operator $w_q \chi_M \mathcal{K}$ on L_v^{∞} with the polynomial velocity weight $w_q = (1 + |v|^2)^q$ can be arbitrarily small as long as M and q are chosen sufficiently large; see Lemma 2.4. Notice that Lemma 2.4 holds only for the Maxwell molecule potential, as shown in the proof. Compared to the previous work [15] for uniform shear flow, it is more complicated to solve the coupling steady boundary value problems (1.25) and (1.26) in a bounded domain. We now list the main steps in the proof.

• *Step 1*. We first modify the coupled boundary value problems with two parameters, $\epsilon > 0$ small enough and $0 \le \sigma \le 1$ (see (5.10)), and obtain the a priori estimates uniform

in ϵ and σ in the L^{∞} framework; see Lemma 5.1 and the proof of Proposition 5.1. For the proof of Lemma 5.1, we apply Guo's approach [25] to the shear flow problem in a slab. In particular, we introduce the mild formulation (5.23) to treat the diffuse boundary condition with the help of Lemma 8.1, and re-prove Ukai's trace theorem in Lemma 3.1 for the L^2 estimates.

- Step 2. Similar to finding the first order correction term G_1 , we design an explicit procedure to solve the parameterized boundary value problem (5.10) iteratively for $\sigma \in [0, 1]$ from $\sigma = 0$ to $\sigma = 1$ for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$; see Lemma 5.2. Notice that the problem for $\sigma = 0$ is reduced to the one without the nonlocal collision terms under the homogeneous inflow boundary condition so that the method of characteristics can be directly applied.
- Step 3. We study the limit $\epsilon \to 0$ to obtain the desired solution; see Section 5.4 for details. The key point is to obtain the macroscopic estimates in order to bound the L^2 norm of $G_{R,2}$ in terms of the L^{∞} norm of $G_{R,1}$. We apply the dual argument developed first in [16]. Note that it is delicate to make these estimates uniform for any small parameter $\epsilon > 0$.

With the existence of a stationary solution F_{st} , the asymptotic stability of the perturbation $F = F_{st} + \sqrt{\mu} f$ as in (6.1) is considered in the reformulated IBVP (6.2). Technically, we follow the same strategy as for the steady problem. More precisely, we also use the decomposition $\sqrt{\mu} f = f_1 + \sqrt{\mu} f_2$ with f_1 , f_2 satisfying the coupled IBVPs (6.4)–(6.5) and (6.6)–(6.7), respectively. In order to treat initial data with only the polynomial velocity weight, we set $f_2(0, y, v) \equiv 0$ and the boundary conditions on f_1 and f_2 both as diffuse reflections which are slightly different from (1.25) and (1.26) in the steady problem. Moreover, in contrast with the steady case, we need to construct suitable temporal energy functionals so as to close the a priori estimates. In particular, the energy functional for the second component f_2 in Caflisch's decomposition is complicated, because there is a subtle interplay with f_1 . For this, we make use of a linear combination of estimates for the two functionals, where the smallness of the shear rate α and finiteness of the domain play an important role. Specifically, we obtain estimates (7.2) and (7.3) for the weighted L^{∞} norms. To treat the L^2 estimates on the right hand side of (7.3), we construct another functional $\mathcal{E}_{int}(t)$ in Lemma 7.2 (see (7.29)), to capture the macroscopic dissipation, and conclude the desired estimates (7.33) and hence (7.36).

Finally, we remark that there have been extensive studies on the stability of shear flow in the multi-dimensional space domain in the context of fluid dynamic equations [32]; in particular, we mention the important mathematical contributions by Bedrossian et al. [5,7,8] for either an infinite 2D channel domain $\mathbb{T}_x \times \mathbb{R}_y$ or an infinite 3D channel domain $\mathbb{T}_x \times \mathbb{R}_y \times \mathbb{T}_z$, and an interesting work by Ionescu–Jia [26] on the asymptotic stability of the Couette flow for the 2D Euler equations in the 2D finite channel domain $\mathbb{T}_x \times [0, 1]$ with the zero normal velocities on the two boundary planes y = 0, 1; see also the nice survey [6] and references therein. In fact, in comparison with the 1D problem (1.8) under consideration, it would be more interesting to study the existence and asymptotic stability of stationary solutions in the multi-dimensional setting corresponding to those works on The rest of this paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we give some basic estimates on the linearized and nonlinear collision operators. In particular, we obtain Lemma 2.4 which is crucially used to obtain the smallness of the nonlocal operator \mathcal{K} for large velocity. In Section 3, we revisit Ukai's trace theorem in both the steady and time-dependent cases for the transport operator with shear force in the 1D setting under consideration. In Sections 4 and 5, we establish estimates on the first order correction G_1 and the remainder G_R , respectively, and hence complete the proof of Theorem 1.1 without showing nonnegativity of the stationary solution. Then we study the time-dependent problem for local-in-time existence in Section 6 and the exponential time asymptotic stability of the stationary solution in Section 7 so that the nonnegativity of the stationary solution follows. The appendix Section 8 includes some estimates on the boundary product measure when there are multiple bounces induced by the diffuse boundary condition.

Notations. Throughout this paper, *C* denotes some generic positive (generally large) constant and λ denotes a generic positive (generally small) constant. $D \leq E$ means that there is a generic constant C > 0 such that $D \leq CE$; $D \sim E$ means $D \leq E$ and $E \leq D$; and $\mathbf{1}_A$ indicates the characteristic function of the set *A*. We denote by $\|\cdot\|$ the $L^2((-1,1) \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ or $L^2(-1,1)$ or $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ norm. Sometimes, without any confusion, we use $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}}$ to denote either the $L^{\infty}([-1,1] \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ norm or the $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ norm. Moreover, (\cdot, \cdot) denotes the L^2 inner product in $(-1,1) \times \mathbb{R}^3$ with the L^2 norm $\|\cdot\|$ and $\langle\cdot\rangle$ denotes the L^2 inner product in \mathbb{R}^3_v . We denote by $\gamma_+ = \{(1,v) \mid v \in \mathbb{R}^3, v_y > 0\} \cup \{(-1,v) \mid v \in \mathbb{R}^3, v_y < 0\}$ the outgoing set, by $\gamma_- = \{(1,v) \mid v \in \mathbb{R}^3, v_y < 0\} \cup \{(-1,v) \mid v \in \mathbb{R}^3, v_y > 0\}$ the incoming set, and by $\gamma_0 = \{(\pm 1, v) \mid v \in \mathbb{R}^3, v_y = 0\}$ the grazing set. Furthermore $|f|_{2,\pm} = |f\mathbf{1}_{\gamma_{\pm}}|_2$ represents the L^2 norm of f(y, v) on the boundary $y = \pm 1$. Finally, we define

$$P_{\gamma} f(\pm 1, v) = \sqrt{\mu(v)} \int_{n(\pm 1) \cdot v' > 0} f(x, v') \sqrt{\mu(v')} (n(\pm 1) \cdot v') dv',$$

where $n(\pm 1) = (0, \pm 1, 0)$. One sees that $P_{\gamma} f$ defined on $\{\pm 1\} \times \mathbb{R}^3$ is an L_v^2 -projection with respect to the measure $|v_y| \sqrt{\mu(v)} dv$ for any function f defined on γ_+ .

2. Basic estimates

In this section we summarize some basic estimates to be used in the following sections. Let us first give some elementary estimates for the linearized collision operator L and the nonlinear collision operator Γ , defined by

$$Lg = -\mu^{-1/2} \{ Q(\mu, \sqrt{\mu} g) + Q(\sqrt{\mu} g, \mu) \}$$
(2.1)

and

$$\Gamma(f,g) = \mu^{-1/2} Q(\sqrt{\mu} f, \sqrt{\mu} g)$$

= $\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} B_0 \mu^{1/2}(v_*) [f(v'_*)g(v') - f(v_*)g(v)] \, d\omega \, dv_*.$ (2.2)

It is known that

$$Lf = vf - Kf$$

with

$$\begin{cases} v = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} B_0(\cos \theta) \mu(v_*) \, d\omega \, dv_* = v_0, \\ Kf = \mu^{-1/2} \{ Q(\mu^{1/2} f, \mu) + Q_{gain}(\mu, \mu^{1/2} f) \}, \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

where Q_{gain} denotes the positive part of Q in (1.4). Note that v_0 is a positive constant in the case of Maxwell molecule collision. The kernel of L, denoted as ker L, is a fivedimensional space spanned by

$$\{1, v, |v|^2 - 3\}\sqrt{\mu} := \{\phi_i\}_{i=1}^5$$

Define a projection from L^2 to ker L by

$$\mathbf{P}_0 g = \{a_g + \mathbf{b}_g \cdot v + (|v|^2 - 3)c_g\}\sqrt{\mu}$$

for $g \in L^2$, and correspondingly denote the operator \mathbf{P}_1 by $\mathbf{P}_1 g = g - \mathbf{P}_0 g$, which is orthogonal to \mathbf{P}_0 in L^2 .

It is also convenient to define

$$\mathcal{L}f = -\{Q(f,\mu) + Q(\mu,f)\} = \nu f - \mathcal{K}f$$

with

$$vf = v_0 f, \quad \mathcal{K}f = Q(f,\mu) + Q_{gain}(\mu,f) = \sqrt{\mu} K(f/\sqrt{\mu}),$$
 (2.4)

according to (2.3).

The following lemma is concerned with the integral operator K given by (2.3), and its proof for the hard sphere model was given in [25, Lemma 3, p. 727]. Recall (1.17) for the polynomial velocity weight w_q .

Lemma 2.1. Let K be defined as in (2.3). Then

$$Kf(v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathbf{k}(v, v_*) f(v_*) \, dv_*$$

with

$$|\mathbf{k}(v, v_*)| \le C\{1 + |v - v_*|^{-2}\}e^{-\frac{1}{8}|v - v_*|^2 - \frac{1}{8}\frac{||v|^2 - |v_*|^2|^2}{|v - v_*|^2}}.$$

Moreover, let

$$\mathbf{k}_w(v, v_*) = w_q(v)\mathbf{k}(v, v_*)w_{-q}(v_*)$$
(2.5)

with $q \geq 0$. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathbf{k}_w(v, v_*) e^{\varepsilon |v - v_*|^2 / 8} \, dv_* \le \frac{C}{1 + |v|}$$

for any $\varepsilon \geq 0$ small enough.

For the velocity weighted v_x -derivative estimates of the nonlinear operator Γ , we have the following lemma.

Lemma 2.2. In the Maxwell molecular case,

$$\|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \Gamma(f, g)\|_{L^2_v} \le C \sum_{m' \le m} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'} f\|_{L^2_v} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m-m'} g\|_{L^2_v},$$
(2.6)

$$\|w_{q}\partial_{v_{x}}^{m}\Gamma(f,g)\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C \sum_{m' \leq m} \|w_{q}\partial_{v_{x}}^{m'}f\|_{L^{\infty}} \|w_{q}\partial_{v_{x}}^{m-m'}g\|_{L^{\infty}},$$
(2.7)

for any integers $m \ge 0$ and $q \ge 0$. Moreover, for q > 3/2 and $m \ge 0$,

$$\|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m Q(F_1, F_2)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \sum_{m_1 \le m} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m-m_1} F_1\|_{L^{\infty}} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m_1} F_2\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$
 (2.8)

Proof. We prove (2.7) only, since the proofs for (2.6) and (2.8) are similar and they follow from the proof of [23, Lemma 2.3, p. 1111] and [2, Proposition 3.1, p. 397] respectively. By definition (2.2), we have

$$\partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \Gamma(f,g) = \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} B_{0} \mu^{1/2}(v_{*}) f(v_{*}')g(v') \, d\omega \, dv_{*} - \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} B_{0} \mu^{1/2}(v_{*}) f(v_{*})g(v) \, d\omega \, dv_{*} = \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} B_{0} \mu^{1/2}(v_{*}) f(v_{*}')g(v') \, d\omega \, dv_{*} - c_{0} \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} g(v) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mu^{1/2}(v_{*}) f(v_{*}) \, dv_{*},$$

where we have used $\int_{\mathbb{S}^2} B_0 d\omega = c_0$ for a constant $c_0 > 0$. Recalling (1.5), by the change of variable $\tilde{u} = v_* - v$ we then have

$$\begin{split} \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} B_{0} \mu^{1/2}(v_{*}) f(v_{*}') g(v') \, d\omega \, dv_{*} \\ &= \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} B_{0} \mu^{1/2} (\tilde{u} + v) f(v + \tilde{u}_{\perp}) g(v + \tilde{u}_{\parallel}) \, d\omega \, d\tilde{u} \\ &= \sum_{m_{1} + m_{2} \leq m} C_{m}^{m_{1}, m_{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} B_{0} (\partial_{v_{x}}^{m - m_{1} - m_{2}} \mu^{1/2}) (\tilde{u} + v) \\ &\times (\partial_{v_{x}}^{m_{1}} f) (v + \tilde{u}_{\perp}) (\partial_{v_{x}}^{m_{2}} g) (v + \tilde{u}_{\parallel}) \, d\omega \, d\tilde{u}, \end{split}$$

where $\tilde{u}_{\parallel} = (\tilde{u} \cdot \omega)\omega$ and $\tilde{u}_{\perp} = \tilde{u} - \tilde{u}_{\parallel}$. Then, by taking directly the L^{∞} norm, (2.7) holds because

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \int_{\mathbb{S}^2} B_0(\partial_{v_x}^m \mu^{1/2})(v_*) \, d\omega \, dv_* < \infty$$

for any integer $m \ge 0$. This completes the proof of Lemma 2.2.

The following lemma can be found in [24, Lemmas 3.2 and 3.3, pp. 638–639], where the hard sphere model was considered.

Lemma 2.3. In the Maxwell molecular case, there is a constant $\delta_0 > 0$ such that

$$\langle Lf, f \rangle = \langle L\mathbf{P}_1 f, \mathbf{P}_1 f \rangle \ge \delta_0 \|\mathbf{P}_1 f\|^2.$$
(2.9)

Moreover, for any integer m > 0, there are constants $\delta_1 > 0$ and C > 0 such that

$$\langle \partial_{v_{X}}^{m} Lf, \partial_{v_{X}}^{m} f \rangle \ge \delta_{1} \| \partial_{v_{X}}^{m} f \|^{2} - C \| f \|^{2}.$$
(2.10)

Proof. Since (2.9) is quite elementary, we only show (2.10). As in Lemma 2.2, the key point here is to show that the action of the derivatives $\partial_{v_x}^m$ on the nonlocal operator *L* does not involve any other partial derivatives such as ∂_{v_y} or ∂_{v_z} . By (2.1) and (2.9), we have

$$\langle \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} Lf, \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} f \rangle = \langle L \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} f, \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} f \rangle + \sum_{m_{1} < m} C_{m}^{m_{1}} \langle \partial_{v_{x}}^{m-m_{1}} L \partial_{v_{x}}^{m_{1}} f, \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} f \rangle$$

$$\geq \delta_{0} \| \mathbf{P}_{1}[\partial_{v_{x}}^{m} f] \|^{2} - \sum_{m_{1} < m} C_{m}^{m_{1}} | \langle \partial_{v_{x}}^{m-m_{1}} L \partial_{v_{x}}^{m_{1}} f, \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} f \rangle$$

$$(2.11)$$

with

where we have used the change of variable $\tilde{u} = v_* - v$ again. Consequently, as in (2.6), it follows that

$$\sum_{m_{1} < m} C_{m}^{m_{1}} |\langle \partial_{v_{x}}^{m-m_{1}} L \partial_{v_{x}}^{m_{1}} f, \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} f \rangle| \leq \eta \|\partial_{v_{x}}^{m} f \|^{2} + C_{\eta} \sum_{m_{1} < m} \|\partial_{v_{x}}^{m_{1}} f \|^{2} \\ \leq \eta \|\partial_{v_{x}}^{m} f \|^{2} + C_{\eta} \eta_{1} \|\partial_{v_{x}}^{m} f \|^{2} + C_{\eta, \eta_{1}} \|f\|^{2}$$

$$(2.12)$$

for small enough constants $\eta > 0$ and $\eta_1 > 0$, where Sobolev's interpolation inequality $\|\partial_{v_x}^{m_1} f\|^2 \le \eta_1 \|\partial_{v_x}^m f\|^2 + C_{\eta_1} \|f\|^2$ has been used.

On the other hand, it can be easily checked that

$$\|\mathbf{P}_{1}[\partial_{v_{x}}^{m}f]\| \ge \|\partial_{v_{x}}^{m}f\| - \|\mathbf{P}_{0}[\partial_{v_{x}}^{m}f]\| \ge \|\partial_{v_{x}}^{m}f\| - C\|f\|.$$
(2.13)

Finally, plugging (2.12) and (2.13) into (2.11) gives (2.10). This completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.

Next, the following lemma which was proved in [15, Proposition 3.1, p. 13] plays a significant role in obtaining L^{∞} estimates of the first component in Caflisch's decomposition of solutions.

Lemma 2.4. Let \mathcal{K} be given by (2.4). Then for any integer $m \ge 0$, there is C > 0 such that for any arbitrarily large q > 0 we have

$$\sup_{|v| \ge M} w_q |\partial_{v_x}^m \mathcal{K} f| \le \frac{C}{q} \sum_{0 \le m' \le m} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'} f\|_{L^{\infty}}$$
(2.14)

for some M = M(q) > 0. In particular, one can choose $M = q^2$.

Proof. Since the general case

$$\sup_{|v| \ge M} w_q |\partial_v^m \mathcal{K} f| \le \frac{C}{q} \sum_{0 \le m' \le m} \|w_q \partial_v^{m'} f\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

was proved in [15, Proposition 3.1, p. 13], as in Lemma 2.3 we only point out that the derivative $\partial_{v_x}^m$ acting on the nonlocal operator \mathcal{K} does not involve other derivatives such as ∂_{v_y} or ∂_{v_z} . Indeed, in view of (2.4), similar to the proof of Lemma 2.3, we have

$$\begin{split} \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \mathcal{K}f &= \sum_{m_{1} \leq m} C_{m}^{m_{1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} B_{0}(\partial_{v_{x}}^{m_{1}}f)(v + \tilde{u}_{\perp})(\partial_{v_{x}}^{m-m_{1}}\mu)(v + \tilde{u}_{\parallel}) \, d\omega \, d\tilde{u} \\ &- \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \mu(v) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} B_{0}f(v_{*}) \, d\omega \, dv_{*} \\ &+ \sum_{m_{1} \leq m} C_{m}^{m_{1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} B_{0}(\partial_{v_{x}}^{m_{1}}f)(v + \tilde{u}_{\parallel})(\partial_{v_{x}}^{m-m_{1}}\mu)(v + \tilde{u}_{\perp}) \, d\omega \, d\tilde{u} \\ &= \sum_{m_{1} \leq m} C_{m}^{m_{1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} B_{0}(\partial_{v_{x}}^{m_{1}}f)(v_{*}')(\partial_{v_{x}}^{m-m_{1}}\mu)(v') \, d\omega \, dv_{*} \\ &- (\partial_{v_{x}}^{m}\mu)(v) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} B_{0}f(v_{*}) \, d\omega \, dv_{*} \\ &+ \sum_{m_{1} \leq m} C_{m}^{m_{1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} B_{0}(\partial_{v_{x}}^{m_{1}}f)(v')(\partial_{v_{x}}^{m-m_{1}}\mu)(v_{*}') \, d\omega \, dv_{*}. \end{split}$$

Then a similar calculation to estimating J_1 and J_2 in [15, Proposition 3.1, p. 13] yields (2.14). This completes the proof of Lemma 2.4.

3. A trace theorem

In this section, we present the following version of Ukai's trace theorem; see also [17, Lemma 2.3, p. 22] and [17, Lemma 3.2, p. 56], respectively.

Lemma 3.1. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $y \in [-h, h]$ with $0 < h < \infty$, and denote the near-grazing set of γ_+ or γ_- as

$$\gamma_{\pm}^{\varepsilon} \equiv \{(y,v) \in \gamma_{\pm} : |v_y| \le \varepsilon \text{ or } |v_y| \ge 1/\varepsilon, v = (v_x, v_y, v_z)\}.$$

Then there exists a constant $C_{\varepsilon,h} > 0$ depending on ε and h such that

$$\|f\mathbf{1}_{\gamma_{\pm}\setminus\gamma_{\pm}^{\varepsilon}}\|_{L^{1}} \le C_{\varepsilon,h}\{\|f\|_{L^{1}} + \|\{v_{y}\partial_{y} - \alpha v_{y}\partial_{v_{x}}\}f\|_{L^{1}}\}.$$
(3.1)

Moreover,

$$\int_{0}^{T} |f \mathbf{1}_{\gamma_{+} \setminus \gamma_{+}^{\varepsilon}}(t)|_{L^{1}} dt$$

$$\leq C_{\varepsilon,h} \left\{ ||f(0)||_{L^{1}} + \int_{0}^{T} [||f(t)||_{L^{1}} + ||\{\partial_{t} + v_{y}\partial_{y} - \alpha v_{y}\partial_{v_{x}}\}f(t)||_{L^{1}}] dt \right\}$$
(3.2)

for any $T \geq 0$.

Proof. To prove (3.1), we only consider the case that the boundary phase is outgoing, because the incoming case can be treated similarly. We introduce a parameter $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and treat (y, v) as functions of t. Consider the characteristic line [s, Y(s; t, y, v), V(s; t, y, v)] passing through (y, v) = (t, y(t), v(t)) such that

$$\frac{dY}{ds} = v_y, \quad \frac{dV_x}{ds} = -\alpha v_y. \tag{3.3}$$

Then

$$Y(s;t,y,v) = y - (t-s)v_y, \quad V(s;t,y,v) = (v_x + \alpha(t-s)v_y, v_y, v_z),$$
(3.4)

for $(y, v) \in \gamma_+ \setminus \gamma_+^{\varepsilon}$. Along this trajectory, one has the identity

$$f(y,v) = f(Y(s;t, y, v), V(s;t, y, v)) + \int_{s}^{t} \frac{d}{d\tau} f(Y(\tau;t, y, v), V(\tau;t, y, v)) d\tau.$$
(3.5)

On the other hand, $(y, v) \in \gamma_+ \setminus \gamma_+^{\varepsilon}$ also implies $h\varepsilon \leq t_{\mathbf{b}}(y, v) \leq h/\varepsilon$, where $t_{\mathbf{b}}$ is as in (5.17) below. Therefore, by taking $s \in [t - t_{\mathbf{b}}(y, v), t]$, we infer from (3.5) that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\gamma_{+}\setminus\gamma_{+}^{e}}|f(y,v)|\,|v_{y}|\,dv\\ &\leq C_{\varepsilon,h}\int_{\gamma_{+}\setminus\gamma_{+}^{e}}\int_{t-\mathbf{b}(y,v)}^{t}|f(Y(s;t,y,v),V(s;t,y,v))|\,|v_{y}|\,ds\,dv\\ &+C_{\varepsilon,h}\int_{\gamma_{+}\setminus\gamma_{+}^{e}}\int_{t-\mathbf{b}(y,v)}^{t}\left|\frac{d}{ds}f(Y(s;t,y,v),V(s;t,y,v))\right|\,|v_{y}|\,ds\,dv\\ &= C_{\varepsilon,h}\int_{\gamma_{+}\setminus\gamma_{+}^{e}}\int_{t-\mathbf{b}(y,v)}^{t}|f(Y(s;t,y,v),V(s;t,y,v))|\,|v_{y}|\,ds\,dv\\ &+C_{\varepsilon,h}\int_{\gamma_{+}\setminus\gamma_{+}^{e}}\int_{t-\mathbf{b}(y,v)}^{t}|[v_{y}\partial_{Y}-\alpha v_{y}\partial_{V_{X}}]f(Y(s;t,y,v),V(s;t,y,v))|\,|v_{y}|\,ds\,dv. \end{split}$$

$$(3.6)$$

Next, in light of the Jacobian

$$\frac{\partial(Y(s), V(s))}{\partial(s, v)} = \begin{vmatrix} v_y & 0 & s & 0 \\ -\alpha v_y & 1 & -\alpha s & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{vmatrix} = v_y,$$
(3.7)

and by the change of variable

$$[\tilde{y}, u] = [Y(s; t, y, v), V(s; t, y, v)] = [y - (t - s)v_y, v_x + \alpha(t - s)v_y, v_y, v_z],$$

one gets

$$\int_{\gamma_{+}\setminus\gamma_{+}^{\varepsilon}} \int_{t-t_{b}(y,v)}^{t} |f(Y(s;t,y,v),V(s;t,y,v))| |v_{y}| \, ds \, dv \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{-h}^{h} |f(\tilde{y},u)| \, d\tilde{y} \, du.$$
(3.8)

Similarly, by noticing that $\partial_Y f(Y, V) = \partial_{\tilde{y}} f(\tilde{y}, u), \ \partial_{V_x} f(Y, V) = \partial_{u_x} f(\tilde{y}, u)$ and $v_y = u_y$, one has

$$\int_{\gamma_{+}\setminus\gamma_{+}^{\varepsilon}} \int_{t-t_{b}(y,v)}^{t} |[v_{y}\partial_{Y} - \alpha v_{y}\partial_{V_{x}}]f(Y(s;t,y,v),V(s;t,y,v))||v_{y}|dsdv$$

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \int_{-h}^{h} |[u_{y}\partial_{\tilde{y}} - \alpha u_{y}\partial_{u_{x}}]f(\tilde{y},u))|d\tilde{y}du. \quad (3.9)$$

Consequently, the desired estimate (3.1) in the case of outgoing boundary follows from (3.8), (3.9) and (3.6).

We now turn to proving (3.2). For $f \in L^1([T_1, T] \times [-h, h] \times \mathbb{R}^3)$, we first show that

$$\int_{T_1}^T \int_{u \cdot n(y_f) > 0} \int_{\max\{-t_b(y_f, u), T_1 - \tilde{t}\}}^0 |f(\tilde{t} + s, Y(\tilde{t} + s; \tilde{t}, y_f, u), V(\tilde{t} + s; \tilde{t}, y_f, u))| |u_y|$$

 $\times ds du d\tilde{t}$

$$\leq \int_{T_1}^T \int_{-h}^h \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |f(t, y, v)| \, dy \, dv \, dt, \quad (3.10)$$

where $y_f = \pm h$, $T \ge T_1 \ge 0$ and

$$Y(\tilde{t}+s;\tilde{t},y_f,u) = y_f + su_y, \quad V(\tilde{t}+s;\tilde{t},y_f,u) = (u_x - \alpha su_y,u_y,u_z)$$

with

$$Y(\tilde{t};\tilde{t},y_f,u)=y_f,\quad V(\tilde{t};\tilde{t},y_f,u)=u=(u_x,u_y,u_z).$$

Actually, given $(t, y, u) \in [T_1, T] \times [-h, h] \times \mathbb{R}^3$, let us define $y_f = y + t_b(y, -u)u_y = \pm h$, and denote

$$y = Y(t; t - s, y_f, u) = y_f + su_y, \quad v = V(t; t - s, y_f, u) = (u_x - \alpha su_y, u_y, u_z),$$

for $u \cdot n(y_f) > 0$. It is easy to see that $0 \ge s \ge -t_b(y_f, u)$, and it is natural to require that

 $t - s \le T$. By the change of variable $(y, v) \rightarrow (s, u)$ and using (3.7), one has

$$\int_{T_1}^T \int_{u \cdot n(y_f) > 0} \int_{\max\{-t_b(y_f, u), -(T-t)\}}^0 |f(t, Y(t; t-s, y_f, u), V(t; t-s, y_f, u))| |u_y| \\ \times ds \, du \, dt$$

$$\leq \int_{T_1}^T \int_{-h}^h \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |f(t, y, v)| \, dy \, dv \, dt. \quad (3.11)$$

On the other hand, if we denote $\tilde{t} = t - s$, then it follows that $s \ge T_1 - \tilde{t}$ due to $t \ge T_1$. In summary, one has

 $s \ge \max\{-t_{\mathbf{b}}(y_f, u), T_1 - \tilde{t}\}, \quad T_1 \le \tilde{t} \le T.$

Therefore, by the change of variable $t \to \tilde{t}$ we have

$$\int_{T_1}^T \int_{u \cdot n(y_f) > 0} \int_{\max\{-t_b(y_f, u), -(T-t)\}}^0 |f(t, Y(t; t-s, y_f, u), V(t; t-s, y_f, u))| |u_y|$$

$$= \int_{T_1}^T \int_{u \cdot n(y_f) > 0} \int_{\max\{-t_b(y_f, u), T_1 - \tilde{t}\}}^0 |f(\tilde{t} + s, Y(\tilde{t} + s; \tilde{t}, y_f, u), V(\tilde{t} + s; \tilde{t}, y_f, u))|u_y| \times ds \, du \, d\tilde{t}.$$
(3.12)

Consequently, (3.11) and (3.12) imply (3.10). In addition, it follows that

$$f(t, y_f, u) = f(t + s, Y(t + s; t, y_f, u), V(t + s; t, y_f, u)) + \int_s^0 \frac{d}{d\tau} f(t + \tau, Y(t + \tau; t, y_f, u), V(t + \tau; t, y_f, u)) d\tau = f(t + s, Y(t + s; t, y_f, u), V(t + s; t, y_f, u)) + \int_s^0 [\partial_t + u_y \partial_y - \alpha u_y \partial_{u_x}] f(t + \tau, Y(t + \tau; t, y_f, u), V(t + \tau; t, y_f, u)) d\tau.$$
(3.13)

For any $(t, y_f, u) \in [\varepsilon_1, T] \times \gamma_+ \setminus \gamma_+^{\varepsilon}$ with $\varepsilon_1 > 0$ to be determined later and for $0 \ge s \ge \max \{-t_{\mathbf{b}}(y_f, u), \varepsilon_1 - t\}$, we then find from (3.13) and (3.10) that

$$\min \{h\varepsilon, \varepsilon_1\} \int_{\varepsilon_1}^T \int_{u \cdot n(y_f) > 0} |f(t, y_f, u)| |u_y| \, du \, dt$$

$$\leq \int_{\varepsilon_1}^T \int_{u \cdot n(y_f) > 0} \int_{\max\{-t_b(y_f, u), -t\}}^0 |f(t + s, Y(t + s; t, y_f, u), V(t + s; t, y_f, u))| |u_y| \\ \times \, dt \, ds \, du$$

$$+ \int_{\varepsilon_1}^T \int_{\max\left\{-t_{\mathbf{b}}(y_f, u), -t\right\}}^0 \int_{u \cdot n(y_f) > 0}^0 \int_s^0 \left| \left[\partial_t + u_y \partial_y - \alpha u_y \partial_{u_x}\right] \right. \\ \left. f(t + \tau, Y(t + \tau), V(t + \tau))\right| \left|u_y\right| d\tau du dt$$

$$\leq \int_0^T \int_{u \cdot n(y_f) > 0} \int_{\max\{-t_b(y_f, u), -t\}}^0 |f(t+s, Y(t+s; t, y_f, u), V(t+s; t, y_f, u))| |u_y| \times dt \, ds \, du$$

$$f(t + \tau, Y(t + \tau), V(t + \tau)) | |u_y| d\tau du dt,$$
 (3.14)

where we have used the fact that

$$h\varepsilon \leq t_{\mathbf{b}}(y_f, u) \leq h/\varepsilon$$

due to $(y_f, u) \in \gamma_+ \setminus \gamma_+^{\varepsilon}$.

Next, applying Fubini's theorem and using (3.10) again, one also has

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{u \cdot n(y_{f}) > 0} \int_{\max\{-t_{b}(y_{f}, u), -t\}}^{0} \int_{s}^{0} \left| \left[\partial_{t} + u_{y}\partial_{y} - \alpha u_{y}\partial_{u_{x}}\right] \right| d\tau du dt ds$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} dt \int_{u \cdot n(y_{f}) > 0} \int_{\max\{-t_{b}(y_{f}, u), -t\}}^{\tau} ds \int_{\max\{-t_{b}(y_{f}, u), -t\}}^{0} d\tau$$

$$\times \left| \left[\partial_{t} + u_{y}\partial_{y} - \alpha u_{y}\partial_{u_{x}}\right] f(t + \tau) \right| \left| u_{y} \right|$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{T} dt \int_{u \cdot n(y_{f}) > 0} \int_{\max\{-t_{b}(y_{f}, u), -t\}}^{0} d\tau$$

$$\times \left| \max\{-t_{b}(y_{f}, u), -t\} \right| \left| \left[\partial_{t} + u_{y}\partial_{y} - \alpha u_{y}\partial_{u_{x}}\right] f(t + \tau) \right| \left| u_{y} \right|$$

$$\leq \max\{h\varepsilon, \varepsilon_{1}\} \int_{0}^{T} dt \int_{u \cdot n(y_{f}) > 0} \int_{\max\{-t_{b}(y_{f}, u), -t\}}^{0} d\tau$$

$$\times \left| \left[\partial_{t} + u_{y}\partial_{y} - \alpha u_{y}\partial_{u_{x}}\right] f(t + \tau) \right| \left| u_{y} \right|$$

$$\leq \max\{h\varepsilon,\varepsilon_1\} \int_0^T dt \int_{-h}^h dy \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} du \, |[\partial_t + u_y \partial_y - \alpha u_y \partial_{u_x}] f(t,y,u)|. \quad (3.15)$$

Once (3.14) and (3.15) are obtained, it remains to compute

$$\int_0^{\varepsilon_1} \int_{u \cdot n(y_f) > 0} |f(t, y_f, u)| |u_y| \, du \, dt.$$

In fact, if we choose ε_1 to be small enough so that $\varepsilon_1 \leq h\varepsilon$, at this stage, the backward trajectory hits the initial plane first. Therefore, for $(t, y_f, u) \in [0, \varepsilon_1] \times \gamma_+ \setminus \gamma_+^{\varepsilon}$, by directly

using (3.7) and applying (3.10) once again, it follows that

$$\begin{split} \int_0^{\varepsilon_1} \int_{u \cdot n(y_f) > 0} |f(t, y_f, u)| \, |u_y| \, du \, dt \\ &\leq \int_0^{\varepsilon_1} \int_{u \cdot n(y_f) > 0} |f(0, Y(0; t, y_f, u), V(0; t, y_f, u))| \, |u_y| \, du \, dt \\ &\quad + \int_0^{\varepsilon_1} \int_{u \cdot n(y_f) > 0} \int_{-t}^0 |[\partial_t + u_y \partial_y - \alpha u_y \partial_{u_x}] f(t + \tau)| \, |u_y| \, d\tau \, du \, dt \\ &\leq C \int_{-h}^h \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |f(0, y, u)| \, dy \, du \\ &\quad + C \int_0^{\varepsilon_1} \int_{-h}^h \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |[\partial_t + u_y \partial_y - \alpha u_y \partial_{u_x}] f(t)| \, dy \, du \, dt. \end{split}$$

The proof of Lemma 3.1 is thus complete.

4. Steady problem: the first order correction

In this and the next sections, we are going to show Theorem 1.1 giving the existence of solutions to the steady problem (1.8). Recall (1.9) and (1.10). For this purpose, we will first study the first order correction term G_1 determined by the boundary value problem (1.11), (1.16). Notice that (1.15) and (1.12) are satisfied. Existence of the remainder G_R for the boundary value problem (1.13)–(1.14) will be considered in the next section. Indeed, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 4.1. The boundary value problem (1.11), (1.16) admits a unique solution $G_1 = G_1(y, v)$ satisfying

$$G_1(-v_x) = -G_1(v_x), \quad \int_{-1}^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} G_1(y,v) \, dv \, dy = 0, \tag{4.1}$$

and

$$\|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_1\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \tilde{C}_1, \tag{4.2}$$

for any integers $m \ge 0$ and $q \ge 0$, where $\tilde{C}_1 > 0$ is a constant depending only on m and q.

To prove this proposition, let $0 < \epsilon < 1$ and $0 \le \sigma \le 1$. Then we consider the following general approximation problem:

$$\epsilon G_1 + v_y \partial_y G_1 + v_0 G_1 = \sigma K G_1 + \mathfrak{F}, \tag{4.3}$$

$$G_1(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \le 0} = 0, \tag{4.4}$$

where the source term $\mathfrak{F} = \mathfrak{F}(y, v)$ is given and satisfies $\mathfrak{F}(-v_x) = -\mathfrak{F}(v_x)$. Recall that v_0 and K are defined by (2.3). The above boundary value problem can be formally

reduced to

$$v_y \partial_y G_1 + LG_1 = \mathfrak{F},$$

$$G_1(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = 0,$$

as $\sigma \to 1^-$ and $\epsilon \to 0^+$. To prove this rigorously, we deduce the following a priori estimate.

Lemma 4.1 (A priori estimate). *The solution to the boundary value problem* (4.3)–(4.4) *satisfies the following estimate uniform in both* σ *and* ϵ :

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_1\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \mathcal{C}_0 \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}},$$
(4.5)

where N_0 is an arbitrary nonnegative integer and the constant $\mathfrak{C}_0 > 0$ is independent of ϵ and σ .

Proof. The proof of (4.5) is divided into two steps.

 L^{∞} estimates. Let $\mathfrak{G}_m = w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_1$ for $m \ge 0$ and $q \ge 0$. Then \mathfrak{G}_m solves the problem

$$\epsilon \mathfrak{G}_m + v_y \partial_y \mathfrak{G}_m + v_0 \mathfrak{G}_m$$

= $\sigma w_q K \partial_{v_x}^m G_1 + \sigma \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m' < m} C_m^{m'} w_q (\partial_{v_x}^{m-m'} K) (\partial_{v_x}^{m'} G_1) - w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F}, \quad (4.6)$

$$\mathfrak{G}_m(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \le 0} = 0. \tag{4.7}$$

We write the solution of (4.6)–(4.7) in the following mild form:

$$\mathfrak{G}_{m}(y,v) = \sigma \int_{-1}^{y} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} \frac{w_{q}}{v_{y}} K(w_{-q}\mathfrak{G}_{m})(y') \, dy' + \sigma \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m' < m} C_{m}^{m'} \int_{-1}^{y} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} \frac{w_{q}}{v_{y}} (\partial_{v_{x}}^{m-m'} K) (\partial_{v_{x}}^{m'} G_{1})(y') \, dy' - \int_{-1}^{y} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} \frac{w_{q}}{v_{y}} \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \mathfrak{F} \, dy' =: \sum_{i=1}^{3} \mathfrak{F}_{i} \quad \text{for } v_{y} > 0, \qquad (4.8)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{G}_{m}(y,v) &= -\sigma \int_{y}^{1} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} \frac{w_{q}}{v_{y}} K(w_{-q}\mathfrak{G}_{m})(y') \, dy' \\ &- \sigma \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m' < m} C_{m}^{m'} \int_{y}^{1} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} \frac{w_{q}}{v_{y}} (\partial_{v_{x}}^{m-m'} K) (\partial_{v_{x}}^{m'} G_{1})(y') \, dy' \\ &+ \int_{y}^{1} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} \frac{w_{q}}{v_{y}} \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \mathfrak{F} \, dy' =: \sum_{i=4}^{6} \mathfrak{I}_{i} \quad \text{for } v_{y} < 0. \end{split}$$

We next compute \Im_i $(1 \le i \le 6)$ term by term. Since

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}>0} \int_{-1}^{y} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} v_{y}^{-1} dy' \leq \frac{1}{v_{0}+\epsilon} \left(1-e^{-\frac{2(v_{0}+\epsilon)}{|v_{y}|}}\right) < \frac{1}{v_{0}+\epsilon}, \\ \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}<0} \left| \int_{y}^{1} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} v_{y}^{-1} dy' \right| < \frac{1}{v_{0}+\epsilon}, \end{cases}$$
(4.9)

we see that

$$|\mathfrak{F}_3|, |\mathfrak{F}_6| \le C \| w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F} \|_{L^{\infty}}$$

In view of definition (2.3) and Lemma 2.2,

$$|\mathfrak{F}_{2}|,|\mathfrak{F}_{5}| \leq C\mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m' < m} \|w_{q}(\partial_{v_{x}}^{m-m'}K)(\partial_{v_{x}}^{m'}G_{1})\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C\mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m' < m} \|w_{q}\partial_{v_{x}}^{m'}G_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

Consequently, we have

$$\begin{split} |\mathfrak{G}_{m}(y,v)| &\leq \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}>0} \, \sigma \int_{-1}^{y} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} v_{y}^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v') |\mathfrak{G}_{m}(v',y')| \, dv' \, dy' \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}<0} \, \sigma \int_{y}^{1} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} |v_{y}|^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v') |\mathfrak{G}_{m}(v',y')| \, dv' \, dy' \\ &+ C \, \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m' < m} \|w_{q} \, \partial_{v_{x}}^{m'} G_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \, \|w_{q} \, \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}}, \end{split}$$
(4.10)

where \mathbf{k}_w is given in Lemma 2.1. Then we iterate (4.10) once more to obtain

$$|\mathfrak{G}_m(y,v)| \le \sum_{i=1}^6 \mathfrak{F}_{1,i}$$
 (4.11)

with

$$\begin{split} \Im_{1,1} &= \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}>0} \, \sigma^{2} \int_{-1}^{y} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} v_{y}^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v') \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}'>0} \int_{-1}^{y'} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}'}(y'-y'')} v_{y}^{-1} \\ &\qquad \times \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v',v'') |\mathfrak{G}_{m}(v'',y'')| \, dv'' \, dy'' \, dv' \, dy', \\ \Im_{1,2} &= \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}>0} \, \sigma^{2} \int_{-1}^{y} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} v_{y}^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v') \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}'<0} \int_{y'}^{1} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y'-y'')} |v_{y}'|^{-1} \\ &\qquad \times \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v',v'') |\mathfrak{G}_{m}(v'',y'')| \, dv'' \, dy'' \, dv' \, dy', \\ \Im_{1,3} &= \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}<0} \, \sigma^{2} \int_{y}^{1} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} |v_{y}|^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v') \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}'>0} \int_{-1}^{y'} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}'}(y'-y'')} v_{y}'^{-1} \\ &\qquad \times \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v',v'') |\mathfrak{G}_{m}(v'',y'')| \, dv'' \, dy'' \, dv' \, dy', \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \Im_{1,4} &= \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}<0} \, \sigma^{2} \int_{y}^{1} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} |v_{y}|^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v') \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}'<0} \int_{y'}^{1} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}'}(y'-y'')} |v_{y}'|^{-1} \\ &\qquad \times \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v',v'') |\mathfrak{G}_{m}(v'',y'')| \, dv'' \, dy'' \, dv' \, dy', \\ \Im_{1,5} &= \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}>0} \, \sigma \int_{-1}^{y} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} v_{y}^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v') \\ &\qquad \times \left(C \, \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m'< m} \|w_{q} \, \partial_{v_{x}}^{m'} G_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \|w_{q} \, \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}} \right) dv' \, dy', \\ \Im_{1,6} &= \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}<0} \, \sigma \int_{y}^{1} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} |v_{y}|^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v') \\ &\qquad \times \left(C \, \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m'< m} \|w_{q} \, \partial_{v_{x}}^{m'} G_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \|w_{q} \, \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}} \right) dv' \, dy'. \end{split}$$

By using (4.9) and Lemma 2.1, we see that the last two terms can be bounded as

$$|\mathfrak{T}_{1,5}|,|\mathfrak{T}_{1,6}| \le C \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m' < m} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'} G_1\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

For the other four terms, we only compute $\Im_{1,2}$ because the other three terms can be treated similarly. The estimates are divided into three cases. First of all, we take M > 0 large enough.

Case 1: |v| > M. In this case, Lemma 2.1 and (4.9) directly give

$$\mathfrak{F}_{1,2} \leq \frac{C}{1+M} \|\mathfrak{G}_m\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

Case 2: $|v| \le M$ and |v'| > 2M, or $|v'| \le 2M$ and |v''| > 3M. In this case, we have either |v - v'| > M or |v' - v''| > M so that one of the following two estimates holds respectively:

$$\mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v') \leq C e^{-\varepsilon M^{2}/16} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v') e^{\varepsilon |v-v'|^{2}/16},$$

$$\mathbf{k}_{w}(v',v'') \leq C e^{-\varepsilon M^{2}/16} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v',v'') e^{\varepsilon |v'-v''|^{2}/16}.$$

This together with Lemma 2.1 and (4.9) gives

$$\mathfrak{F}_{1,2} \leq C e^{-\varepsilon M^2/16} \|\mathfrak{G}_m\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

Case 3: $|v| \le M$, $|v'| \le 2M$ and $|v''| \le 3M$. In this situation, we make use of the boundedness of the operator K on the complement of a singular set. For any large N > 0, we choose a number M(N) to define

$$\mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v,v') \equiv \mathbf{1}_{|v-v'| \ge 1/M, |v'| \le 2M} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v'), \mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v',v'') \equiv \mathbf{1}_{|v'-v''| \ge 1/M, |v''| \le 3M} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v',v''),$$

$$(4.12)$$

such that

$$\sup_{v} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v,v') - \mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v')| \, dv' \leq \frac{1}{N},$$
$$\sup_{v'} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v',v'') - \mathbf{k}_{w}(v',v'')| \, dv'' \leq \frac{1}{N}.$$

Moreover, note that $\mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v, v'), \mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v', v'') \leq C_M$. We further rewrite

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v')\mathbf{k}_{w}(v',v'') &= [\mathbf{k}_{w}(v,v') - \mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v,v')]\mathbf{k}_{w}(v',v'') \\ &+ \mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v,v')[\mathbf{k}_{w}(v',v'') - \mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v',v'')] \\ &+ \mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v',v'')\mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v,v'). \end{aligned}$$

The first two difference terms lead to the small contribution to $\mathfrak{T}_{1,2}$ bounded by

$$\frac{C}{N} \|\mathfrak{G}_m\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

For the last term, we use the decomposition

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}>0} \, \sigma^{2} \int_{-1}^{y} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}}(y-y')} v_{y}^{-1} \int_{|v'|\leq 2M, |v''|\leq 3M} \mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v,v') \mathbf{k}_{w,M}(v',v'') \\ & \times \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}'<0} \bigg[\int_{y'+\eta_{0}}^{1} + \int_{y'}^{y'+\eta_{0}} \bigg] e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}'}(y'-y'')} |v_{y}'|^{-1} |\mathfrak{G}_{m}(v'',y'')| \, dv'' \, dy'' \, dv' \, dy' \\ & := \mathfrak{I}_{1,2}^{I} + \mathfrak{I}_{1,2}^{II}, \end{split}$$

where $\eta_0 > 0$ is suitably small. For $\mathfrak{T}_{1,2}^I$, since $y'' - y' \ge \eta_0$, it follows that

$$\mathbf{1}_{v_{y}'<0} e^{-\frac{v_{0}+\epsilon}{v_{y}'}(y'-y'')} |v_{y}'|^{-1} \le \frac{C}{\eta_{0}},$$

which together with Lemma 2.1 as well as (4.9) implies

$$\mathfrak{I}_{1,2}^{I} \leq \frac{C_{M}}{\eta_{0}} \left\{ \int_{|v''| \leq 3M} \int_{-1}^{1} |\partial_{v_{x}}^{m} G_{1}(v'', y'')|^{2} dv'' dy'' \right\}^{1/2}.$$

As for $\mathfrak{T}_{1,2}^{II}$, since $y'' - y' \leq \eta_0$, we find that for $\beta \in (0, 1)$,

$$\int_{|v'| \le 2M} \mathbf{1}_{v'_{y} < 0} \int_{y'}^{y' + \eta_{0}} e^{-\frac{v_{0} + \epsilon}{v'_{y}} (y' - y'')} |v'_{y}|^{-1} dy'' dv'$$

$$= \int_{|v'| \le 2M} \mathbf{1}_{v'_{y} < 0} \int_{y'}^{y' + \eta_{0}} e^{-\frac{v_{0} + \epsilon}{v'_{y}} (y' - y'')} \left| \frac{y' - y''}{v'_{y}} \right|^{\beta} |y' - y''|^{-\beta} |v'_{y}|^{-1+\beta} dy'' dv'$$

$$\le C \int_{|v'| \le 2M} |v'_{y}|^{-1+\beta} dv' \int_{y'}^{y' + \eta_{0}} |y' - y''|^{-\beta} dy'' \le C_{M} \eta_{0}^{1-\beta}, \quad (4.13)$$

where we have used the fact that

$$e^{-\frac{v_0+\epsilon}{|v_y'|}|y'-y''|}\left|\frac{y'-y''}{v_y'}\right|^{\beta}<\infty.$$

Plugging (4.13) into $\mathfrak{T}_{1,2}^{II}$, we get

$$\mathfrak{T}_{1,2}^{II} \leq C_M \eta_0^{1-\beta} \|\mathfrak{G}_m\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

As a consequence,

$$\Im_{1,2} \leq \left\{ \frac{C}{N} + C_M \eta_0^{1-\beta} + C e^{-\varepsilon M^2/16} \right\} \| \mathfrak{S}_m \|_{L^{\infty}} + C_M \| \partial_{v_X}^m G_1 \|.$$

Substituting the above estimates into (4.11), we conclude

$$\|\mathfrak{G}_{m}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m' < m} \|w_{q} \partial_{v_{\chi}}^{m'} G_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \|\partial_{v_{\chi}}^{m} G_{1}\| + C \|w_{q} \partial_{v_{\chi}}^{m} \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$
 (4.14)

A linear combination of (4.14) from m = 0 to $m = N_0$ gives the a priori estimate

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|\mathfrak{G}_m\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|\partial_{v_x}^m G_1\| + C \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}},$$
(4.15)

where C > 0 depends on N_0 and q. This concludes the L^{∞} estimate.

 L^2 estimates. To close the L^{∞} estimate (4.15), we need to derive an L^2 estimate for G_1 . For this, we first consider the zeroth order L^2 estimate on G_1 . Notice that $G_1 = \mathbf{P}_0 G_1 + \mathbf{P}_1 G_1$ and $\mathbf{P}_0 G_1 = [a_1 + \mathbf{b}_1 \cdot \mathbf{v} + c_1(|\mathbf{v}|^2 - 3)]\sqrt{\mu}$ with $\mathbf{b}_1 = [b_{1,1}, b_{1,2}, b_{1,3}]$. Moreover,

$$a_1 = \langle G_1, \sqrt{\mu} \rangle, \quad \mathbf{b}_1 = \langle G_1, v\sqrt{\mu} \rangle, \quad c_1 = \frac{1}{6} \langle G_1, |v|^2 \sqrt{\mu} \rangle$$

On the other hand, from (4.8) with m = 0, one has $G_1(y, -v_x, v_y, v_z) = -G_1(y, v_x, v_y, v_z)$, i.e. G_1 is odd in v_x . This implies

$$a_1 = b_{1,2} = b_{1,3} = c_1 = 0. (4.16)$$

To obtain an L^2 estimate of the macroscopic component, it remains now to deduce an L^2 estimate of $b_{1,1}$. Actually, one can show that

$$\|b_{1,1}\|^2 \le C \|\mathbf{P}_1 G_1\|^2 + C \int_{v_y \ge 0} |v_y| G_1^2(\pm 1) \, dv + C \|w_q \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}}^2, \tag{4.17}$$

where C > 0 is a constant independent of ϵ and σ . For this, we define

$$\Psi = \Psi_{b_{1,1}} = v_y v_x \frac{d}{dy} \phi_{b_{1,1}}(y) \sqrt{\mu},$$

where

$$-\phi_{b_{1,1}}'' = b_{1,1}, \quad \phi_{b_{1,1}}(\pm 1) = 0$$

For the above boundary value problem on $b_{1,1}$, one has

$$\|\phi_{b_{1,1}}\|_{H^2} \le C \|b_{1,1}\|, \quad |\phi'_{b_{1,1}}(\pm 1)| \le C \|b_{1,1}\|.$$
(4.18)

Taking the inner product of (4.3) and $\Psi_{b_{1,1}}$ over $(-1, 1) \times \mathbb{R}^3$, we get

$$\epsilon(G_1, \Psi_{b_{1,1}}) - (v_y G_1, \partial_y \Psi_{b_{1,1}}) + \langle v_y G_1(1), \Psi_{b_{1,1}}(1) \rangle - \langle v_y G_1(-1), \Psi_{b_{1,1}}(-1) \rangle + (1 - \sigma) v_0(G_1, \Psi_{b_{1,1}}) + \sigma(LG_1, \Psi_{b_{1,1}}) = (\mathfrak{F}, \Psi_{b_{1,1}}).$$
(4.19)

We now compute the terms in (4.19) one by one. By Cauchy–Schwarz's inequality and (4.18), one has

$$\begin{split} [\epsilon + (1 - \sigma)\nu_0] |(G_1, \Psi_{b_{1,1}})| \\ &\leq [\epsilon + (1 - \sigma)\nu_0] |(\mathbf{P}_0 G_1, \Psi_{b_{1,1}})| + [\epsilon + (1 - \sigma)\nu_0] |(\mathbf{P}_1 G_1, \Psi_{b_{1,1}})| \\ &\leq \eta [\epsilon + (1 - \sigma)\nu_0] ||b_{1,1}||^2 + C_\eta [\epsilon + (1 - \sigma)\nu_0] ||\mathbf{P}_1 G_1||^2, \\ -(v_y G_1, \partial_y \Psi_{b_{1,i}}) &= -(v_y \mathbf{P}_0 G_1, \partial_y \Psi_{b_{1,i}}) - (v_y \mathbf{P}_1 G_1, \partial_y \Psi_{b_{1,i}}) \\ &\geq ||b_{1,1}||^2 - \eta ||b_{1,1}||^2 - C_\eta ||\mathbf{P}_1 G_1||^2, \\ |(\mathfrak{F}, \Psi_{b_{1,1}})| &\leq \eta ||b_{1,1}||^2 + C_\eta ||w_q \mathfrak{F}||_{L^{\infty}}^2. \end{split}$$

And by Lemma 2.2,

$$\sigma|(LG_1, \Psi_{b_{1,1}})| \leq \eta ||b_{1,1}||^2 + C_\eta ||\mathbf{P}_1 G_1||^2.$$

For the boundary term, one deduces from (4.4) and (4.18) that

$$\begin{aligned} \langle v_y G_1(1), \Psi_{b_{1,1}}(1) \rangle &- \langle v_y G_1(-1), \Psi_{b_{1,1}}(-1) \rangle \\ &= \int_{v_y > 0} v_y G_1(1) \Psi_{b_{1,1}}(1) \, dv - \int_{v_y < 0} v_y G_1(-1) \Psi_{b_{1,1}}(-1) \, dv \\ &\leq \eta \| b_{1,1} \|^2 + C_\eta \int_{v_y \ge 0} |v_y| G_1^2(\pm 1) \, dv. \end{aligned}$$

Combining the above estimates for the terms in (4.19), we get (4.17).

We now deduce an L^2 estimate of the microscopic component $\mathbf{P}_1 G_1$. A direct energy estimate for (4.3) gives

$$\begin{aligned} [\epsilon + (1 - \sigma)\nu_0] \|G_1\|^2 + \delta_0 \sigma \|\mathbf{P}_1 G_1\|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \int_{v_y \ge 0} |v_y| G_1^2(\pm 1) \, dv \\ & \leq \eta \|G_1\|^2 + C_\eta \|w_q \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}}^2. \end{aligned}$$
(4.20)

Thus, (4.17) and (4.20) as well as (4.16) yield

$$\|G_1\|^2 + \int_{v_y \ge 0} |v_y| G_1^2(\pm 1) \, dv \le C \|w_q \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}}^2.$$
(4.21)

Furthermore, to get higher order L^2 estimates on G_1 , we see from $(\partial_{v_x}^m G_1, \partial_{v_x}^m (4.3))$ with $m \ge 1$ that

$$\begin{split} [\epsilon + (1 - \sigma)\nu_0] \|\partial_{v_x}^m G_1\|^2 + \delta_0 \sigma \|\partial_{v_x}^m G_1\|^2 \\ + \frac{1}{2} \int_{v_y \ge 0} |v_y| \partial_{v_x}^m G_1^2(\pm 1) \, dv \le C \|G_1\|^2 + C \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}}^2, \quad (4.22) \end{split}$$

where Lemma 2.3 has been used for $\sigma(\partial_{v_x}^m LG_1, \partial_{v_x}^m G_1)$.

Finally, the a priori estimate (4.5) follows from (4.15), (4.21) and (4.22). This completes the proof of Lemma 4.1.

With the a priori estimate (4.5), we now prove the following existence result for general linear equations (4.3) and (4.4). Before doing this, we first define the function space

$$\mathfrak{X}_{N_0} = \left\{ g = g(y,v) \mid \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \| w_q \partial_{v_x}^m g \|_{L^\infty} < \infty, \ g(-v_x) = -g(v_x) \right\}$$

endowed with the norm

$$||g||_{\mathfrak{X}_{N_0}} = \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} ||w_q \,\partial_{v_x}^m g||_{L^{\infty}}.$$

And for convenience, we also define a linear operator \mathfrak{L}_{σ} by

$$\mathfrak{L}_{\sigma}g = [\epsilon + v_y\partial_y + v_0 - \sigma K]g$$

Lemma 4.2. Assume $\mathfrak{F} = \mathfrak{F}(y, v)$ satisfies

$$\mathfrak{F}(-v_x) = -\mathfrak{F}(v_x), \quad \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}} < \infty.$$
(4.23)

Then there exists a unique solution $G_1 = G_1(y, v)$ to (4.3)–(4.4) with $\sigma = 1$ satisfying

$$G_1(-v_x) = -G_1(v_x),$$

and

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_1\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \mathcal{C}_0 \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}},$$
(4.24)

where $\mathcal{C}_0 > 0$ is a constant depending only on N_0 and q.

Proof. The proof is based on a bootstrap argument in the following three steps.

Step 1: Existence for $\sigma = 0$. If $\sigma = 0$, then (4.3)–(4.4) is reduced to the problem

$$\epsilon G_1 + v_y \partial_y G_1 + v_0 G_1 = \mathfrak{F},$$

$$G_1(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = 0,$$

which has a unique explicit solution

$$G_{1}(y,v) = \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}>0} \int_{-1}^{y} e^{-\frac{(v_{0}+\epsilon)(y-y')}{v_{y}}} v_{y}^{-1} \mathfrak{F}(y',v) \, dy' + \mathbf{1}_{v_{y}<0} \int_{y}^{1} e^{-\frac{(v_{0}+\epsilon)(y-y')}{v_{y}}} v_{y}^{-1} \mathfrak{F}(y',v) \, dy'.$$
(4.25)

Moreover, one sees that $G_1(-v_x) = -G_1(v_x)$ according to (4.23), and a direct calculation implies

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_1\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \mathcal{C}_0 \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

Step 2: Existence for any $\sigma \in [0, \sigma_*]$ with some $\sigma_* > 0$. Suppose $\sigma \in (0, 1]$, and consider a more general problem

$$\epsilon G_1 + v_y \partial_y G_1 + v_0 G_1 = \sigma K G_1 + \mathfrak{F}, \qquad (4.26)$$

$$G_1(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \le 0} = 0. \tag{4.27}$$

To solve this boundary value problem, we design the following approximation problem:

$$\epsilon G_1^{n+1} + v_y \partial_y G_1^{n+1} + v_0 G_1^{n+1} = \sigma K G_1^n + \mathfrak{F}, G_1^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = 0,$$

starting from $G_1^0 = 0$. Once G_1^n is given, G_1^{n+1} is well-defined by Step 1 and satisfies the estimate

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_1} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_1^{n+1}\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

$$\le \mathbb{C}_0 \sigma \sum_{0 \le m \le N_1} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m K G_1^n\|_{L^{\infty}} + \mathbb{C}_0 \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

$$\le \mathbb{C}_0 \mathbb{C}_1 \sigma \sum_{0 \le m \le N_1} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_1^n\|_{L^{\infty}} + \mathbb{C}_0 \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}}, \quad (4.28)$$

where $C_1 > 0$ depends only on *K*. If we choose $\sigma_* > 0$ such that $C_0 C_1 \sigma_* \le \frac{1}{2}$, then (4.28) implies

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_1^n\|_{L^{\infty}} \le 2\mathfrak{C}_0 \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}}$$
(4.29)

for any $n \ge 0$. Furthermore, one can also show that for $\sigma \in [0, \sigma_*]$,

$$\|[G_1^{n+1} - G_1^n]\|_{\mathfrak{X}_{N_0}} \le \mathfrak{C}_0 \mathfrak{C}_1 \sigma \|[G_1^n - G_1^{n-1}]\|_{\mathfrak{X}_{N_0}} \le \frac{1}{2} \|[G_1^n - G_1^{n-1}]\|_{\mathfrak{X}_{N_0}}, \quad (4.30)$$

which implies that $G_1^n \to G_1$ strongly in \mathfrak{X}_{N_0} . In addition, it is easy to see that $G_1^{n+1}(-v_x) = -G_1^{n+1}(v_x)$ if $G_1^n(-v_x) = -G_1^n(v_x)$. Thus, for $\sigma \in [0, \sigma_*]$, there exists a unique solu-

tion $G_1 \in \mathfrak{X}_{N_0}$ to the problem (4.26)–(4.27). Actually, the a priori estimate (4.5) implies that we still have the bound

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_1\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \mathcal{C}_0 \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathfrak{F}\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

In other words, it follows that

$$\|\mathfrak{L}_{\sigma_*}^{-1}\mathfrak{F}\|_{\mathfrak{X}_{N_0}} \le \mathfrak{C}_0\|\mathfrak{F}\|_{\mathfrak{X}_{N_0}}.$$
(4.31)

Step 3: Existence for $\sigma \in [0, 2\sigma_*]$. By using (4.31) and performing similar calculations to those resulting in (4.29) and (4.30), one can see that there exists a unique solution $G_1 \in \mathfrak{X}_{N_0}$ to the lifted equation

$$\epsilon G_1 + v_y \partial_y G_1 + v_0 G_1 - \sigma_* K G_1 = \sigma K G_1 + \mathfrak{F}, \quad G_1(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = 0,$$

with $\sigma \in [0, \sigma_*]$. Therefore, the solution mapping $\mathfrak{L}_{2\sigma_*}^{-1}$ is also well-defined on \mathfrak{X}_{N_0} and the estimate (4.24) holds for $\sigma = 2\sigma_*$.

Finally, repeating the above procedure step by step, one can reach $\sigma = 1$ so that \mathfrak{L}_1^{-1} exists and (4.24) also follows simultaneously. This completes the proof of Lemma 4.2.

Proof of Proposition 4.1. By setting $\mathfrak{F} = -v_x v_y \sqrt{\mu}$ in Lemma 4.2, we see that for any $\epsilon > 0$ there exists a unique solution $G_1^{\epsilon} \in \mathfrak{X}_{N_0}$ to the boundary value problem

$$\epsilon G_1^{\epsilon} + v_y \partial_y G_1^{\epsilon} + L G_1^{\epsilon} = -v_x v_y \sqrt{\mu}, \quad G_1^{\epsilon}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = 0.$$

Notice that G_1^{ϵ} satisfies (4.1) and the estimate

$$\|G_1^\epsilon\|_{\mathfrak{X}_{N_0}} \le \tilde{C}_1,$$

where $\tilde{C}_1 > 0$ is independent of ϵ . Furthermore, we consider a positive sequence $\{\epsilon_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ such that $|\epsilon_{n+1} - \epsilon_n| \le 2^{-n}$, and $\epsilon_n \to 0^+$ as $n \to \infty$. We consider the following approximation problems:

$$\epsilon_n G_1^{\epsilon_n} + v_y \partial_y G_1^{\epsilon_n} + L G_1^{\epsilon_n} = -v_x v_y \sqrt{\mu},$$

$$G_1^{\epsilon_n} (\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = 0.$$

Then letting $\bar{\mathfrak{G}}_{n+1} = G_1^{\epsilon_{n+1}} - G_1^{\epsilon_n}$, one sees that $\bar{\mathfrak{G}}_{n+1}$ satisfies

$$\epsilon^{n+1}\bar{\mathfrak{G}}_{n+1} + v_y\partial_y\bar{\mathfrak{G}}_{n+1} + LG\bar{\mathfrak{G}}_{n+1} = -(\epsilon^{n+1} - \epsilon^n)G_1^{\epsilon_n},$$

$$\bar{\mathfrak{G}}_{n+1}|_{v_y\leq 0} = 0.$$

Thanks to Lemma 4.2, it follows that

$$\|\bar{\mathfrak{G}}_{n+1}\|_{\mathfrak{X}_{N_0}} \leq \mathfrak{C}_0|\epsilon^{n+1} - \epsilon^n| \|G_1^{\epsilon_n}\|_{\mathfrak{X}_{N_0}} \leq \mathfrak{C}\tilde{C}_1|\epsilon^{n+1} - \epsilon^n|.$$

This means that $\{G_1^{\epsilon_n}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is a Cauchy sequence in \mathfrak{X}_{N_0} . Thus, letting $n \to \infty$, the limit function denoted by G_1 is the unique solution of (1.11), (1.16). Moreover, G_1 satisfies (4.1) and the bound (4.2). The proof of Proposition 4.1 is thus complete.

5. Steady problem: remainder

Based on Proposition 4.1, one can further show the following existence result for the remainder G_R . Recall the steady problem (1.8) as well as (1.9) and (1.10).

Proposition 5.1. The boundary value problem (1.13)–(1.14) admits a unique solution $G_R = G_R(y, v)$ with $\tilde{G}_R = \sqrt{\mu} G_R$ satisfying

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \widetilde{G}_R(y, v) \, dv \, dy = 0.$$

And there is an integer $q_0 > 0$ such that for any integer $q \ge q_0$, there is $\alpha_0 = \alpha_0(q) > 0$ such that for any $\alpha \in (0, \alpha_0)$ and any integer $m \ge 0$,

$$\|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \widetilde{G}_R\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \widetilde{C}_R,$$

where $\tilde{C}_R > 0$ is a constant depending only on m and q but independent of α .

5.1. Caflisch's decomposition

To prove Proposition 5.1, we follow the strategy of the proof in [15] for treating the shear force term in the framework of perturbation. In fact, notice that there is a growth term $\frac{1}{2}\alpha v_x v_y G_R$ in equation (1.13). To treat this growth in velocity, the key point is to use Caflisch's decomposition [10] and an algebraic weighted estimate introduced originally by Arkeryd–Esposito–Pulvirenti [2]. For this purpose, we first decompose the remainder G_R as

$$\sqrt{\mu} G_R = G_{R,1} + \sqrt{\mu} G_{R,2}, \tag{5.1}$$

where $G_{R,1}$ and $G_{R,2}$ satisfy the following two boundary value problems, respectively:

$$v_{y}\partial_{y}G_{R,1} - \alpha v_{y}\partial_{v_{x}}G_{R,1} + v_{0}G_{R,1}$$

$$= \chi_{M}\mathcal{K}G_{R,1} - \frac{1}{2}\alpha\sqrt{\mu}v_{x}v_{y}G_{R,2} - \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\mu}v_{x}v_{y}G_{1} + \sqrt{\mu}v_{y}\partial_{v_{x}}G_{1}$$

$$+ Q(\sqrt{\mu}G_{1},\sqrt{\mu}G_{1})$$

$$+ \alpha\{Q(\sqrt{\mu}G_{R},\sqrt{\mu}G_{1}) + Q(\sqrt{\mu}G_{1},\sqrt{\mu}G_{R})\}$$

$$+ \alpha^{2}Q(\sqrt{\mu}G_{R},\sqrt{\mu}G_{R}), \quad y \in (-1,1), v \in \mathbb{R}^{3}, \qquad (5.2)$$

$$G_{R,1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \le 0} = 0, \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^3,$$
(5.3)

and

$$v_{y}\partial_{y}G_{R,2} - \alpha v_{y}\partial_{v_{x}}G_{R,2} + LG_{R,2} = (1 - \chi_{M})\mu^{-1/2}\mathcal{K}G_{R,1}, \quad y \in (-1, 1), \, v \in \mathbb{R}^{3}, \quad (5.4)$$

$$G_{R,2}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} \, G_R(\pm 1, v)|v_y| \, dv, \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^3.$$
(5.5)

Here $\chi_M(v)$ is a nonnegative smooth cutoff function such that

$$\chi_M(v) = \begin{cases} 1, & |v| \ge M + 1, \\ 0, & |v| \le M, \end{cases}$$

and \mathcal{K} is defined by (2.4). Existence of solutions for (5.2)–(5.3) and (5.4)–(5.5) can be proved via the approximation sequence by iteratively solving the systems

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon G_{R,1}^{n+1} + v_y \partial_y G_{R,1}^{n+1} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} G_{R,1}^{n+1} + v_0 G_{R,1}^{n+1} \\ &= \chi_M \mathcal{K} G_{R,1}^{n+1} - \frac{1}{2} \alpha \sqrt{\mu} \, v_x v_y G_{R,2}^{n+1} - \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\mu} \, v_x v_y G_1 + \sqrt{\mu} \, v_y \partial_{v_x} G_1 \\ &+ Q(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_1, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_1) \\ &+ \alpha \{ Q(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^n, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_1) + Q(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_1, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^n) \} \\ &+ \alpha^2 Q(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^n, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^n), \quad y \in (-1, 1), \, v \in \mathbb{R}^3, \end{aligned}$$
(5.6)

$$G_{R,1}^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \le 0} = 0, \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^3,$$
(5.7)

and

$$\epsilon G_{R,2}^{n+1} + v_y \partial_y G_{R,2}^{n+1} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} G_{R,2}^{n+1} + L G_{R,2}^{n+1} = (1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} G_{R,1}^{n+1}, \quad y \in (-1,1), \ v \in \mathbb{R}^3, \quad (5.8)$$

$$G_{R,2}^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|v_y| \, dv, \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^3, \tag{5.9}$$

for a small parameter $\epsilon > 0$, where we have set $[G_{R,1}^0, G_{R,2}^0] = [0,0]$ for n = 0.

The proof of Proposition 5.1 is in three steps. First, similarly to treating the existence of G_1 , we introduce a modified coupled boundary value problem with two parameters $\epsilon > 0$ and $0 \le \sigma \le 1$. This boundary value problem is directly solvable via the method of characteristics in the case of $\sigma = 0$ corresponding to the homogeneous inflow data, and we then lift the value of σ from $\sigma = 0$ for the zero inflow data to $\sigma = 1$ for the full diffuse reflection boundary condition by a bootstrap argument. Second, we establish the limit $n \to \infty$ for any fixed $\epsilon > 0$. Third, we let $\epsilon \to 0^+$ to obtain the desired solution which satisfies (5.2)–(5.3) and (5.4)–(5.5). As a result, with the help of (5.1), we get the solution to the original boundary value problem (1.13)–(1.14).

5.2. A priori estimates with parameters ϵ and σ

Let us first show that $[G_{R,1}^{n+1}, G_{R,2}^{n+1}]$ is well-defined once $[G_{R,1}^n, G_{R,2}^n]$ is given. To do this, we apply the contraction method. We define the linear vector operator parameterized by $\sigma \in [0, 1]$ as follows:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\sigma}[\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_2] = [\mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^1, \mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^2][\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_2],$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} &\mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^{1}[\mathscr{G}_{1},\mathscr{G}_{2}] \\ &= \begin{cases} \mathcal{E}\mathscr{G}_{1} + v_{y}\partial_{y}\mathscr{G}_{1} - \alpha v_{y}\partial_{v_{x}}\mathscr{G}_{1} + v_{0}\mathscr{G}_{1} - \sigma\chi_{M}\mathcal{K}G_{1} + \alpha\frac{v_{x}v_{y}}{2}\sqrt{\mu}\mathscr{G}_{2}, \quad y \in (-1,1), \\ \mathcal{G}_{1}(\pm 1, v)\mathbf{1}_{\{v_{y} \leq 0\}}, \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\mathcal{L}^{2}_{\sigma}[\mathscr{G}_{1},\mathscr{G}_{2}] = \begin{cases} \epsilon\mathscr{G}_{2} + v_{y}\partial_{y}\mathscr{G}_{2} - \alpha v_{y}\partial_{v_{x}}\mathscr{G}_{2} + v_{0}\mathscr{G}_{2} - \sigma K\mathscr{G}_{2} - \sigma(1 - \chi_{M})\mu^{-1/2}\mathcal{K}\mathscr{G}_{1}, & y \in (-1,1), \\ \mathscr{G}_{2}(\pm 1, v)\mathbf{1}_{\{v_{y} \leq 0\}} - \sigma\sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_{y} \geq 0} (\mathscr{G}_{1} + \sqrt{\mu}\,\mathscr{G}_{2})(\pm 1, v)|v_{y}|\,dv. \end{cases}$$

We then consider the solvability of the following coupled linear system:

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^{1}[\mathcal{G}_{1},\mathcal{G}_{2}] = \mathcal{F}_{1}, \quad \mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^{2}[\mathcal{G}_{1},\mathcal{G}_{2}] = \mathcal{F}_{2}, \quad y \in (-1,1), \\ \mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^{1}[\mathcal{G}_{1},\mathcal{G}_{2}] = 0, \quad \mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^{2}[\mathcal{G}_{1},\mathcal{G}_{2}] = \mathcal{F}_{2,b}, \quad y = \pm 1, \end{cases}$$
(5.10)

where \mathcal{F}_1 , \mathcal{F}_1 and $\mathcal{F}_{2,b}$ are given, and $\langle \mathcal{F}_1, 1 \rangle + \langle \mathcal{F}_2, \sqrt{\mu} \rangle = 0$. In the rest of the proof, for brevity, we denote

$$\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_{1} = \begin{cases} \mathcal{F}_{1}, & y \in (-1, 1), \\ 0, & y = \pm 1, \end{cases} \quad \tilde{\mathcal{F}}_{2} = \begin{cases} \mathcal{F}_{2}, & y \in (-1, 1), \\ \mathcal{F}_{2,b}(\pm 1, v), & y = \pm 1. \end{cases}$$

In what follows, we look for solutions to the system (5.10) in the Banach space

$$\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0} = \left\{ [\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_2] \ \middle| \ \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \| w_q \partial_{v_x}^m [\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_2] \|_{L^{\infty}} < \infty \right\}$$
(5.11)

endowed with the norm

$$\|[\mathscr{G}_1,\mathscr{G}_2]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0}} = \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \{\|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_1\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2\|_{L^{\infty}}\}.$$

Let us now deduce an a priori estimate for the parameterized linear system (5.10).

Lemma 5.1 (A priori estimate). Let $[\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_2] \in \mathbf{X}_{\alpha, N_0}$ with $\alpha > 0$ and $N_0 \ge 0$ be a solution to (5.10) with $\epsilon > 0$ suitably small and $\sigma \in [0, 1]$, and let $[\tilde{\mathscr{F}}_1, \tilde{\mathscr{F}}_2] \in \mathbf{X}_{\alpha, N_0}$ with $\langle \mathscr{F}_1, 1 \rangle + \langle \mathscr{F}_2, \sqrt{\mu} \rangle = 0$. There is $q_0 > 0$ such that for any $q \ge q_0$ arbitrarily large, there are $\alpha_0 = \alpha_0(q) > 0$ and large M = M(q) > 0 such that for any $0 < \alpha < \alpha_0$, the solution $[\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_2]$ satisfies the estimate

$$\|[\mathscr{G}_{1},\mathscr{G}_{2}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_{0}}} = \|\mathcal{L}_{\sigma}^{-1}[\tilde{\mathscr{F}}_{1},\tilde{\mathscr{F}}_{2}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_{0}}}$$

$$\leq C_{\mathcal{L}} \sum_{0 \leq m \leq N_{0}} \{\|w_{q}\partial_{v_{\chi}}^{m}\mathscr{F}_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_{q}\partial_{v_{\chi}}^{m}\mathscr{F}_{2}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_{q}\mathscr{F}_{2,b}\|_{L^{\infty}}\}, \quad (5.12)$$

where the constant $C_{\mathcal{L}} > 0$ may depend on ϵ but not on σ or α .

Proof. The proof is divided into two steps.

Step 1: L^{∞} estimates. Let $0 \le m \le N_0$ and q > 0, and denote

$$[H_{1,m}, H_{2,m}] = [w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_1, w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2]$$

Then we see that $[H_{1,m}, H_{2,m}]$ satisfies

$$\epsilon H_{1,m} + v_y \partial_y H_{1,m} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} H_{1,m} + 2q \alpha \frac{v_y v_x}{1 + |v|^2} H_{1,m} + v_0 H_{1,m}$$
$$- \sigma \chi_M w_q \mathcal{K} \left(\frac{H_{1,m}}{w_q} \right) - \sigma \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{1 \le m' \le m} C_m^{m'} w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'} (\chi_M \mathcal{K}) \partial_{v_x}^{m-m'} \mathscr{G}_1$$
$$+ \alpha \sum_{0 \le m' \le m} C_m^{m'} w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'} \left(\frac{v_x v_y}{2} \sqrt{\mu} \right) \partial_{v_x}^{m-m'} \mathscr{G}_2 = w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathcal{F}_1, \tag{5.13}$$

 $H_{1,m}(\pm 1, v)|_{\{v_y \le 0\}} = 0, \tag{5.14}$

and

$$\epsilon H_{2,m} + v_y \partial_y H_{2,m} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} H_{2,m} + 2q \alpha \frac{v_y v_x}{1 + |v|^2} H_{1,m} + v_0 H_{2,m}$$
$$- \sigma w_q K \left(\frac{H_{2,m}}{w_q} \right) - \sigma \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{1 \le m' \le m} C_m^{m'} w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'} K \partial_{v_x}^{m-m'} \mathscr{G}_2$$
$$- \sigma \sum_{0 \le m' \le m} C_m^{m'} w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'} ((1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2}) \partial_{v_x}^{m-m'} \mathcal{K} \mathscr{G}_1 = w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathcal{F}_2, \quad (5.15)$$

$$H_{2,m}(\pm 1, v)\mathbf{1}_{\{v_{y} \leq 0\}} - \sigma w_{q} \partial_{v_{x}}^{m}(\sqrt{2\pi\mu}) \int_{v_{y} \geq 0} (\mathscr{G}_{1} + \sqrt{\mu} \, \mathscr{G}_{2})(\pm 1, v) |v_{y}| \, dv$$

= $w_{q} \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \mathcal{F}_{2,b}(\pm 1).$ (5.16)

Recall the trajectory [Y(s; t, y, v), V(s; t, y, v)] defined in (3.4). In addition, for $(y, v) \in [-1, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^3$, we define the backward exit time $t_{\mathbf{b}}(y, v)$ as

$$t_{\mathbf{b}}(y, v) = \inf \{ s : y - sv_y \notin (-1, 1), s > 0 \},$$
(5.17)

which is the first time that the backward characteristic line [Y(s;t, y, v), V(s;t, y, v)] exits (-1, 1). Note that at the boundary $y = \pm 1$, $t_{\mathbf{b}}(y, v)$ is well-defined if $\pm v_y > 0$. For any (y, v), we use $t_{\mathbf{b}}(y, v)$ when it is well-defined. Furthermore, we denote

$$y_{\mathbf{b}}(y, v) = y - t_{\mathbf{b}}(y, v)v_{y} \in \{-1, 1\},\$$

and for a random variable v_k , we define the backward time cycle

We also set

$$Y_{cl}^{l}(s;t, y, v) = \mathbf{1}_{[t_{l+1}, t_{l})}(s)\{y_{l} + (s - t_{l})v_{ly}\},\$$

$$Y_{cl}^{l}(s;t, y, v) = \mathbf{1}_{[t_{l+1}, t_{l})}(s)(v_{lx} + \alpha(t_{l} - s)v_{ly}, v_{ly}, v_{lz})$$

Note that $[Y_{cl}^0(s), V_{cl}^0(s)] = [Y(s), V(s)]$ and $y_l = \pm 1$ for $l \ge 1$. Moreover, t_l can be negative.

Define $\mathcal{V}_j = \{v_j \in \mathbb{R}^3 \mid v_j \cdot n(y_j) > 0\}$, where $n(y_j) = (0, 1, 0)$ if $y_j = 1$ and $n(y_j) = (0, -1, 0)$ if $y_j = -1$. Let the iterated integral for $k \ge 2$ be defined as

$$\int_{\prod_{l=1}^{k-1} \nu_l} \prod_{l=1}^{k-1} d\sigma_l := \int_{\nu_1} \cdots \left\{ \int_{\nu_{k-1}} d\sigma_{k-1} \right\} d\sigma_1,$$
(5.19)

where $d\sigma_l = \sqrt{2\pi} \mu(v_l) |v_{ly}| dv_l$ is a probability measure.

Without loss of generality, we assume $\lim_{|t|\to\infty} [H_{1,m}, H_{2,m}](t) = 0$. Along the characteristic line (3.3), for $(y, v) \in [-1, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus (\gamma_- \cup \gamma_0)$, we write the solution of the system (5.13)–(5.14) in the mild form as follows:

$$\begin{split} H_{1,m}(t) &= H_{1,m}(y(t), v(t)) \\ &= \sigma \int_{t_1}^t e^{-\int_s^t \mathcal{A}^\epsilon(\tau, V(\tau)) \, d\tau} \left\{ \chi_M w_q \mathcal{K} \left(\frac{H_{1,m}}{w_q} \right) \right\} (Y(s), V(s)) \, ds \\ &+ \sigma \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \int_{t_1}^t e^{-\int_s^t \mathcal{A}^\epsilon(\tau, V(\tau)) \, d\tau} \sum_{1 \le m' \le m} C_m^{m'} \{ w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'}(\chi_M \mathcal{K}) \partial_{v_x}^{m-m'} \mathcal{G}_1 \} (Y(s), V(s)) \, ds \\ &- \alpha \int_{t_1}^t e^{-\int_s^t \mathcal{A}^\epsilon(\tau, V(\tau)) \, d\tau} \sum_{0 \le m' \le m} C_m^{m'} \left\{ w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'} \left(\frac{v_x v_y}{2} \sqrt{\mu} \right) \partial_{v_x}^{m-m'} \mathcal{G}_2 \right\} (Y(s), V(s)) \, ds \\ &+ \int_{t_1}^t e^{-\int_s^t \mathcal{A}^\epsilon(\tau, V(\tau)) \, d\tau} (w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathcal{F}_1) (Y(s), V(s)) \, ds, \end{split}$$

where

$$\mathcal{A}^{\epsilon}(\tau, V(\tau)) = \nu_0 + \epsilon + 2q\alpha \frac{V_y(\tau)V_x(\tau)}{1 + |V(\tau)|^2} \ge \nu_0/2, \tag{5.20}$$

provided that $\epsilon > 0$ and $q\alpha > 0$ are suitably small. By Lemma 2.4, it is straightforward to see that

$$\sup_{-\infty < t < \infty} \|H_{1,m}(t)\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{C}{q} \sum_{m' \le m} \sup_{-\infty < t < \infty} \|H_{1,m'}(t)\|_{L^{\infty}} + C\alpha \sum_{m' \le m} \sup_{-\infty < t < \infty} \|H_{2,m'}(t)\|_{L^{\infty}} + \sup_{-\infty < t < \infty} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathcal{F}_1(t)\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$
(5.21)

By taking q sufficiently large, (5.21) further gives

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|H_{1,m}\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C\alpha \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|H_{2,m}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathcal{F}_1\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$
 (5.22)

Similarly, one can also write the solution of (5.15)–(5.16) in the mild form of

$$H_{2,m}(t) = \underbrace{\sigma \int_{t_1}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}^{\epsilon}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} \left\{ w_q K\left(\frac{H_{2,m}}{w_q}\right) \right\} (Y(s), V(s)) ds}_{I_1}$$

$$+ \sigma \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \int_{t_1}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}^{\epsilon}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} \sum_{1 \le m' \le m} C_m^{m'} \{ w_q (\partial_{v_x}^{m'} K) \partial_{v_x}^{m-m'} \mathscr{G}_2 \} (Y(s), V(s)) ds}_{I_2}$$

$$+ \sigma \int_{t_1}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}^{\epsilon}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} \sum_{0 \le m' \le m} C_m^{m'} \{ w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'} ((1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2}) \partial_{v_x}^{m-m'} \mathcal{K} \mathscr{G}_1 \} (Y(s), V(s)) ds}_{I_3}$$

$$+ \underbrace{\int_{t_1}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}^{\epsilon}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} (w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_2) (Y(s), V(s)) ds + e^{-\int_{t_1}^{t} \mathcal{A}^{\epsilon}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} (w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_{2,b}) (t_1, y_1, V(t_1))}_{I_4}}_{I_4}$$

$$+\sum_{n=5}^{10}I_n,$$
(5.23)

where $(y, v) \in [-1, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus (\gamma_- \cup \gamma_0)$, and for $k \ge 2$,

$$I_{5} = \sigma^{k-1} \underbrace{\sqrt{2\pi} e^{-J_{t_{1}} \mathscr{K}^{e}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} [w_{q} \partial_{v_{x}}^{m}(\sqrt{\mu})](V(t_{1}))}_{\mathfrak{W}}}_{\mathfrak{W}} \times \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} (w_{q} \mathscr{G}_{2})(t_{k}, y_{k}, V_{cl}^{k-1}(t_{k})) d\Sigma_{k-1}(t_{k}),$$

$$I_{6} = \sum_{l=2}^{k-1} \sigma^{l-1} \mathscr{W} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} (w_{q} \mathscr{F}_{2,b})(t_{l}, y_{l}, V_{cl}^{l-1}(t_{l})) d\Sigma_{l}(t_{l}),$$

$$I_{7} = \sigma^{l} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \mathscr{W} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} w_{q} \mathscr{F}_{2}(Y_{cl}^{l}, V_{cl}^{l})(s) d\Sigma_{l}(s) ds,$$

$$I_{8} = \sigma^{l} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \mathscr{W} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \left\{ w_{q} K\left(\frac{H_{2,0}}{w_{q}}\right) \right\} (Y_{cl}^{l}, V_{cl}^{l})(s) d\Sigma_{l}(s) ds,$$

$$I_{9} = \sigma^{l} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \mathscr{W} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \left\{ (1 - \chi_{M}) w_{q} \mu^{-1/2} \mathscr{K}\left(\frac{H_{1,0}}{w_{q}}\right) \right\} (Y_{cl}^{l}, V_{cl}^{l})(s) d\Sigma_{l}(s) d\Sigma_{l}(s) ds,$$

$$I_{10} = \sigma^{l} \mathscr{W} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} \left(\frac{w_{q}}{\sqrt{\mu}} \mathscr{G}_{1} \right) (t_{l}, y_{l}, V_{cl}^{l-1}(t_{l})) d\Sigma_{l}(t_{l}).$$

In the above expressions we have used the notations

$$\Sigma_{l}(s) = \prod_{j=l+1}^{k-1} d\sigma_{j} e^{-\int_{s}^{t_{l}} \mathcal{A}^{\epsilon}(\tau, V_{\mathbf{d}}^{l}(\tau)) d\tau} \tilde{w}_{2}(v_{l}) d\sigma_{l} \\ \times \prod_{j=1}^{l-1} \frac{\tilde{w}_{2}(v_{j})}{\tilde{w}_{2}(V_{\mathbf{d}}^{j}(t_{j+1}))} e^{-\int_{t_{j+1}}^{t_{j}} \mathcal{A}^{\epsilon}(\tau, V_{\mathbf{d}}^{l}(\tau)) d\tau} d\sigma_{j}, \quad (5.24)$$

and

$$\tilde{w}_2(v) = (\sqrt{2\pi} w_q \sqrt{\mu})^{-1}.$$
(5.25)

 L^{∞} estimates for $H_{2,m}$ are more complicated because K has no smallness property. To overcome this, we have to iterate (5.23) twice. Let us first compute I_n ($1 \le n \le 10$) term by term. Recalling the definition (2.5) of \mathbf{k}_w , one directly has, by (5.20),

$$|I_1| \le \int_{t_1}^t e^{-\frac{v_0}{2}(t-s)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathbf{k}_w(V(s), v') |H_{2,m}(s, Y(s), v')| \, dv' \, ds.$$

By Lemma 2.2, it follows that

$$|I_2| \leq C \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m' \leq m-1} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'} \mathscr{G}_2\|_{L^{\infty}} \int_{t_1}^t e^{-\frac{v_0}{2}(t-s)} ds$$
$$\leq C \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m' \leq m-1} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'} \mathscr{G}_2\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

and similarly

$$|I_3| \leq C \sum_{m' \leq m} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^{m'} \mathcal{G}_1\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

It is straightforward to see that

$$|I_4| \leq C \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathcal{F}_2\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathcal{F}_{2,b}\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

Next, notice that

$$|W| \le Cm! 4^q q! e^{-\nu_0(t-t_1)/2}$$

In the sequel, for simplicity, we denote by $\mathcal{C}_{m,q}$ the constant $m!4^q q!$. By Lemma 8.1,

$$|I_{5}| \leq C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} 2^{-C_{2}T_{0}^{5/4}} e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(t-t_{1})} \|H_{2,0}\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

$$|I_{6}| + |I_{7}| \leq C k \mathcal{C}_{m,q} e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(t-t_{1})} \{ \|w_{q}\mathcal{F}_{2}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_{q}\mathcal{F}_{2,b}\|_{L^{\infty}} \},$$

$$|I_{9}|, \ |I_{10}| \leq C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} k e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(t-t_{1})} \|H_{1,0}\|_{L^{\infty}},$$
$$|I_{8}| \leq C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(t-t_{1})} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} v_{j}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w} (V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s), v') |H_{2,0}(s, Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s), v')| \times dv' \, d\Sigma_{l}(s) \, ds$$

where we have taken $T_0 = t - t_k$ with $k = C_1 T_0^{5/4}$, and both $C_1 > 0$ and $C_2 > 0$ are given in Lemma 8.1.

Putting all the estimates for I_n $(1 \le n \le 10)$ above together and adjusting the constants, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |H_{2,m}(t)| \\ &\leq C\mathcal{C}_{m,q}e^{-\frac{\nu_0}{2}(t-t_1)}\int_{t_1}^t e^{-\frac{\nu_0}{2}(t-s)}\int_{\mathbb{R}^3}\mathbf{k}_w(V(s),v')|H_{2,m}(s,Y(s;t,y,v),v')|\,dv'\,ds \\ &+ C\mathcal{C}_{m,q}e^{-\frac{\nu_0}{2}(t-t_1)}\sum_{l=1}^{k-1}\int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1}\nu_j}\int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_l}\int_{\mathbb{R}^3}\mathbf{k}_w(V_{\mathbf{cl}}^l(s),v') \\ &\times |H_{2,0}(s,Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^l(s;t,y,v),v')|\,dv'\,d\Sigma_l(s)\,ds \\ &+ \mathcal{Q}(t), \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Q}(t) &= C \mathbf{1}_{m>0} \sum_{m' \le m-1} \sup_{-\infty < s \le t} \|H_{2,m'}(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \sum_{m' \le m} \sup_{-\infty < s \le t} \|H_{1,m'}(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ C \sup_{-\infty < s \le t} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathcal{F}_2(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \sup_{-\infty < s \le t} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathcal{F}_{2,b}(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} 2^{-C_2 T_0^{5/4}} \sup_{-\infty < s \le t} \|H_{2,0}(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} k \sup_{-\infty < s \le t} \|H_{1,0}(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} k \sup_{-\infty < s \le t} \|w_q \mathcal{F}_2(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} k \sup_{-\infty < s \le t} \|w_q \mathcal{F}_{2,b}(s)\|_{L^{\infty}}. \end{aligned}$$

Then let us define a new backward time cycle as

$$(t'_{\ell+1}, y'_{\ell+1}, v'_{\ell+1}) = (t'_{\ell} - t_{\mathbf{b}}(y'_{\ell}, v'_{\ell}), y_{\mathbf{b}}(y'_{\ell}, v'_{\ell}), v'_{\ell+1}),$$

and the starting point

$$(t'_0, y'_0, v'_0) = (s, y', v') := (s, Y(s), v') \text{ or } (s, Y'_{cl}(s), v'),$$

for some $s \in \mathbb{R}$ and $l \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. Furthermore, for $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, we also denote

$$\bar{Y}_{\mathbf{cl}}^{\ell}(s';s,y',v') = \mathbf{1}_{[t'_{\ell+1},t'_{\ell})}(s')\{y'_{\ell} + (s'-t'_{\ell})v'_{\ell y}\},\\ \bar{V}_{\mathbf{cl}}^{\ell}(s';s,y',v') = \mathbf{1}_{[t'_{\ell+1},t'_{\ell})}(s')(v'_{\ell x} + \alpha(t'_{\ell}-s')v_{\ell y},v'_{\ell y},v'_{\ell z}).$$

To be consistent, we set $[\bar{Y}^0_{cl}(s'), \bar{V}^0_{cl}(s')] := [\bar{Y}(s'), \bar{V}(s')].$

Iterating (5.26) again, one has

where according to Lemma 8.1 and Remark 8.1, we choose $\iota \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ such that $\iota \sim (\tilde{T}_0)^{5/4}$ with $\tilde{T}_0 = s - t'_i$ being suitably large. We claim that

$$\|H_{2,m}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \eta\{\|H_{2,m}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|H_{2,0}\|_{L^{\infty}}\} + C(T_0)\{\|\partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2\| + \|\mathscr{G}_2\|\} + C\sup_{s \leq t} \mathcal{Q}(s),$$
(5.28)

~

where $\eta > 0$ is suitably small. To prove (5.28), we only estimate the fourth term on the right hand side of (5.27), because the other terms can be estimated similarly. For any sufficiently small $\eta_0 > 0$, we first divide $[t'_{\ell+1}, t'_{\ell}]$ as $[t'_{\ell+1}, t'_{\ell} - \eta_0] \cup (t'_{\ell} - \eta_0, t'_{\ell}]$, then rewrite the fourth term on the right hand side of (5.27) as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J} &:= C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} \mathcal{C}_{0,q} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{l-1} \mathcal{V}_{j}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w} (V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s;v),v') e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(s-t_{1}')} \\ & \times \sum_{\ell=1}^{i-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{l-1} \mathcal{V}_{j}} \left(\int_{t_{\ell+1}}^{t_{\ell}'-\eta_{0}} + \int_{t_{\ell}'-\eta_{0}}^{t_{\ell}'} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w} (\bar{V}_{\mathbf{cl}}^{\ell}(s';Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s),v'),v'') \\ & \times |H_{2,0}(s',\bar{Y}_{\mathbf{cl}}^{\ell}(s';Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s),v'),v'')| \, dv'' \, d\Sigma_{\ell}(s') \, ds' \, dv' \, d\Sigma_{l}(s) \, ds \end{aligned}$$

 $=:\mathcal{J}_1+\mathcal{J}_2.$

By Lemma 8.1, it is easy to see that

$$\mathcal{J}_2 \leq C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} \mathcal{C}_{0,q} \eta_0 \iota \| H_{2,0} \|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

For \mathcal{J}_1 , the computation is divided into the following three cases.

Case 1: $|V_{cl}^l(s; v)| > M$ or $|\bar{V}_{cl}^\ell(s'; Y_{cl}^l(s), v')| > M$. In this case, by Lemma 2.1,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\mathbf{k}_w(V_{\mathbf{cl}}^l(s;v),v')| \, dv' \le \frac{C(q)}{1+M} \text{ or } \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\mathbf{k}_w(\bar{V}_{\mathbf{cl}}^\ell(s';Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^l(s),v'),v'')| \, dv'' \le \frac{C(q)}{1+M},$$

where C(q) > 0 and depends on q!. Therefore, by using Lemma 8.1 again one has

$$|\mathcal{J}_1| \leq \frac{C\mathcal{C}_{m,q}\mathcal{C}_{0,q}C^2(q)}{1+M} \|H_{2,0}\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

Note that here and in the sequel, l and ℓ run over [1, k - 1] and [1, l - 1], respectively.

Case 2: $|V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s;v)| \leq M$ and |v'| > 2M, or $|\bar{V}_{\mathbf{cl}}^{\ell}(s'; Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s), v')| \leq M$ and |v''| > 2M. In this regime, we have either $|V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s;v) - v'| > M$ or $|\bar{V}_{\mathbf{cl}}^{\ell}(s'; Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s), v') - v''| > M$. Then the following two estimates hold respectively:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{w}(V_{cl}^{l}(s;v),v') &\leq Ce^{-\varepsilon M^{2}/16} \mathbf{k}_{w}(V_{cl}^{l}(s;v),v')e^{\varepsilon |V_{cl}^{l}-v'|^{2}/16}, \\ \mathbf{k}_{w}(\bar{V}_{cl}^{\ell}(s';Y_{cl}^{l}(s),v'),v'') &\leq Ce^{-\varepsilon M^{2}/16} \mathbf{k}_{w}(\bar{V}_{cl}^{\ell}(s';Y_{cl}^{l}(s),v'),v'')e^{\varepsilon |\bar{V}_{cl}^{\ell}-v''|^{2}/16}. \end{aligned}$$

This together with Lemma 2.1 implies

$$|\mathcal{J}_1| \leq C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} \mathcal{C}_{0,q} C^2(q) e^{-\varepsilon M^2/16} \|H_{2,0}\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

Case 3: $|V_{cl}^{l}(s; v)| \leq M$, $|v'| \leq 2M$, $|\bar{V}_{cl}^{\ell}(s'; Y_{cl}^{l}(s), v')| \leq M$ and $|v''| \leq 2M$. The key point here is to convert the L^{1} integral with respect to the double v variables into the L^{2} norm with respect to the variables y and v. To do so, for any large N > 0, we choose a number M(N) to define $\mathbf{k}_{w,M}(u, v')$ as in (4.12), then decompose

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{w}(V_{cl}^{l},v')\mathbf{k}_{w}(\bar{V}_{cl}^{\ell},v'') &= \{\mathbf{k}_{w}(V_{cl}^{l},v') - \mathbf{k}_{w,M}(V_{cl}^{l},v')\}\mathbf{k}_{w}(\bar{V}_{cl}^{\ell},v'') \\ &+ \{\mathbf{k}_{w}(\bar{V}_{cl}^{\ell},v'') - \mathbf{k}_{w,M}(\bar{V}_{cl}^{\ell},v'')\}\mathbf{k}_{w,M}(V_{cl}^{l},v') \\ &+ \mathbf{k}_{w,M}(V_{cl}^{l},v')\mathbf{k}_{w,M}(\bar{V}_{cl}^{\ell},v''). \end{aligned}$$

From Lemma 8.1, the first two difference terms lead to a small contribution to \mathcal{J}_1 bounded by

$$\frac{C\mathcal{C}_{m,q}\mathcal{C}_{0,q}C^2(q)}{N} \|H_{2,0}\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

For the remaining main contribution of the bounded product $\mathbf{k}_{w,M}(V_{cl}^l, v')\mathbf{k}_{w,M}(\bar{V}_{cl}^\ell, v'')$, we denote

$$\tilde{y} = \bar{Y}_{cl}^{\ell}(s'; Y_{cl}^{l}(s), v') = y'_{\ell} - (t'_{\ell} - s')v'_{\ell y}$$

and apply the change of variable $v'_{ly} \rightarrow \tilde{y}$. Then one has

$$\left|\frac{\partial \tilde{y}}{\partial v_{ly}'}\right| = \left|\frac{\partial (y_{\ell}' - (t_{\ell}' - s')v_{\elly}')}{\partial v_{ly}'}\right| = |t_{\ell}' - s'| \ge \eta_0.$$

We now estimate this part as follows:

$$C\mathcal{C}_{m,q}\mathcal{C}_{0,q}\sum_{l=1}^{k-1}\int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1}v_{j}}\int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}}\int_{|v'|\leq 2M}\mathbf{k}_{w,M}(V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s;v),v')e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(s-t_{1}')}$$

$$\times\sum_{\ell=1}^{l-1}\int_{\prod_{j=1}^{l-1}v_{j}}\int_{t_{\ell+1}'}^{t_{\ell}'-\eta_{0}}\int_{|v''|\leq 2M}\mathbf{k}_{w,M}(\bar{V}_{\mathbf{cl}}^{\ell}(s';Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s),v'),v'')$$

$$\times|H_{2,0}(s',\bar{Y}_{\mathbf{cl}}^{\ell}(s';Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s),v'),v'')|\,dv''\,d\Sigma_{\ell}(s')\,ds'\,dv'\,d\Sigma_{l}(s)\,ds$$

$$\leq C(M,m,q)\sum_{l=1}^{k-1}\int_{\prod_{j=1}^{l-1}v_{j}}\int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}}e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(s-t_{1}')}$$

$$\times\sum_{\ell=1}^{l-1}\int_{\prod_{j=1}^{l-1}v_{j}}\int_{t_{\ell+1}'}^{t_{\ell}'-\eta_{0}}\int_{|v'|\leq 2M,|v''|\leq 2M}|\mathcal{G}_{2}(s',\bar{Y}_{\mathbf{cl}}^{\ell}(s';Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s),v'),v'')|$$

$$\times dv''\,dv'\,d\Sigma_{\ell}(s')\,ds'\,d\Sigma_{l}(s)\,ds$$

$$\leq \frac{C(M,m,q)}{\sqrt{\eta_0}} \sup_{s \leq t} \|\mathscr{G}_2(s)\| \sup_{v,v'} \left\{ \int_{t_k}^{t_1} e^{-\frac{v_0(t_1-s)}{2}} e^{-\frac{v_0}{2}(s-t_1')} \int_{t_1'}^{t_1'} e^{-\frac{v_0(t_1'-s')}{2}} ds' ds \right\}$$

$$\leq \frac{C(M,m,q)}{\sqrt{\eta_0}} \sup_{s \leq t} \|\mathscr{G}_2(s)\|.$$

Putting all the estimates for \mathcal{J}_1 and \mathcal{J}_2 together, we now obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J} &\leq C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} \mathcal{C}_{0,q} \eta_0 \iota \| H_{2,0} \|_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} \mathcal{C}_{0,q} C^2(q)}{1+M} \| H_{2,0} \|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} \mathcal{C}_{0,q} C^2(q) e^{-\frac{\varepsilon M^2}{16}} \| H_{2,0} \|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ \frac{C \mathcal{C}_{m,q} \mathcal{C}_{0,q} C(q)}{N} \| H_{2,0} \|_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{C(M,m,q)}{\sqrt{\eta_0}} \sup_{s \leq t} \| \mathcal{G}_2(s) \| \end{aligned}$$

As mentioned before, by performing similar calculations for the other terms on the right hand side of (5.27), one gets

$$\|H_{2,m}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{C\mathcal{C}_{m,q}\mathcal{C}_{0,q}C^{2}(q)}{1+M} \|H_{2,m}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C\mathcal{C}_{m,q}\mathcal{C}_{0,q}C^{2}(q)e^{-\varepsilon M^{2}/16} \|H_{2,m}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C\mathcal{C}_{m,q}\mathcal{C}_{0,q}\eta_{0}\iota \|H_{2,0}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{C\mathcal{C}_{m,q}\mathcal{C}_{0,q}(4^{q}q!)^{2}}{1+M} \|H_{2,0}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C\mathcal{C}_{m,q}\mathcal{C}_{0,q}C^{2}(q)e^{-\varepsilon M^{2}/16} \|H_{2,0}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{C\mathcal{C}_{m,q}\mathcal{C}_{0,q}C(q)}{N} \|H_{2,0}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \frac{C(M,m,q)}{\sqrt{\eta_{0}}} \sup_{s \leq t} \|\mathcal{G}_{2}(s)\| + C(M,m,q) \sup_{s \leq t} \|\partial_{v_{x}}^{m}\mathcal{G}_{2}(s)\| + C \sup_{s \leq t} \mathcal{Q}(s).$$
(5.29)

Since $\iota \sim (\tilde{T}_0)^{5/4}$, by taking *M* and *N* large enough and $\eta_0 = (\tilde{T}_0)^{-5/2}$ small enough, (5.29) further yields (5.28). Finally, taking a linear combination of (5.28) with $m = 0, 1, ..., N_0$, we conclude that

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|H_{2,m}\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

$$\le C(N_0, q, \tilde{T}_0) \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|\partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2\| + C(N_0, q, T_0) \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|H_{1,m}\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

$$+ C(N_0, q, T_0) \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \{\|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_2\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_{2,b}\|_{L^{\infty}}\}.$$
(5.30)

Remark 5.1. We point out that the estimates (5.22) and (5.30) obtained above are independent of ϵ . Moreover, both \tilde{T}_0 and T_0 are independent of t, because starting from any $t \in (-\infty, \infty)$ we can trace back k times to some t_k which can be negative.

Step 2: L^2 estimate. To close the final estimate, we turn to the L^2 estimate of $\partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2$ with $0 \le m \le N_0$. The goal is to prove that for a given $\epsilon > 0$ there exists $C(\epsilon) > 0$ such that

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|\partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2\|^2 + \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} |\partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2|_{2,+}^2$$

$$\le C(\epsilon) \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C(\epsilon) \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_2\|_{L^{\infty}}^2$$

$$+ C(\epsilon) \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_{2,b}\|_{L^{\infty}}^2.$$
(5.31)

For this, we begin with the following equations for \mathcal{G}_2 :

$$\begin{cases} \epsilon \mathscr{G}_{2} + v_{y} \partial_{y} \mathscr{G}_{2} - \alpha v_{y} \partial_{v_{x}} \mathscr{G}_{2} + v_{0} \mathscr{G}_{2} - \sigma K \mathscr{G}_{2} - \sigma (1 - \chi_{M}) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} \mathscr{G}_{1} = \mathscr{F}_{2}, \\ y \in (-1, 1), \\ \mathscr{G}_{2}(\pm 1, v) \mathbf{1}_{\{v_{y} \leq 0\}} - \sigma \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_{y} \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} \, \mathscr{G}(\pm 1, v) |v_{y}| \, dv = \mathscr{F}_{2,b}. \end{cases}$$
(5.32)

Taking the inner product of $(5.32)_1$ and \mathscr{G}_2 over $(y, v) \in (-1, 1) \times \mathbb{R}^3$ we have, for $\eta > 0$,

$$\begin{aligned} (\epsilon + (1 - \sigma)\nu_0) \|\mathscr{G}_2\|^2 + \sigma\delta_0 \|\mathbf{P}_1\mathscr{G}_2\|^2 + \frac{1}{2}|\{I - P_\gamma\}\mathscr{G}_2|_{2,+}^2 + \frac{1}{2}(1 - \sigma)|P_\gamma\mathscr{G}_2|_{2,+}^2 \\ & \leq |(\mathscr{G}_2, \mathscr{F}_2)| + |((1 - \chi_M)\mu^{-1/2}\mathscr{K}\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_2)| \\ & + \eta|P_\gamma\mathscr{G}_2|_{2,+}^2 + C_\eta \|w_q\mathscr{G}_1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C_\eta \|w_q\mathscr{F}_{2,b}\|_{L^{\infty}}^2, \end{aligned}$$
(5.33)

where the following estimate on the boundary term has been used:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} v_{y} \mathscr{G}_{2}^{2}(1) \, dv - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} v_{y} \mathscr{G}_{2}^{2}(-1) \, dv \\ &= \int_{v_{y} > 0} v_{y} \mathscr{G}_{2}^{2}(1) \, dv - \int_{v_{y} < 0} v_{y} (\sigma P_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{2} + \sigma \bar{P}_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{1} + \mathscr{F}_{2,b})^{2}(1) \, dv \\ &- \int_{v_{y} < 0} v_{y} \mathscr{G}_{2}^{2}(-1) \, dv - \int_{v_{y} > 0} v_{y} (\sigma P_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{2} + \sigma \bar{P}_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{1} + \mathscr{F}_{2,b})^{2}(-1) \, dv \\ &\geq (1 - \sigma^{2}) \int_{v_{y} > 0} v_{y} (P_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{2})^{2}(1) \, dv + \int_{v_{y} > 0} v_{y} (\{I - P_{\gamma}\}\mathscr{G}_{2})^{2}(1) \, dv \\ &+ (1 - \sigma^{2}) \int_{v_{y} < 0} |v_{y}| (P_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{2})^{2}(-1) \, dv + \int_{v_{y} < 0} |v_{y}| (\{I - P_{\gamma}\}\mathscr{G}_{2})^{2}(-1) \, dv \\ &- \eta \int_{v_{y} < 0} v_{y} (P_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{2})^{2}(1) \, dv - C_{\eta} \|w_{q} \mathscr{F}_{2,b}(1)\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} - \eta \int_{v_{y} > 0} |v_{y}| (P_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{2})^{2}(-1) \, dv \\ &- C_{\eta} \|w_{q} \mathscr{F}_{2,b}(-1)\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} - C_{\eta} \int_{v_{y} < 0} |v_{y}| \, |\bar{P}_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{1}(1)|^{2} \, dv \\ &\geq |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}\mathscr{G}_{2}|_{2,+}^{2} + (1 - \sigma)|P_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{2}|_{2,+}^{2} - \eta |P_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{2}|_{2,+}^{2} \\ &- C_{\eta} \|w_{q} \mathscr{F}_{2,b}(\pm 1)\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} - C_{\eta} \|w_{q} \mathscr{G}_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Here we have used the notation

$$\bar{P}_{\gamma}\mathscr{G}_{1}(\pm 1) = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_{y} \ge 0} \mathscr{G}_{1}(\pm 1) |v_{y}| \, dv$$

and the estimate

$$\left| \int_{v_y \ge 0} \mathscr{G}_1(\pm 1) |v_y| \, dv \right| \le C \, \|w_q \mathscr{G}_1\|_{L^{\infty}} \quad \text{for } q > 5/2.$$

Next, since

$$\begin{split} |P_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{2}(\pm 1)|_{2,\pm}^{2} &= \int_{v_{y} \ge 0} \left[\int_{v_{y} \ge 0} \mathscr{G}_{2}(\pm 1) \sqrt{\mu} |v_{y}| \, dv \right]^{2} 2\pi \mu(v) |v_{y}| \, dv \\ &= \left[\int_{v_{y} \ge 0} \mathscr{G}_{2}(\pm 1) \sqrt{\mu} |v_{y}| \, dv \right]^{2}, \end{split}$$

by dividing the integration domain as

$$\{v \in \mathbb{R}^3 : v_y > 0\} = \underbrace{\{v \in \mathbb{R}^3 : 0 < v_y < \varepsilon \text{ or } v_y > 1/\varepsilon\}}_{V^\varepsilon} \cup \{v \in \mathbb{R}^3 : \varepsilon \le v_y \le 1/\varepsilon\},\$$

one sees that the grazing part of $|P_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_2(1)|^2_{2,+}$ is bounded by the Hölder inequality as

$$\left(\int_{V^{\varepsilon}} \mu(v)|v_{y}|\,dv\right) \int_{v_{y}>0} |\mathscr{G}_{2}(1)|^{2} v_{y}\,dv \lesssim \varepsilon \int_{v_{y}>0} |\mathscr{G}_{2}(1)|^{2} v_{y}\,dv.$$
(5.34)

For the nongrazing region, we see by using the trace Lemma 3.1 that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\{v \in \mathbb{R}^3: v_y > 0\} \setminus V^{\varepsilon}} |\mathcal{G}_2(1)|^2 v_y \, dv &\leq C \, \|\mathcal{G}_2\|^2 + C \, \|v_y \partial_y \mathcal{G}_2^2 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \mathcal{G}_2^2 \|_{L^1} \\ &\leq C \, \|\mathcal{G}_2\|^2 + C \, |(L\mathcal{G}_2, \mathcal{G}_2)| + C \, |((1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} \mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)| + |(\mathcal{F}_2, \mathcal{G}_2)| \\ &\leq C \, \|\mathcal{G}_2\|^2 + C \, \|w_q \mathcal{G}_1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C \, \|\mathcal{F}_2\|^2. \end{split}$$
(5.35)

Putting (5.34) and (5.35) together, one has

$$|P_{\gamma}\mathcal{G}_{2}|_{2,+}^{2} \leq \varepsilon |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}\mathcal{G}_{2}|_{2,+}^{2} + C \|\mathcal{G}_{2}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}\mathcal{G}_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C \|\mathcal{F}_{2}\|^{2}.$$
(5.36)

Consequently, (5.33) and (5.36) give

$$\|\mathscr{G}_2\|^2 + |\mathscr{G}_2|_{2,+}^2 \le C(\epsilon) \{ \|w_q \mathcal{F}_2\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + \|w_q \mathcal{F}_{2,b}\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + \|w_q \mathscr{G}_1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \}.$$
(5.37)

Remark 5.2. Note that the constant $C(\epsilon)$ in (5.37) is independent of the parameter σ .

It remains to deduce an L^2 estimate of higher order velocity derivatives. For this, applying $\partial_{v_x}^m$ $(m \ge 1)$ to (5.32) we have

$$\begin{cases} \epsilon \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2 + v_y \partial_y \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x}^{m+1} \mathscr{G}_2 + v_0 \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2 - \sigma \partial_{v_x}^m K \mathscr{G}_2 \\ - \sigma \partial_{v_x}^m [(1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} \mathscr{G}_1] = \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_2, \quad y \in (-1, 1), \\ \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2(\pm 1, v) \mathbf{1}_{\{v_y \leq 0\}} - \sigma \sqrt{2\pi} \, \partial_{v_x}^m (\mu^{1/2}) \int_{v_y \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} \, \mathscr{G}(\pm 1, v) |v_y| \, dv = \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_{2,b}. \end{cases}$$

$$(5.38)$$

Taking the inner product of $(5.38)_1$ and $\partial_{v_x}^m \mathcal{G}_2$, we deduce

$$\begin{aligned} (\epsilon + (1 - \sigma)\nu_0) \|\partial_{\nu_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2\|^2 + \sigma \delta_0 \|\partial_{\nu_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2\|^2 + \frac{1}{2} |\partial_{\nu_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2|_{2,+}^2 \\ & \leq C \|\mathscr{G}_2\|^2 + C \sum_{m' \leq m} \|w_q \partial_{\nu_x}^{m'} \mathscr{G}_1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C(m) |P_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_2|_{2,+}^2 \\ & + C \|\partial_{\nu_x}^m \mathscr{F}_2\|^2 + C \|w_q \partial_{\nu_x}^m \mathscr{F}_{2,b}\|_{L^{\infty}}^2, \end{aligned}$$
(5.39)

where we have used the following estimates for the incoming boundary term in $(5.38)_2$:

$$\begin{split} \int_{v_{y} \leq 0} |v_{y}| \left| \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \mathscr{G}_{2}(\pm 1, v) \mathbf{1}_{\{v_{y} \leq 0\}} \right|^{2} dv \\ &\leq C(m) |P_{\gamma} \mathscr{G}_{2}|_{2,+}^{2} + C \|w_{q} \mathscr{G}_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C \|w_{q} \partial_{v_{x}}^{m} \mathscr{F}_{2,b}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Then (5.39) and (5.37) give (5.31). With (5.31), (5.12) follows from (5.22) and (5.30). This completes the proof of the lemma.

5.3. Existence for the linear problem with $\sigma = 1$ and $\epsilon > 0$

With Lemma 5.1, we now turn to the existence of solution to (5.10) for a fixed parameter $\epsilon > 0$ in the L^{∞} framework by the contraction mapping argument.

Lemma 5.2. Under the same assumption of Lemma 5.1, there exists a unique solution $[\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_2] \in \mathbf{X}_{\alpha, N_0}$ to (5.10) with $\sigma = 1$ satisfying

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \{ \| w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_1 \|_{L^{\infty}} + \| w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{G}_2 \|_{L^{\infty}} \}$$

$$\le C \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \{ \| w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_1 \|_{L^{\infty}} + \| w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_2 \|_{L^{\infty}} + \| w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_{2,b}(s) \|_{L^{\infty}} \}.$$
(5.40)

Proof. The proof is based on the a priori estimate (5.12) established in Lemma 5.1 and a bootstrap argument. Just as for Lemma 4.2, the proof is divided into three steps.

Step 1: Existence for $\sigma = 0$. If $\sigma = 0$, then (5.10) is reduced to

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon \mathscr{G}_1 + v_y \partial_y \mathscr{G}_1 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \mathscr{G}_1 + v_0 \mathscr{G}_1 + \alpha \frac{v_x v_y}{2} \sqrt{\mu} \, \mathscr{G}_2 &= \mathscr{F}_1, \quad y \in (-1, 1), \\ \mathscr{G}_1(\pm 1, v) \mathbf{1}_{\{v_y \leq 0\}} &= 0, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon \mathscr{G}_2 + v_y \partial_y \mathscr{G}_2 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \mathscr{G}_2 + v_0 \mathscr{G}_2 &= \mathscr{F}_2, \quad y \in (-1, 1), \\ \mathscr{G}_2(\pm 1, v) \mathbf{1}_{\{v_y \leq 0\}} &= \mathscr{F}_{2,b}, \end{aligned}$$

respectively. Then, in this simple case, the existence of L^{∞} solutions can be directly proved by the method of characteristics so that

$$\|\mathcal{L}_0^{-1}[\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_1,\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_2]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0}} \le C_{\mathcal{L}}\|[\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_1,\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_2]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0}}.$$
(5.41)

Step 2: Existence for $\sigma \in [0, \sigma_*]$ for some $\sigma_* > 0$. Letting $\sigma \in (0, 1]$, we now consider

$$\epsilon \mathscr{G}_{1} + v_{y} \partial_{y} \mathscr{G}_{1} - \alpha v_{y} \partial_{v_{x}} \mathscr{G}_{1} + v_{0} \mathscr{G}_{1} + \alpha \frac{v_{x} v_{y}}{2} \sqrt{\mu} \mathscr{G}_{2}$$

= $\sigma \chi_{M} \mathcal{K} \mathscr{G}_{1} + \mathscr{F}_{1}, \quad y \in (-1, 1), \quad (5.42)$

$$\mathcal{G}_1(\pm 1, v)\mathbf{1}_{\{v_y \le 0\}} = 0, \tag{5.43}$$

and

$$\epsilon \mathscr{G}_2 + v_y \partial_y \mathscr{G}_2 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \mathscr{G}_2 + v_0 \mathscr{G}_2$$

= $\sigma K \mathscr{G}_2 + \sigma (1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} \mathscr{G}_1 + \mathscr{F}_2, \quad y \in (-1, 1), \quad (5.44)$

$$\mathscr{G}_{2}(\pm 1, v)\mathbf{1}_{\{v_{y} \leq 0\}} = \sigma \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_{y} \geq 0} (\mathscr{G}_{1} + \sqrt{\mu} \, \mathscr{G}_{2})(\pm 1, v) |v_{y}| \, dv + \mathcal{F}_{2,b}.$$
(5.45)

For the above system, we design the following approximation scheme:

$$\epsilon \mathscr{G}_{1}^{n+1} + v_{y} \partial_{y} \mathscr{G}_{1}^{n+1} - \alpha v_{y} \partial_{v_{x}} \mathscr{G}_{1}^{n+1} + v_{0} \mathscr{G}_{1}^{n+1} + \alpha \frac{v_{x} v_{y}}{2} \sqrt{\mu} \mathscr{G}_{2}^{n+1}$$

$$= \sigma \chi_{M} \mathscr{K} \mathscr{G}_{1}^{n} + \mathscr{F}_{1} =: \mathscr{F}_{1}^{(1)}, \quad (5.46)$$

$$\mathscr{G}_{1}^{n+1}(\pm 1, v) \mathbf{1}_{\{v_{y} \leq 0\}} = 0, \quad (5.47)$$

and

$$\epsilon \mathscr{G}_2^{n+1} + v_y \partial_y \mathscr{G}_2^{n+1} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \mathscr{G}_2^{n+1} + v_0 \mathscr{G}_2^{n+1}$$

= $\sigma K \mathscr{G}_2^n + \sigma (1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathscr{K} \mathscr{G}_1^n + \mathscr{F}_2 =: \mathscr{F}_2^{(1)}, \quad (5.48)$

$$\mathcal{G}_{2}^{n+1}(\pm 1, v) \mathbf{1}_{\{v_{y} \leq 0\}} = \sigma \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_{y} \geq 0} (\mathcal{G}_{1}^{n} + \sqrt{\mu} \, \mathcal{G}_{2}^{n})(\pm 1, v) |v_{y}| \, dv + \mathcal{F}_{2,b} =: \mathcal{F}_{2,b}^{(1)}, \quad (5.49)$$

with $[\mathscr{G}_1^0, \mathscr{G}_2^0] = [0, 0]$. The goal in the following proof is twofold: (i) $[\mathscr{G}_1^n, \mathscr{G}_2^n]_{n=0}^{\infty}$ is uniformly bounded in \mathbf{X}_{α, N_0} , and (ii) $[\mathscr{G}_1^n, \mathscr{G}_2^n]_{n=0}^{\infty}$ is a Cauchy sequence in \mathbf{X}_{α, N_0} . By (5.41), it follows that

$$\|[\mathscr{G}_{1}^{n+1},\mathscr{G}_{2}^{n+1}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_{0}}} \leq C_{\mathcal{L}}\left\{\|\mathscr{F}_{1}^{(1)},\mathscr{F}_{2}^{(1)}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_{0}}} + \sum_{0 \leq m \leq N_{0}} \|w_{q}\partial_{v_{x}}^{m}\mathscr{F}_{2,b}\|_{L^{\infty}}\right\}$$

$$\leq C_{\mathcal{L}}\sigma\bar{C}_{1}\|[\mathscr{G}_{1}^{n},\mathscr{G}_{2}^{n}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_{0}}}$$

$$+ \underbrace{C_{\mathcal{L}}\sum_{0 \leq m \leq N_{0}} \{\|w_{q}\partial_{v_{x}}^{m}\mathscr{F}_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_{q}\partial_{v_{x}}^{m}\mathscr{F}_{2}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_{q}\partial_{v_{x}}^{m}\mathscr{F}_{2,b}\|_{L^{\infty}}\}, \quad (5.50)$$

where $\bar{C}_1 > 0$ is independent of σ and n. Choosing $0 < \sigma_* < 1$ suitably small such that

$$C_{\mathcal{L}}\sigma_*\bar{C}_1 \le 1/2,\tag{5.51}$$

(5.50) implies that

$$\|[\mathscr{G}_1^n, \mathscr{G}_2^n]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha, N_0}} \le 2\mathcal{M}_0 \tag{5.52}$$

for all $n \ge 0$. Moreover, by (5.46)–(5.49) and applying (5.41), one has

$$\begin{aligned} \|[\mathscr{G}_{1}^{n+1}, \mathscr{G}_{2}^{n+1}] - [\mathscr{G}_{1}^{n}, \mathscr{G}_{2}^{n}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha, N_{0}}} &\leq C_{\mathcal{L}} \sigma \bar{C}_{1} \|[\mathscr{G}_{1}^{n}, \mathscr{G}_{2}^{n}] - [\mathscr{G}_{1}^{n-1}, \mathscr{G}_{2}^{n-1}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha, N_{0}}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \|[\mathscr{G}_{1}^{n}, \mathscr{G}_{2}^{n}] - [\mathscr{G}_{1}^{n-1}, \mathscr{G}_{2}^{n-1}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha, N_{0}}} \end{aligned}$$
(5.53)

with the condition (5.51). Consequently, (5.53) and (5.52) imply that the systems (5.42)–(5.43) and (5.44)–(5.45) have a unique solution $[\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_2] \in \mathbf{X}_{\alpha, N_0}$ for any $\sigma \in [0, \sigma_*]$. Moreover, by Lemma 5.1, we have the uniform estimate

$$\|[\mathscr{G}_1,\mathscr{G}_2]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0}} \leq C_{\mathcal{L}} \sum_{\mathbf{0} \leq m \leq N_0} \{\|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_1\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_2\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathscr{F}_{2,b}\|_{L^{\infty}}\},$$

which is equivalent to

$$\|\mathcal{L}_{\sigma_*}^{-1}[\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_1,\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_2]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0}} \le C_{\mathcal{L}}\|[\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_1,\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_2]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0}}.$$
(5.54)

Step 3: Existence for $\sigma \in [0, 2\sigma_*]$ for some $\sigma_* > 0$. By using (5.54) and performing similar calculations to those leading to (5.52) and (5.53), for $\sigma \in [0, \sigma_*]$, one can see that there exists a unique solution $[\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_2] \in \mathbf{X}_{\alpha, N_0}$ to the lifted system

$$\begin{split} \epsilon \mathscr{G}_1 + v_y \partial_y \mathscr{G}_1 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \mathscr{G}_1 + v_0 \mathscr{G}_1 + \alpha \frac{v_x v_y}{2} \sqrt{\mu} \, \mathscr{G}_2 - \sigma_* \chi_M \, \mathcal{K} \mathscr{G}_1 \\ &= \sigma \chi_M \, \mathcal{K} \mathscr{G}_1 + \mathscr{F}_1, \quad y \in (-1, 1), \\ \mathscr{G}_1(\pm 1, v) \mathbf{1}_{\{v_y \leq 0\}} = 0, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \epsilon \mathscr{G}_2 + v_y \partial_y \mathscr{G}_2 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \mathscr{G}_2 + v_0 \mathscr{G}_2 - \sigma_* K \mathscr{G}_2 - \sigma_* (1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} \mathscr{G}_1 \\ &= \sigma K \mathscr{G}_2 + \sigma (1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} \mathscr{G}_1 + \mathscr{F}_2, \quad y \in (-1, 1), \\ \mathscr{G}_2(\pm 1, v) \mathbf{1}_{\{v_y \leq 0\}} - \sigma_* \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} (\mathscr{G}_1 + \sqrt{\mu} \, \mathscr{G}_2)(\pm 1, v) |v_y| \, dv \\ &= \sigma \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} (\mathscr{G}_1 + \sqrt{\mu} \, \mathscr{G}_2)(\pm 1, v) |v_y| \, dv + \mathscr{F}_{2,b}. \end{split}$$

In other words, we have shown the existence of $\mathcal{L}_{2\sigma_*}^{-1}$ on \mathbf{X}_{α,N_0} and (5.12) holds true for $\sigma = 2\sigma_*$.

Therefore, by repeating this procedure finitely many times, one can see that \mathcal{L}_1^{-1} exists when $\sigma = 1$ and (5.40) follows correspondingly. This completes the proof of Lemma 5.2.

5.4. Estimates on the remainder

We are ready to complete the proof of Proposition 5.1.

Proof of Proposition 5.1. We now prove existence for the coupled system (5.2) and (5.4) under the diffuse boundary conditions (5.3) and (5.5), respectively.

Let us first go back to the approximation system (5.6)–(5.9). By applying Lemma 5.2, for fixed $\epsilon > 0$, we see that $[G_{R,1}^{n+1}, G_{R,2}^{n+1}]$ is well defined when $[G_{R,1}^n, G_{R,2}^n]$ is given and the solution belongs to \mathbf{X}_{α,N_0} defined in (5.11) for $N_0 \ge 0$.

We now show that $\{[G_{R,1}^n, G_{R,2}^n]\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ is a Cauchy sequence in \mathbf{X}_{α,N_0} , which implies that its limit denoted by $[G_{R,1}^{\epsilon}, G_{R,2}^{\epsilon}]$ is the unique solution of the system

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon G_{R,1}^{\epsilon} + v_y \partial_y G_{R,1}^{\epsilon} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} G_{R,1}^{\epsilon} + v_0 G_{R,1}^{\epsilon} - \chi_M \mathcal{K} G_{R,1}^{\epsilon} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \alpha \sqrt{\mu} \, v_x v_y G_{R,2}^{\epsilon} - \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\mu} \, v_x v_y G_1 + \sqrt{\mu} \, v_y \partial_{v_x} G_1 + \mathcal{Q}(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_1, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_1) \\ &+ \alpha \{ \mathcal{Q}(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^{\epsilon}, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_1) + \mathcal{Q}(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_1, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^{\epsilon}) \} + \alpha^2 \mathcal{Q}(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^{\epsilon}, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^{\epsilon}) \\ &=: \mathcal{N}_{\epsilon}, \ y \in (-1, 1), \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^3, \end{aligned}$$
(5.55)

$$G_{R,1}^{\epsilon}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \le 0} = 0, \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^3,$$
(5.56)

and

$$\epsilon G_{R,1}^{\epsilon} + v_y \partial_y G_{R,2}^{\epsilon} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} G_{R,2}^{\epsilon} + L G_{R,2}^{\epsilon}$$

= $(1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} G_{R,1}^{\epsilon}, \quad y \in (-1, 1), \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^3, \quad (5.57)$

$$G_{R,2}^{\epsilon}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^{\epsilon}(\pm 1, v)|v_y| \, dv, \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^3.$$
(5.58)

Furthermore, we will show that the convergence of the sequence $\{[G_{R,1}^n, G_{R,2}^n]\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ is independent of ϵ . For this, we first prove that

$$\|[G_{R,1}^n, G_{R,2}^n]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0}} \le 2\mathcal{C}_0, \tag{5.59}$$

where $\mathcal{C}_0 > 0$ is independent of ϵ and *n* for all $n \ge 0$. We apply induction on *n*. Notice $[G_{R,1}^0, G_{R,2}^0] = [0, 0]$. If n = 1, then the system (5.6)–(5.9) reads

$$\epsilon G_{R,1}^{1} + v_{y} \partial_{y} G_{R,1}^{1} - \alpha v_{y} \partial_{v_{x}} G_{R,1}^{1} + v_{0} G_{R,1}^{1} - \chi_{M} \mathcal{K} G_{R,1}^{1} + \frac{1}{2} \alpha \sqrt{\mu} v_{x} v_{y} G_{R,2}^{1}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\mu} v_{x} v_{y} G_{1} + \sqrt{\mu} v_{y} \partial_{v_{x}} G_{1} + Q(G_{1}, G_{1}) := \delta^{0}, \ y \in (-1, 1), \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^{3},$$

(5.60)

$$G_{R,1}^{1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_{y} \leq 0} = 0, \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^{3},$$
(5.61)

and

$$\epsilon G_{R,2}^{1} + v_{y} \partial_{y} G_{R,2}^{1} - \alpha v_{y} \partial_{v_{x}} G_{R,2}^{1} + L G_{R,2}^{1}$$

= $(1 - \chi_{M}) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} G_{R,1}^{1}, \quad y \in (-1,1), v \in \mathbb{R}^{3}, \quad (5.62)$

$$G_{R,2}^{1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_{y} \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_{y} \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} G_{R}^{1}(\pm 1, v)|v_{y}| dv, \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^{3}.$$
 (5.63)

Performing similar calculations to those in deriving (5.22) and (5.30), one has

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,1}^1\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \alpha \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,2}^1\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m S^0\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \alpha \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,2}^1\|_{L^{\infty}} + C,$$
(5.64)

and

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,2}^1\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|\partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,2}^1\| + C \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,1}^{k+1}\|_{L^{\infty}},$$
(5.65)

where the constant C > 0 is independent of ϵ ; see also Remark 5.1.

Since the mass of $G_{R,2}^1$ is not conserved, in order to estimate the macroscopic component of $G_{R,2}^1$ we instead turn to the L^2 estimate of G_R^1 . Recall $\sqrt{\mu} G_R^1 = G_{R,1}^1 + \sqrt{\mu} G_{R,2}^1$. By (5.60)–(5.63), it is easy to see that G_R^1 satisfies

$$\epsilon G_R^1 + v_y \partial_y G_R^1 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} G_R^1 + \frac{1}{2} \alpha v_x v_y G_R^1 + L G_R^1 = \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{S}^0,$$
(5.66)

and

$$G_R^1(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^1(\pm 1, v)|v_y| \, dv$$

Next, for $n \ge 1$, denote

$$\mathbf{P}_{0}G_{R}^{n} = (a^{n} + \mathbf{b}^{n} \cdot v + c^{n}(|v|^{2} - 3))\sqrt{\mu},$$

$$\mathbf{P}_{0}G_{R,2}^{n} = (a_{2}^{n} + \mathbf{b}_{2}^{n} \cdot v + c_{2}^{n}(|v|^{2} - 3))\sqrt{\mu},$$

(5.67)

and define the projection $\bar{\mathbf{P}}_0$ from L^2 to ker \mathcal{L} as

$$\bar{\mathbf{P}}_0 G_{R,1}^n = (a_1^n + \mathbf{b}_1^n \cdot v + c_1^n (|v|^2 - 3))\mu.$$
(5.68)

We will also use the notations

$$\mathbf{b}_{i}^{n} = [b_{i,1}^{n}, b_{i,2}^{n}, b_{i,3}^{n}], \quad i = 1, 2, \quad \mathbf{b}^{n} = [b_{1}^{n}, b_{2}^{n}, b_{3}^{n}].$$

Note that

$$a^{n} = a_{1}^{n} + a_{2}^{n}, \quad \mathbf{b}^{n} = \mathbf{b}_{1}^{n} + \mathbf{b}_{2}^{n}, \quad c^{n} = c_{1}^{n} + c_{2}^{n}, \quad \int_{-1}^{1} a^{n}(y) \, dy = 0.$$
 (5.69)

Since

$$\|[a_1^n, \mathbf{b}_1^n, c_1^n]\| \le C \,\|\bar{\mathbf{P}}_0 G_{R,1}^n\| \le C \,\|w_q G_{R,1}^n\|_{L^{\infty}}$$
(5.70)

for q > 5/2, to obtain the estimate of $||[a_2^1, \mathbf{b}_2^1, c_2^1]||$ it suffices to derive L^2 estimates of $[a^1, \mathbf{b}^1, c^1]$. In what follows, we will show that the L^2 norm of the macroscopic part of G_R^1 can indeed be dominated by its microscopic component and other known terms. We estimate $[a^1, \mathbf{b}^1, c^1]$ by the dual argument. First of all, we let $\Psi(y, v) \in C^{\infty}([-1, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^3)$, and take the inner product of (5.66) and Ψ over $(-1, 1) \times \mathbb{R}^3$ to obtain

$$\epsilon(G_R^1, \Psi) - (v_y G_R^1, \partial_y \Psi) + \langle v_y G_R^1(1), \Psi(1) \rangle - \langle v_y G_R^1(-1), \Psi(-1) \rangle + \alpha(v_y G_R^1, \partial_{v_x} \Psi) + \frac{1}{2} \alpha(v_x v_y G_R^1, \Psi) + (L G_R^1, \Psi) = (\mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{S}^0, \Psi).$$
(5.71)

Estimate of a^1 . Let

$$\Psi = \Psi_{a^1} = v_y \frac{d}{dy} \phi_{a^1}(y) (|v|^2 - 10) \sqrt{\mu},$$

where

$$\phi_{a^1}^{\prime\prime} = a^1, \quad \phi_{a^1}^{\prime}(\pm 1) = 0.$$
 (5.72)

Thus

$$\|\phi_{a^1}\|_{H^2} \le C \|a^1\|.$$
(5.73)

Plugging $\Psi = \Psi_{a^1}$ into (5.71), we now compute the equation term by term. First of all, by the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality with $\eta > 0$ and using (5.73), one has

$$\begin{split} \epsilon |(G_R^1, \Psi_{a^1})| &\leq \epsilon |(\mathbf{P}_0 G_R^1, \Psi)| + \epsilon |(\mathbf{P}_1 G_R^1, \Psi)| \\ &\leq C \epsilon ||a^1||^2 + C \epsilon \{ ||\mathbf{P}_1 G_{R,2}^1||^2 + ||w_q G_{R,1}^1||_{L^{\infty}}^2 \} + C \epsilon ||b_2^1||^2, \\ -(v_y G_R^1, \partial_y \Psi_{a^1}) &= -(v_y \mathbf{P}_0 G_R^1, \partial_y \Psi_{a^1}) - (v_y \mathbf{P}_1 G_R^1, \partial_y \Psi_{a^1}) \\ &\geq 5 ||a^1||^2 - \eta ||a^1||^2 - C_\eta \{ ||\mathbf{P}_1 G_{R,2}^1||^2 + ||w_q G_{R,1}^1||_{L^{\infty}}^2 \}, \end{split}$$

and

$$\alpha|(v_{y}G_{R}^{1},\partial_{v_{x}}\Psi_{a^{1}})| + \frac{1}{2}\alpha|(v_{x}v_{y}G_{R}^{1},\Psi_{a^{1}})| \le C\alpha(\|b_{1}^{1}\|^{2} + \|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2}).$$

Then by Lemmas 4.1 and 2.2, it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} (\mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{S}^{0}, \Psi_{a^{1}}) &= |(v_{y} \partial_{v_{x}} G_{1} - \frac{1}{2} v_{x} v_{y} G_{1} + \Gamma(G_{1}, G_{1}), \Psi_{a^{1}})| \\ &\leq \eta \|a^{1}\|^{2} + C_{\eta} \|G_{1}\|^{2} + C_{\eta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}}^{1} \int_{-1}^{1} |\Gamma(G_{1}, G_{1})|^{2} dv dy \\ &\leq \eta \|a^{1}\|^{2} + C_{\eta} \|w_{q} G_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C_{\eta} \int_{-1}^{1} \|G_{1}\|^{4} dy \\ &\leq \eta \|a^{1}\|^{2} + C_{\eta} \|w_{q} G_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C_{\eta} \|w_{q} G_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \|G_{1}\|^{2} \leq \eta \|a^{1}\|^{2} + C_{\eta}, \quad (5.74) \end{aligned}$$

provided that q > 3/2.

Next, noting that $LG_R^1 = -\{\Gamma(G_R^1, \sqrt{\mu}) + \Gamma(\sqrt{\mu}, G_R^1)\}$, by a similar argument one has

$$|(LG_{R}^{1}, \Psi_{a^{1}})| \leq |(L(G_{R,1}^{1}\mu^{-1/2}), \Psi_{a^{1}})| + |(LG_{R,2}^{1}, \Psi_{a^{1}})| \\ \leq \eta \|a^{1}\|^{2} + C_{\eta}(\|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2}).$$
(5.75)

The last boundary term $\langle v_y G_R^1(1), \Psi_{a^1}(1) \rangle - \langle v_y G_R^1(-1), \Psi_{a^1}(-1) \rangle$ vanishes because of (5.72).

Putting all the estimates above together, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|a^{1}\|^{2} &\leq C \|\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C\alpha \{\|G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + \|b_{1}^{1}\|^{2} \} \\ &+ C \|b_{2}^{1}\|^{2} + C. \end{aligned}$$
(5.76)

Estimate of \mathbf{b}^1 . Let

$$\Psi = \Psi_{b_i^1} = \begin{cases} v_y v_x \frac{d}{dy} \phi_{b_1^1}(y) \sqrt{\mu}, & i = 1, \\ v_y v_z \frac{d}{dy} \phi_{b_1^1}(y) \sqrt{\mu}, & i = 3, \\ v_y^2(|v|^2 - 5) \frac{d}{dy} \phi_{b_2^1}(y) \sqrt{\mu}, & i = 2, \end{cases}$$

where

$$-\phi_{b_i^1}'' = b_i^1, \quad \phi_{b_i}(\pm 1) = 0$$

Then

$$\|\phi_{b_i^1}\|_{H^2} \le C \|b_i^1\|, \quad |\phi'_{b_i^1}(\pm 1)| \le C \|b_i^1\|.$$
(5.77)

We now compute each term in (5.71) with $\Psi = \Psi_{b_i^1}$. By the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality and (5.77), one has

$$\begin{split} \epsilon |(G_{R}^{1}, \Psi_{b_{i}^{1}})| &\leq \epsilon |(\mathbf{P}_{0}G_{R}^{1}, \Psi_{b_{i}^{1}})| + \epsilon |(\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R}^{1}, \Psi_{b_{i}^{1}})| \\ &\leq C \epsilon ||b_{i}^{1}||^{2} + C \epsilon \{||\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{1}||^{2} + ||w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}||_{L^{\infty}}^{2}\} + C \epsilon \mathbf{1}_{i=2} ||c^{1}||^{2}, \\ -(v_{y}G_{R}^{1}, \partial_{y}\Psi_{b_{i}^{1}}) &= -(v_{y}\mathbf{P}_{0}G_{R}^{1}, \partial_{y}\Psi_{b_{i}^{1}}) - (v_{y}\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R}^{1}, \partial_{y}\Psi_{b_{i}^{1}}) \\ &\geq \begin{cases} ||b_{i}^{1}||^{2} - \eta ||b_{i}^{1}||^{2} - C_{\eta}\{||\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{1}||^{2} + ||w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}||_{L^{\infty}}^{2}\}, & i = 1, 3, \\ 6 ||b_{i}^{1}||^{2} - \eta ||b_{i}^{1}||^{2} - C_{\eta}\{||\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{1}||^{2} + ||w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}||_{L^{\infty}}^{2}\}, & i = 2, \end{cases} \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha |(v_y G_R^1, \partial_{v_x} \Psi_{b_i^1})| &+ \frac{1}{2} \alpha |(v_x v_y G_R^1, \Psi_{b_i^1})| \\ &\leq C \alpha (||[a^1, c^1]||^2 + ||w_q G_{R,1}^1||_{L^{\infty}}^2 + ||G_{R,2}^1||^2). \end{aligned}$$

Similar to (5.74) and (5.75), it follows that

$$(\mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{S}^0, \Psi_{b_i^1}) \le \eta \|b_i^1\|^2 + C,$$

and

$$|(LG_{R}^{1}, \Psi_{b_{i}})| \leq |(L(G_{R,1}^{1}\mu^{-1/2}), \Psi_{b_{i}^{1}})| + |(LG_{R,2}, \Psi_{b_{i}^{1}})|$$

$$\leq \eta \|b_{i}\|^{2} + C_{\eta}(\|w_{q}G_{R,1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}\|^{2}).$$

For the boundary term, noting that

$$G_R^1(\pm 1)|_{v_y \neq 0} = P_\gamma G_R^1(\pm 1) + \{I - P_\gamma\} G_R^1(\pm 1)|_{v_y \geq 0},$$
(5.78)

we have

$$\begin{split} \langle v_{y} G_{R}^{1}(1), \Psi_{b_{i}}(1) \rangle &- \langle v_{y} \mathscr{C}(-1), \Psi_{b_{i}}(-1) \rangle \\ &= \langle v_{y} P_{\gamma} G_{R}^{1}(1), \Psi_{b_{i}}(1) \rangle + \langle v_{y} \{I - P_{\gamma}\} G_{R}^{1}(1)|_{v_{y} > 0}, \Psi_{b_{i}}(1) \rangle \\ &- \langle v_{y} P_{\gamma} G_{R}^{1}(-1), \Psi_{b_{i}}(-1) \rangle - \langle v_{y} \{I - P_{\gamma}\} G_{R}^{1}(-1)|_{v_{y} < 0}, \Psi_{b_{i}}(-1) \rangle \\ &= \langle v_{y} \{I - P_{\gamma}\} G_{R}^{1}(1)|_{v_{y} > 0}, \Psi_{b_{i}}(1) \rangle - \langle v_{y} \{I - P_{\gamma}\} G_{R}^{1}(-1)|_{v_{y} < 0}, \Psi_{b_{i}}(-1) \rangle \\ &\leq \eta \|b_{i}^{1}\|^{2} + C_{\eta} |\{I - P_{\gamma}\} G_{R,2}^{1}|_{2,+}^{2} + C_{\eta} \|w_{q} G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}, \end{split}$$

where the fact that $\langle v_y P_\gamma G_R^1(\pm 1), \Psi_{b_i}(\pm 1) \rangle = 0$ has been used.

We now conclude from the above estimates for b_i^1 with $1 \le i \le 3$ that

$$\|\mathbf{b}^{1}\|^{2} \leq C \|\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C\alpha\{\|G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + \|[a^{1}, c^{1}]\|^{2}\} + C |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}G_{R,2}^{1}|_{2,+}^{2} + C \|c^{1}\|^{2} + C.$$
(5.79)

Estimate of c^1 . Let

$$\Psi = \Psi_{c^1} = v_y (|v|^2 - 5) \frac{d}{dy} \phi_{c^1}(y) \sqrt{\mu}$$

where

$$-\phi_{c^1}'' = c^1, \quad \phi_{c^1}(\pm 1) = 0$$

One has

$$\|\phi_{c^1}\|_{H^2} \le C \|c^1\|, \quad |\phi_{c^1}'(\pm 1)| \le C \|c^1\|.$$
(5.80)

By the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality and (5.80), it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon |(G_R^1, \Psi_{c^1})| &\leq \epsilon |(\mathbf{P}_0 G_R^1, \Psi_{c^1})| + \epsilon |(\mathbf{P}_1 G_R^1, \Psi_{c^1})| \\ &\leq C \epsilon ||c||^2 + C \epsilon \{ ||\mathbf{P}_1 G_{R,2}^1|^2 + ||w_q G_{R,1}^1||_{L^{\infty}}^2 \}, \\ -(v_y G_R^1, \partial_y \Psi_{c^1}) &= -(v_y \mathbf{P}_0 G_R^1, \partial_y \Psi_{c^1}) - (v_y \mathbf{P}_1 G_R^1, \partial_y \Psi_{c^1}) \\ &\geq 30 ||c^1||^2 - \eta ||c^1||^2 - C_\eta \{ ||\mathbf{P}_1 G_{R,2}^1||^2 + ||w_q G_{R,1}^1||_{L^{\infty}}^2 \}, \end{aligned}$$

and

 $\alpha |(v_y G_R^1, \partial_{v_x} \Psi_{c^1})| + \frac{1}{2}\alpha |(v_x v_y G_R^1, \Psi_{c^1})| \le C\alpha (||b_1^1||^2 + ||w_q G_{R,1}^1||_{L^{\infty}}^2 + ||G_{R,2}^1||^2).$ Also similar to (5.74) and (5.75), one has

$$(\mu^{-1/2} S^0, \Psi_{c^1}) \le \eta \|c^1\|^2 + C,$$

and

$$|(LG_{R}^{1}, \Psi_{c^{1}})| \leq |(L(G_{R,1}^{1}\mu^{-1/2}), \Psi_{c^{1}})| + |(LG_{R,2}, \Psi_{c^{1}})|$$

$$\leq \eta \|c^{1}\|^{2} + C_{\eta}(\|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2}).$$

For the boundary term, by applying (5.78) and using

$$\langle v_y P_\gamma G_R^1(\pm 1), \Psi_{c^1}(\pm 1) \rangle = 0,$$

we have

$$\begin{aligned} \langle v_{\gamma} G_{R}^{1}(1), \Psi_{c^{1}}(1) \rangle - \langle v_{\gamma} G_{R}^{1}(-1), \Psi_{c^{1}}(-1) \rangle \\ & \leq \eta \|c^{1}\|^{2} + C_{\eta} |\{I - P_{\gamma}\} G_{R,2}^{1}|_{2,+}^{2} + C_{\eta} \|w_{q} G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Combining the above estimates of c^1 gives

$$\begin{aligned} \|c^{1}\|^{2} &\leq C \|\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C\alpha\{\|G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + \|b_{1}^{1}\|^{2}\} \\ &+ C \|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C|\{I - P_{\gamma}\}G_{R,2}^{1}|_{2,+}^{2} + C\alpha^{2}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.81)

Finally, a linear combination of (5.76), (5.79) and (5.81) gives

$$\|[a^{1}, \mathbf{b}^{1}, c^{1}]\|^{2} \leq C \|\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C\alpha \|G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + C |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}G_{R,2}^{1}|_{2,+}^{2} + C.$$
(5.82)

This together with (5.69) and (5.70) implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \|[a_2^1, \mathbf{b}_2^1, c_2^1]\|^2 &\leq C \|\mathbf{P}_1 G_{R,2}^1\|^2 + C \|w_q G_{R,1}^1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \\ &+ C |\{I - P_\gamma\} G_{R,2}^1|_{2,+}^2 + C. \end{aligned}$$
(5.83)

In order to obtain estimates for $\|\mathbf{P}_1 G_{R,2}^1\|$, we have to further consider the BVP for $G_{R,2}^1$ as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \epsilon G_{R,2}^1 + v_y \partial_y G_{R,2}^1 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} G_{R,2}^1 + L G_{R,2}^1 - (1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} G_{R,1}^1 = 0, \\ G_{R,2}^1(\pm 1, v) \mathbf{1}_{\{v_y \leq 0\}} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} G_R^1(\pm 1, v) |v_y| \, dv. \end{cases}$$

Applying the estimates (5.33), (5.36) and (5.39) with $\sigma = 1$, $\mathcal{F}_2 = 0$ and $\mathcal{F}_{2,b} = 0$, one has

$$\epsilon \|G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + \delta_{0} \|\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}G_{R,2}^{1}|_{2,+}^{2} \leq \eta |P_{\gamma}G_{R,2}^{1}|_{2,+}^{2} + \eta \|G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + C_{\eta} \|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}, \quad (5.84)$$

$$|P_{\gamma}G_{R,2}^{1}|_{2,+}^{2} \leq \varepsilon |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}G_{R,2}^{1}|_{2,+}^{2} + C \|G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2},$$
(5.85)

and

$$\epsilon \|\partial_{v_{x}}^{m} G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + \delta_{0} \|\partial_{v_{x}}^{m} G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} |\partial_{v_{x}}^{m} G_{R,2}^{1}|_{2,+}^{2}$$

$$\leq C \|G_{R,2}^{1}\|^{2} + C \sum_{m' \leq m} \|w_{q} \partial_{v_{x}}^{m'} G_{R,1}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C(m) |P_{\gamma} G_{R,2}^{1}|_{2,+}^{2}, \quad (5.86)$$

where all the constants on the right hand side are independent of ϵ . Then (5.82) and (5.84)–(5.86) give

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|\partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,2}^1\|^2 + \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} |\partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,2}^1|_{2,+}^2 \le C \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,1}^1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C.$$
(5.87)

Consequently, a linear combination of (5.64), (5.65) and (5.87) gives

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \{ \| w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,1}^1 \|_{L^{\infty}} + \| w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,1}^1 \|_{L^{\infty}} \} \le \mathcal{C}_0$$

for some suitably large $\mathcal{C}_0 > 0$. Therefore (5.59) holds for n = 1.

We now assume that (5.59) is valid for $n = k \ge 1$ and we will prove it for n = k + 1. In fact, applying the estimates (5.22) and (5.30) to the systems (5.6)–(5.7) and (5.8)–(5.9) with n = k, one has

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,1}^{k+1}\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \alpha \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,2}^{k+1}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m S^k\|_{L^{\infty}}, \quad (5.88)$$

and

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,2}^{k+1}\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ \le C \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,2}^{k+1}\| + C \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,1}^{k+1}\|_{L^{\infty}}, \quad (5.89)$$

where

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}^{k} &= -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\mu} \, v_{x} v_{y} G_{1} + \sqrt{\mu} \, v_{y} \partial_{v_{x}} G_{1} + \mathcal{Q}(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_{1}, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_{1}) \\ &+ \alpha \{ \mathcal{Q}(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_{R}^{k}, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_{1}) + \mathcal{Q}(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_{1}, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_{R}^{k}) \} + \alpha^{2} \mathcal{Q}(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_{R}^{k}, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_{R}^{k}). \end{split}$$

By Lemmas 4.1 and 2.2 and the induction assumption, we have

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \delta^k\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C + C\alpha \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \{\|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,1}^k\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,1}^k\|_{L^{\infty}} \} + C\alpha^2 \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \{\|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,1}^k\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,1}^k\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \}.$$
(5.90)

For the L^2 estimate, by performing a parallel calculation to (5.83), one has

$$\|[a_{1}^{k+1}, \mathbf{b}_{1}^{k+1}, c_{1}^{k+1}]\|^{2} \leq C \|\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{k+1}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{k+1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}G_{R,2}^{k+1}|_{2,+}^{2} + C \sum_{j=1}^{3} |(\mu^{-1/2}\delta^{k}, \Psi_{j})|.$$
(5.91)

Here Ψ_j $(1 \le j \le 3)$ are chosen as $\Psi_{a^{k+1}}$, $\Psi_{b_i^{k+1}}$ and $\Psi_{c^{k+1}}$ in the same way as for Ψ_{a^1} , $\Psi_{b_i^1}$ and Ψ_{c^1} , respectively. Hence, (5.91) also gives

$$\begin{split} \|[a_{2}^{k+1}, \mathbf{b}_{2}^{k+1}, c_{2}^{k+1}]\|^{2} &\leq C \|\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{k+1}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{k+1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}G_{R,2}^{k+1}|_{2,+}^{2} + C \\ &+ C\alpha^{2} \{\|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{k}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|w_{q}G_{R,2}^{k}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \} \\ &+ C\alpha^{4} \{\|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{k}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{4} + \|w_{q}G_{R,2}^{k}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{4} \}, \end{split}$$
(5.92)

by applying Lemma 2.2 and (5.69).

On the other hand, similar to the estimates (5.84)–(5.86), it also follows that

$$\epsilon \|G_{R,2}^{k+1}\|^{2} + \delta_{0} \|\mathbf{P}_{1}G_{R,2}^{k+1}\|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}G_{R,2}^{k+1}|_{2,+}^{2} \\ \leq \eta |P_{\gamma}G_{R,2}^{k+1}|_{2,+}^{2} + \eta \|G_{R,2}^{k+1}\|^{2} + C_{\eta} \|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{k+1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}, \quad (5.93)$$

$$|P_{\gamma}G_{R,2}^{k+1}|_{2,+}^{2} \leq \varepsilon |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}G_{R,2}^{k+1}|_{2,+}^{2} + C \|G_{R,2}^{k+1}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}G_{R,1}^{k+1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2},$$
(5.94)

and

$$\epsilon \|\partial_{v_{x}}^{m} G_{R,2}^{k+1}\|^{2} + \delta_{0} \|\partial_{v_{x}}^{m} G_{R,2}^{k+1}\|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} |\partial_{v_{x}}^{m} G_{R,2}^{k+1}|_{2,+}^{2}$$

$$\leq C \|G_{R,2}^{k+1}\|^{2} + C \sum_{m' \leq m} \|w_{q} \partial_{v_{x}}^{m'} G_{R,1}^{k+1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C |P_{\gamma} G_{R,2}^{k+1}|_{2,+}^{2}.$$

$$(5.95)$$

As a consequence, combining the estimates (5.92)–(5.95) gives

$$\sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|\partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,2}^{k+1}\|^2 + \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} |\partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,2}^{k+1}|_{2,+}^2$$

$$\le C \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m G_{R,1}^{k+1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C\alpha^2 \{\|w_q G_{R,1}^k\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + \|w_q G_{R,1}^k\|_{L^{\infty}}^2\}$$

$$+ C\alpha^4 \{\|w_q G_{R,1}^k\|_{L^{\infty}}^4 + \|w_q G_{R,2}^k\|_{L^{\infty}}^4\}.$$
(5.96)

Finally, by taking $C_1 > 0$ suitably large, we infer from (5.88)–(5.90) and (5.96) that

$$\begin{split} \|[G_{R,1}^{k+1}, G_{R,2}^{k+1}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_{0}}} &\leq \mathcal{C}_{0} + C_{1}\alpha \|[G_{R,1}^{k}, G_{R,2}^{k}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_{0}}} + C_{1}\alpha^{2} \|[G_{R,1}^{k}, G_{R,2}^{k}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_{0}}}^{2} \\ &\leq \mathcal{C}_{0}\{1 + 2\mathcal{C}_{0}C_{1}\alpha + 4C_{1}\mathcal{C}_{0}^{2}\alpha^{2}\} \leq \frac{5}{4}\mathcal{C}_{0} \end{split}$$

provided that α is chosen to be sufficiently small. Thus (5.59) holds for n = k + 1. Therefore, it holds for all $n \ge 0$.

We now prove that $\{[G_{R,1}^n, G_{R,1}^n]\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ is a Cauchy sequence in \mathbf{X}_{α,N_0} . For this, denote

$$\mu^{1/2}\tilde{G}_{R}^{n+1} = \tilde{G}_{R,1}^{n+1} + \mu^{1/2}\tilde{G}_{R,2}^{n+1}$$

with

$$[\tilde{G}_{R,1}^{n+1}, \tilde{G}_{R,2}^{n+1}] = [G_{R,1}^{n+1} - G_{R,1}^{n}, G_{R,2}^{n+1} - G_{R,2}^{n}].$$

Then $[\tilde{G}_{R,1}^{n+1}, \tilde{G}_{R,2}^{n+1}]$ satisfies

$$\begin{split} \epsilon \tilde{G}_{R,1}^{n+1} + v_y \partial_y \tilde{G}_{R,1}^{n+1} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \tilde{G}_{R,1}^{n+1} + v_0 \tilde{G}_{R,1}^{n+1} - \chi_M \mathcal{K} \tilde{G}_{R,1}^{n+1} + \frac{1}{2} \alpha \sqrt{\mu} \, v_x v_y \tilde{G}_{R,2}^{n+1} \\ &= \alpha \{ Q(\sqrt{\mu} \tilde{G}_R^n, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_1) + Q(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_1, \sqrt{\mu} \tilde{G}_R^n) \} \\ &+ \alpha^2 \{ Q(\sqrt{\mu} \tilde{G}_R^n, \sqrt{\mu} \tilde{G}_R^n) + Q(\sqrt{\mu} \tilde{G}_R^n, \sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^{n-1}) + Q(\sqrt{\mu} \, G_R^{n-1}, \sqrt{\mu} \tilde{G}_R^n) \} \\ &=: \mathcal{N}, \quad y \in (-1, 1), \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^3, \\ \tilde{G}_{R,1}^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = 0, \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^3, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \epsilon \tilde{G}_{R,2}^{n+1} + v_y \partial_y \tilde{G}_{R,2}^{n+1} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \tilde{G}_{R,2}^{n+1} + L \tilde{G}_{R,2}^{n+1} - (1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} \tilde{G}_{R,1}^{n+1} = 0, \\ y \in (-1, 1), \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^3, \\ \tilde{G}_{R,2}^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} \, \tilde{G}_R^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|v_y| \, dv, \quad v \in \mathbb{R}^3. \end{split}$$

We claim that

$$\|[\tilde{G}_{R,1}^{n+1}, \tilde{G}_{R,2}^{n+1}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0}} \le C_m \alpha \|[\tilde{G}_{R,1}^n, \tilde{G}_{R,2}^n]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0}}$$
(5.97)

under the condition (5.59). In fact, on the one hand, by performing a similar calculation to those leading to (5.88), (5.89) and (5.96), one has

$$\|[\tilde{G}_{R,1}^{n+1}, \tilde{G}_{R,2}^{n+1}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0}} \le C \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \mathcal{N}(\tilde{G}_R^n, \tilde{G}_R^n)\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

On the other hand, from Lemma 2.2 we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{0 \leq m \leq N_0} \|w_q \partial^m_{v_x} \mathcal{N}(\tilde{G}^n_R, \tilde{G}^n_R)\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C \alpha \sum_{0 \leq m \leq N_0} \{\|w_q \partial^m_{v_x} \tilde{G}^n_{R,1}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_q \partial^m_{v_x} \tilde{G}^n_{R,2}\|_{L^{\infty}} \} \\ + C \alpha^2 \sum_{0 \leq m \leq N_0} \|w_q \partial^m_{v_x} \tilde{G}^n_R\|_{L^{\infty}} \sum_{0 \leq m \leq N_0} \|w_q \partial^m_{v_x} G^n_R\|_{L^{\infty}}, \end{split}$$

which is further bounded by

$$C\alpha \sum_{0 \le m \le N_0} \{ \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \tilde{G}_{R,1}^n\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_q \partial_{v_x}^m \tilde{G}_{R,2}^n\|_{L^{\infty}} \},$$

according to (5.59). Thus, the claim (5.97) holds. In other words, if $\alpha > 0$ is suitably small, then $\{[G_{R,1}^n, G_{R,2}^n]\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ is a Cauchy sequence in \mathbf{X}_{α,N_0} . Hence,

$$[G_{R,1}^n, G_{R,2}^n] \to [G_{R,1}^\epsilon, G_{R,2}^\epsilon]$$

strongly in \mathbf{X}_{α,N_0} as $n \to \infty$. Moreover, the convergence is uniform with respect to ϵ , and the limit $[G_{R,1}^{\epsilon}, G_{R,2}^{\epsilon}]$ is a unique solution to (5.55)–(5.56) and (5.57)–(5.58). In addition, $[G_{R,1}^{\epsilon}, G_{R,2}^{\epsilon}]$ also satisfies

$$\|[G_{R,1}^{\epsilon}, G_{R,2}^{\epsilon}]\|_{\mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0}} \le C, \tag{5.98}$$

where C > 0 is independent of ϵ .

Furthermore, by taking the limit $\epsilon \to 0$, we can repeat the same procedure as when letting $n \to \infty$ so that the limit function $[G_{R,1}, G_{R,2}] \in \mathbf{X}_{\alpha,N_0}$ is the unique solution of (5.2)–(5.3) and (5.4)–(5.5) with the same bound as in (5.98). Thus the proof of Proposition 5.1 is complete.

Finally, Theorem 1.1 is an immediate consequence of Propositions 4.1 and 5.1, except for the nonnegativity of the solution $F_{st}(y, v)$ that will be proved from the dynamical stability of $F_{st}(y, v)$ in Theorem 1.2.

6. Unsteady problem: local existence

We now turn to the time-dependent situation. To solve the initial boundary value problem (1.21), we set the perturbation as

$$F(t, y, v) = F_{st}(y, v) + \sqrt{\mu} f(t, y, v).$$
(6.1)

Then f = f(t, y, v) satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t f + v_y \partial_y f - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} f + \frac{1}{2} \alpha v_x v_y f + Lf \\ = \Gamma(f, f) + \alpha \{ \Gamma(G_1 + \alpha G_R, f) + \Gamma(f, G_1 + \alpha G_R) \}, \\ t > 0, \ y \in (-1, 1), \ v = (v_x, v_y, v_z) \in \mathbb{R}^3, \\ \sqrt{\mu} \ f(0, y, v) =: \ f_0(y, v) = F(0, y, v) - F_{st}(y, v), \quad y \in (-1, 1), \ v \in \mathbb{R}^3, \\ f(t, \pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} f(t, \pm 1, v) \sqrt{\mu} \ |v_y| \ dv, \quad t \geq 0, \ v \in \mathbb{R}^3. \end{cases}$$
(6.2)

The goal of this section is to construct a local-in-time solution to the initial boundary value problem (6.2). The proof of the global existence of solutions as well as the large time behavior will be left to the next section. To resolve the difficulty caused by the growth term $\frac{1}{2}\alpha v_x v_y f$, it is still necessary to introduce the decomposition

$$\sqrt{\mu} f = f_1 + \sqrt{\mu} f_2,$$
 (6.3)

where f_1 and f_2 satisfy the initial boundary value problems

$$\partial_t f_1 + v_y \partial_y f_1 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} f_1 + v_0 f_1$$

= $\chi_M \mathcal{K} f_1 - \frac{1}{2} \alpha \sqrt{\mu} v_x v_y f_2 + \alpha \{ Q(\sqrt{\mu} f, \sqrt{\mu} \{G_1 + \alpha G_R\}) + Q(\sqrt{\mu} \{G_1 + \alpha G_R\}, \sqrt{\mu} f) \} + Q(\sqrt{\mu} f, \sqrt{\mu} f),$ (6.4)

$$f_1(0, y, v) = f_0(y, v) = F_0 - F_{\text{st}},$$

$$f_1(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \le 0} = \sqrt{2\pi} \mu \int_{v_y \ge 0} f_1(\pm 1, v)|v_y| \, dv,$$
(6.5)

and

$$\partial_t f_2 + v_y \partial_y f_2 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} f_2 + L f_2 = (1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} f_1, \tag{6.6}$$

$$f_2(0, y, v) = 0, \quad f_2(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \le 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \ge 0} \sqrt{\mu} f_2(\pm 1, v)|v_y| \, dv, \tag{6.7}$$

respectively. Note that the initial data for f_2 is set to be zero.

We will look for solutions to (6.4)–(6.5) and (6.6)–(6.7) in the function space

$$\mathbf{Y}_{\alpha,T} = \left\{ [\mathscr{G}_1, \mathscr{G}_2] \mid \sup_{0 \le t \le T} \{ \| w_q \mathscr{G}_1(t) \|_{L^{\infty}} + \| w_q \mathscr{G}_2(t) \|_{L^{\infty}} \} < \infty \right\}$$

endowed with the norm

$$\|[\mathscr{G}_1,\mathscr{G}_2]\|_{\mathbf{Y}_{\alpha,T}} = \sup_{0 \le t \le T} \{\|w_q \mathscr{G}_1(t)\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|w_q \mathscr{G}_2(t)\|_{L^{\infty}} \}.$$

Theorem 6.1 (Local existence). Under the assumptions of Theorem 1.2, there exists $T_* > 0$ depending on α such that the coupled systems (6.4)–(6.5) and (6.6)–(6.7) admit a unique local-in-time solution $[f_1(t, y, v), f_2(t, y, v)]$ satisfying

$$\|[f_1, f_2]\|_{\mathbf{Y}_{\alpha, T_*}} \le C_0 \varepsilon_0$$

for some $C_0 > 0$.

Proof. We first consider the following systems for approximation solutions:

$$\partial_t f_1^{n+1} + v_y \partial_y f_1^{n+1} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} f_1^{n+1} + v_0 f_1^{n+1} = \chi_M \mathcal{K} f_1^n - \frac{1}{2} \alpha \sqrt{\mu} v_x v_y f_2^n + H(f_1^n, f_2^n), \quad (6.8)$$

$$f_1^{n+1}(0, y, v) = f_0(y, v) = F_0 - F_{\text{st}},$$

$$f_1^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \le 0} = \sqrt{2\pi} \mu \int_{v_y \ge 0} f_1^n(\pm 1, v)|v_y| \, dv,$$
 (6.9)

and

$$\partial_t f_2^{n+1} + v_y \partial_y f_2^{n+1} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} f_2^{n+1} + v_0 f_2^{n+1} = K f_2^n + (1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} f_1^n, \quad (6.10)$$

$$f_2^{n+1}(0, y, v) = 0,$$

$$f_2^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} f_2^n(\pm 1, v)|v_y| \, dv,$$
(6.11)

where

$$H(f_1^n, f_2^n) = \alpha \{ Q(\sqrt{\mu} f^n, \sqrt{\mu} \{G_1 + \alpha G_R\}) + Q(\sqrt{\mu} \{G_1 + \alpha G_R\}, \sqrt{\mu} f^n) \} + Q(\sqrt{\mu} f^n, \sqrt{\mu} f^n),$$

and $\sqrt{\mu} f^n = f_1^n + \sqrt{\mu} f_2^n$. Set $[f_1^0, f_2^0] = [f_0, 0]$.

Next, one can show inductively that there exists a finite $T_* > 0$ such that

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T_*} \|w_q[f_1^m, f_2^m](t)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C_0 \varepsilon_0$$
(6.12)

for any $m \ge 0$ provided that

$$\|w_q[f_1^0, f_2^0]\|_{L^{\infty}} = \|w_q[F_0(y, v) - F_{\rm st}(y, v)]\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \varepsilon_0.$$

This also implies that $[f_1^{n+1}, f_2^{n+1}]$ is well-defined by (6.8)–(6.9) and (6.10)–(6.11) if $[f_1^n, f_2^n]$ is bounded as in (6.12). Denote

$$[\mathfrak{G}_1^n, \mathfrak{G}_2^n] = w_q[f_1^n, f_2^n], \quad \sqrt{\mu} \,\mathfrak{G}^n = \mathfrak{G}_1^n + \sqrt{\mu} \,\mathfrak{G}_2^n.$$

Then \mathfrak{G}_1^n and \mathfrak{G}_2^n satisfy

$$\partial_t \mathfrak{S}_1^{n+1} + v_y \partial_y \mathfrak{S}_1^{n+1} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \mathfrak{S}_1^{n+1} + 2q\alpha \frac{v_x v_y}{1+|v|^2} \mathfrak{S}_1^{n+1} + v_0 \mathfrak{S}_1^{n+1} = \chi_M w_q \mathcal{K} \left(\frac{\mathfrak{S}_1^n}{w_q}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \alpha \sqrt{\mu} \, v_x v_y \mathfrak{S}_2^n + w_q H(f_1^n, f_2^n), \quad (6.13)$$

$$\mathfrak{G}_{1}^{n+1}(0, y, v) = w_{q} f_{0}(y, v),$$

$$\mathfrak{G}_{1}^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_{y} \leq 0} = \tilde{w}_{1}^{-1} \int_{v_{y} \geq 0} \tilde{w}_{1} \sqrt{2\pi} \, \mu \mathfrak{G}_{1}^{n}(\pm 1, v)|v_{y}| \, dv,$$
(6.14)

and

$$\partial_t \mathfrak{S}_2^{n+1} + v_y \partial_y \mathfrak{S}_2^{n+1} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \mathfrak{S}_2^{n+1} + 2q\alpha \frac{v_x v_y}{1 + |v|^2} \mathfrak{S}_2^{n+1} + v_0 \mathfrak{S}_2^{n+1} = w_q K \left(\frac{\mathfrak{S}_2^n}{w_q} \right) + (1 - \chi_M) w_q \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} f_1^n, \quad (6.15)$$

$$\mathfrak{G}_{2}^{n+1}(0, y, v) = 0,$$

$$\mathfrak{G}_{2}^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_{y} \leq 0} = \tilde{w}_{2}^{-1} \int_{v_{y} \geq 0} \tilde{w}_{2} \sqrt{2\pi} \, \mu \mathfrak{G}_{2}^{n}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_{y}} |\, dv,$$

(6.16)

with $[\mathfrak{G}_1^0, \mathfrak{G}_2^0] = w_q[f_1^0, f_2^0] = w_q[f_0, 0]$. Here

$$\tilde{w}_1 = \tilde{w}_1(v) = (\sqrt{2\pi} w_q \mu)^{-1},$$

and \tilde{w}_2 is given by (5.25).

Along the same characteristic line (3.3), by noting that *s* is no longer a parameter and it is nonnegative, (6.13)–(6.14) and (6.15)–(6.16) are equivalent to

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{G}_{1}^{n+1}(t, y, v) &= \mathbf{1}_{t_{1} \leq 0} e^{-\int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{A}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} (w_{q} f_{0})(Y(0), V(0)) \\ &+ \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{t_{1} > 0} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \mathcal{A}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} \tilde{w}_{1}^{-1}(V(t_{1})) \int_{n(y_{1}) \cdot v_{1} > 0} \tilde{w}_{1} \sqrt{2\pi} \, \mu \mathfrak{G}_{1}^{n}(t_{1}, y_{1}, v_{1}) |v_{1y}| \, dv_{1}}}_{J_{b}^{(1)}} \\ &+ \int_{\max\{0, t_{1}\}}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}(\tau, V(\tau)) \, d\tau} \left\{ \chi_{M} w_{q} \mathcal{K}\left(\frac{\mathfrak{G}_{1}^{n}}{w_{q}}\right) \right\} (V(s)) \, ds \\ &- \alpha \int_{\max\{0, t_{1}\}}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}(\tau, V(\tau)) \, d\tau} \frac{V_{x}(s) V_{y}(s)}{2} \, \sqrt{\mu}(V(s)) \mathfrak{G}_{2}^{n}(V(s)) \, ds \\ &+ \int_{\max\{0, t_{1}\}}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}(\tau, V(\tau)) \, d\tau} (w_{q} H(f_{1}^{n}, f_{2}^{n})) (V(s)) \, ds, \end{split}$$
(6.17)

and

$$\mathfrak{G}_{2}^{n+1}(t, y, v) = \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{t_{1}>0} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \mathcal{A}(\tau, V(\tau)) \, d\tau} \tilde{w}_{2}^{-1}(V(t_{1})) \int_{n(y_{1}) \cdot v_{1}>0} \tilde{w}_{2} \sqrt{2\pi} \, \mu \mathfrak{G}_{2}^{n}(t_{1}, y_{1}, v_{1}) |v_{1y}| \, dv_{1}}_{\mathcal{J}_{b}^{(2)}} + \int_{\max\{0, t_{1}\}}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}(\tau, V(\tau)) \, d\tau} \Big\{ (1 - \chi_{M}) \mu^{-1/2} w_{q} \, \mathcal{K}\left(\frac{\mathfrak{G}_{1}^{n}}{w_{q}}\right) \Big\} (V(s)) \, ds + \int_{\max\{0, t_{1}\}}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}(\tau, V(\tau)) \, d\tau} \Big[w_{q} \, \mathcal{K}\left(\frac{\mathfrak{G}_{2}^{n}}{w_{q}}\right) \Big] (V(s)) \, ds, \qquad (6.18)$$

where

$$\mathcal{A}(\tau, V(\tau)) = \nu_0 + 2q\alpha \frac{V_y(\tau)V_x(\tau)}{1 + |V(\tau)|^2} \ge \nu_0/2$$

provided that $q\alpha$ is suitably small. For the boundary terms $\mathcal{J}_b^{(1)}$ and $\mathcal{J}_b^{(2)}$, we use equations (6.17) and (6.18) recursively to obtain

$$\mathcal{J}_{b}^{(1)} = \sum_{j=1}^{5} \mathcal{J}_{j}^{(1)}, \quad \mathcal{J}_{b}^{(2)} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \mathcal{J}_{j}^{(2)}$$

with

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{J}_{1}^{(1)} &= \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{t_{1}>0} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \mathcal{A}(\tau,V(t)) d\tau} \tilde{w}_{1}^{-1}(V(t_{1}))}_{\mathbf{W}_{0}^{(1)}} \\ &\times \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_{j}} \mathbf{1}_{t_{k}>0} \mathfrak{S}_{1}^{n+1-k}(t_{k}, y_{k}, V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{k-1}(t_{k})) d\bar{\Sigma}_{k-1}^{(1)}(t_{k}), \\ \mathcal{J}_{2}^{(1)} &= \mathbf{W}_{0}^{(1)} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_{j}} \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}\leq 0 < t_{l}\}}(w_{q} f_{0})(Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(0), V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(0)) d\bar{\Sigma}_{l}^{(1)}(0), \\ \mathcal{J}_{3}^{(1)} &= \mathbf{W}_{0}^{(1)} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_{j}} \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}\leq 0 < t_{l}\}} \int_{0}^{t_{l}} + \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}>0\}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \right\} \left\{ \chi_{M} w_{q} \mathcal{K}\left(\frac{\mathfrak{S}_{1}^{n-l}}{w_{q}}\right) \right\} \\ &\times (Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}, V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l})(s) d\bar{\Sigma}_{l}^{(1)}(s) ds, \\ \mathcal{J}_{4}^{(1)} &= -\alpha \mathcal{W}_{0}^{(1)} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_{j}} \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}\leq 0 < t_{l}\}} \int_{0}^{t_{l}} + \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}>0\}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \right\} \left\{ \frac{v_{x}v_{y}}{2} \sqrt{\mu} \mathfrak{S}_{2}^{n-l} \right\} \\ &\times (Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}, V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l})(s) d\bar{\Sigma}_{l}^{(1)}(s) ds, \\ \mathcal{J}_{5}^{(1)} &= \mathcal{W}_{0}^{(1)} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_{j}} \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}\leq 0 < t_{l}\}} \int_{0}^{t_{l}} + \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}>0\}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \right\} \left\{ w_{q} \mathcal{H}(f_{1}^{n-l}, f_{2}^{n-l}) \right\} \\ &\times (Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}, V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l})(s) d\bar{\Sigma}_{l}^{(1)}(s) ds, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{J}_{1}^{(2)} &= \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{t_{1}>0} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \mathcal{A}(\tau, V(\tau)) \, d\tau} \tilde{w}_{2}^{-1}(V(t_{1}))}_{W_{0}^{(2)}} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_{j}} \mathbf{1}_{t_{k}>0} \, \mathfrak{S}_{2}^{n+1-k}(t_{k}, y_{k}, V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{k-1}(t_{k})) \\ &\times \, d \, \bar{\Sigma}_{k-1}^{(2)}(t_{k}), \\ \mathcal{J}_{2}^{(2)} &= W_{0}^{(2)} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_{j}} \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1} \leq 0 < t_{l}\}} \int_{0}^{t_{l}} + \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}>0\}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \right\} \left\{ w_{q} \, K\left(\frac{\mathfrak{S}_{2}^{n-l}}{w_{q}}\right) \right\} \end{split}$$

$$\mathcal{J}_{3}^{(2)} = W_{0}^{(2)} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} v_{j}} \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1} \le 0 < t_{l}\}} \int_{0}^{t_{l}} + \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1} > 0\}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \right\} \\ \left\{ (1 - \chi_{M}) w_{q} \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} \left(\frac{\mathfrak{G}_{1}^{n-l}}{w_{q}} \right) \right\} (Y_{\mathbf{d}}^{l}, V_{\mathbf{d}}^{l})(s) \, d \, \bar{\Sigma}_{l}^{(2)}(s) \, ds,$$

where $k \ge 2$. Here, similar to (5.24), $\bar{\Sigma}_l^{(i)}(s)$ (i = 1, 2) is given by

$$\bar{\Sigma}_{l}^{(i)}(s) = \prod_{j=l+1}^{k-1} d\sigma_{j} e^{-\int_{s}^{t_{l}} \mathcal{A}(\tau, V_{\mathbf{d}}^{l}(\tau)) d\tau} \tilde{w}_{i}(v_{l}) d\sigma_{l} \\ \times \prod_{j=1}^{l-1} \frac{\tilde{w}_{i}(v_{j})}{\tilde{w}_{i}(V_{\mathbf{d}}^{j}(t_{j+1}))} e^{-\int_{t_{j+1}}^{t_{j}} \mathcal{A}(\tau, V_{\mathbf{d}}^{l}(\tau)) d\tau} d\sigma_{j}.$$

To obtain (6.12), one can first prove that for fixed finite k > 0 and any $t \ge 0$,

$$\sup_{0 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \| [\mathfrak{G}_1^l, \mathfrak{G}_2^l](s) \|_{L^{\infty}} \le C(k) \| w_q f_0 \|_{L^{\infty}} \le \frac{1}{2} C_0 \varepsilon_0, \tag{6.19}$$

by choosing $C_0 > 0$ suitably large. Note that (6.19) can be easily obtained by using (6.17) and (6.18) recursively because k is finite.

In the following, we prove (6.12) for m = n + 1 under the assumption that it holds for $m \le n$. By letting $t \le T_*$ with $T_* > 0$ suitably small and applying Lemma 8.1, we have

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T_{*}} \|\mathfrak{G}_{1}^{n+1}\|_{L^{\infty}} \\
\le (C/q + C\bar{\varepsilon}) \sup_{1 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_{*}} \|\mathfrak{G}_{1}^{n+1-l}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C\alpha \sup_{1 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_{*}} \|\mathfrak{G}_{2}^{n+1-l}\|_{L^{\infty}} \\
+ C \sup_{1 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_{*}} (\|\mathfrak{G}_{1}^{n+1-l}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + \|\mathfrak{G}_{2}^{n+1-l}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}) + C \|w_{q} f_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}} \\
\le C \|w_{q} f_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}} + (C/q + C\alpha + C\bar{\varepsilon})C_{0}\varepsilon_{0} + CC_{0}^{2}\varepsilon_{0}^{2}, \tag{6.20}$$

and

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T_*} \| \mathfrak{G}_2^{n+1} \|_{L^{\infty}} \le CT_* \sup_{1 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_*} \| \mathfrak{G}_1^{n+1-l} \|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_* + \bar{\varepsilon}) \sup_{1 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_*} \| \mathfrak{G}_2^{n+1-l} \|_{L^{\infty}},$$
(6.21)

 $\times (V^l V^l)(s) d\bar{\Sigma}^{(2)}(s) ds$

where Lemma 2.4 has been used to have the factor 1/q in (6.20), and the coefficient T_* on the right hand side of (6.21) comes from the last two terms in (6.18) as well as $\mathcal{J}_2^{(2)}$ and $\mathcal{J}_3^{(2)}$. Choosing T_* and $\bar{\varepsilon}$ suitably small so that $C(T_* + \bar{\varepsilon}) \leq 1/8$, and using an induction argument, we deduce from (6.21) and (6.20) that

$$\begin{split} \|\mathfrak{G}_{2}^{n+1}\|_{L^{\infty}} &\leq \frac{1}{8^{[n/k]}} \sup_{0 \leq l \leq k} \|\mathfrak{G}_{2}^{l}\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ \frac{8kCT_{*}}{7} \{C\|w_{q} f_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}} + (C/q + C\alpha + C\bar{\varepsilon})C_{0}\varepsilon_{0} + CC_{0}^{2}\varepsilon_{0}^{2}\}, \quad n \geq k, \end{split}$$

where [n/k] stands for the largest integer no more than n/k. Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \|\mathfrak{G}_{1}^{n+1}\|_{L^{\infty}} &+ \|\mathfrak{G}_{2}^{n+1}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{1}{8^{[n/k]}} \sup_{0 \leq l \leq k} \|\mathfrak{G}_{2}^{l}\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ \frac{8kCT_{*} + 7}{7} \{C\|w_{q} f_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}} + (C/q + C\alpha + C\bar{\varepsilon})C_{0}\varepsilon_{0} + CC_{0}^{2}\varepsilon_{0}^{2}\}, \quad n \geq k. \end{split}$$

This together with (6.19) implies that (6.12) holds for m = n + 1 because q > 0 can be sufficiently large and $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ as well as $\alpha > 0$ can be suitably small.

Let us now show that $\{[f_1^n, f_2^n]\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ converges strongly in the space \mathbf{Y}_{α, T_*} . We denote $[\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^n, \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^n] = [\mathfrak{G}_1^n - \mathfrak{G}_1^{n-1}, \mathfrak{G}_2^n - \mathfrak{G}_2^{n-1}]$ for $n \ge 1$. Then $[\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^n, \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^n]$ satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^{n+1} + v_y \partial_y \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^{n+1} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^{n+1} + 2q\alpha \frac{v_x v_y}{1+|v|^2} \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^{n+1} + v_0 \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^{n+1} \\ &= \chi_M w_q \mathcal{K} \left(\frac{\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^n}{w_q} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \alpha \sqrt{\mu} \, v_x v_y \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^n + w_q [H(f_1^n, f_2^n) - H(f_1^{n-1}, f_2^{n-1})], \\ \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^{n+1}(0, y, v) &= 0, \quad \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \tilde{w}_1^{-1} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \tilde{w}_1 \sqrt{2\pi} \, \mu \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^n(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y} | \, dv, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^{n+1} + v_y \partial_y \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^{n+1} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^{n+1} + 2q\alpha \frac{v_x v_y}{1+|v|^2} \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^{n+1} + v_0 \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^{n+1} \\ &= w_q K \left(\frac{\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^n}{w_q} \right) + (1-\chi_M) w_q \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} \tilde{f}_1^n, \\ \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^{n+1}(0, y, v) &= 0, \quad \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^{n+1}(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \tilde{w}_2^{-1} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \tilde{w}_2 \sqrt{2\pi} \, \mu \mathfrak{G}_2^n(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y} | \, dv, \end{aligned}$$

where $\tilde{f}_1^n = f_1^n - f_1^{n-1}$, and $\sqrt{\mu} \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}^n = \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^n + \sqrt{\mu} \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^n$. Then similar to (6.20) and (6.21), one has

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T_{*}} \|\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_{1}^{n+1}\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ \le (C/q + C\bar{\varepsilon}) \sup_{1 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_{*}} \|\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_{1}^{n-l}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C\alpha \sup_{1 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_{*}} \|\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_{2}^{n-l}\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ + C\varepsilon_{0} \sup_{1 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_{*}} (\|\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_{1}^{n-l}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_{2}^{n-l}\|_{L^{\infty}}),$$
(6.22)

and

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T_{*}} \|\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_{2}^{n+1}\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ \le CT_{*} \sup_{1 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_{*}} \|\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_{1}^{n+1-l}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_{*}+\bar{\varepsilon}) \sup_{1 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_{*}} \|\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_{2}^{n+1-l}\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$
(6.23)

Plugging (6.22) into (6.23) gives

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T_*} \|\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^{n+1}\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ \le C(1/q + \alpha + \varepsilon_0 + T_* + \bar{\varepsilon}) \sup_{1 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_*} \|[\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^{n+1-l}, \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^{n+1-l}]\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$
(6.24)

By taking q > 0 sufficiently large and $\alpha > 0$, $\varepsilon_0 >$ as well $T_* > 0$ suitably small, we see from (6.24) and (6.22) that

$$\sup_{0 \le t \le T_*} (\|\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^{n+1}\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^{n+1}\|_{L^{\infty}}) \le \frac{1}{8^{[n/k]}} \sup_{0 \le t \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_*} \|[\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^l, \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^l]\|_{L^{\infty}}, \quad n \ge k.$$

On the other hand, $\sup_{0 \le l \le k} \sup_{0 \le t \le T_*} \|[\tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_1^l, \tilde{\mathfrak{G}}_2^l]\|_{L^{\infty}}$ is bounded due to (6.12). Hence $\{[f_1^n, f_2^n]\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is a Cauchy sequence in \mathbf{Y}_{α, T_*} , and there is a unique $[f_1, f_2] \in \mathbf{Y}_{\alpha, T_*}$ such that $[f_1^n, f_2^n]$ converges strongly to $[f_1, f_2]$ as $n \to \infty$ and $[f_1, f_2]$ is the desired local-in-time solution to the coupled systems (6.4)–(6.5) and (6.6)–(6.7). This completes the proof of Theorem 6.1.

7. Unsteady problem: asymptotic stability and positivity

This section is about the global existence and large time behavior of solution to the initial boundary value problem (6.2). Recall the decomposition (6.3) with f_1 and f_2 satisfying the coupled systems (6.4)–(6.5) and (6.6)–(6.7). Firstly, we focus on uniform $L^{\infty} \cap L^2$ estimates under the a priori assumption

$$\sup_{s \ge 0} \{ e^{\lambda_0 s} \| w_q f_1(s, y, v) \|_{L^{\infty}} + e^{\lambda_0 s} \| w_q f_2(s, y, v) \|_{L^{\infty}} \} \le \tilde{\varepsilon},$$
(7.1)

for a constant $\tilde{\varepsilon} > 0$ suitably small, where $\lambda_0 > 0$ independent of α is to be determined later. And then we will give the proof of Theorem 1.2.

7.1. L^{∞} estimates

As in the proof of Theorem 6.1, an L^{∞} estimate of f follows from uniform L^{∞} estimates of f_1 and f_2 .

Lemma 7.1. Let $0 < \lambda_0 \leq \nu_0/4$. Then under the assumption (7.1),

$$\sup_{0 \le s \le t} e^{\lambda_0 s} \|w_q f_1(s)\|_{L^{\infty}}$$
$$\leq C_q \|w_q f_0\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon}) \sup_{0 \le s \le t} e^{\lambda_0 s} \|w_q f_2(s)\|_{L^{\infty}}, \quad (7.2)$$

$$\sup_{0 \le s \le t} e^{\lambda_0 s} \|w_q f_2(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \|w_q f_0\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|e^{\lambda_0 s} f_2(s)\|,$$
(7.3)

for any $t \ge 0$.

Proof. For brevity, set

$$[g_1, g_2](t, y, v) = e^{\lambda_0 t} w_q(v) [f_1, f_2](t, y, v)$$
(7.4)

with $\lambda_0 > 0$ to be chosen. Then the IBVP for $[g_1, g_2]$ is as follows:

$$\begin{split} \partial_t g_1 + v_y \partial_y g_1 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} g_1 + 2q \alpha \frac{v_x v_y}{1 + |v|^2} g_1 + (v_0 - \lambda_0) g_1 \\ &= \chi_M w_q \mathcal{K} \left(\frac{g_1}{w_q} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \alpha \sqrt{\mu} \, v_x v_y g_2 + e^{\lambda_0 t} \, w_q \, H(f_1, f_2), \\ g_1(0, y, v) &= w_q \, f_0(x, v), \\ g_1(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} &= \tilde{w}_1^{-1} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \tilde{w}_1 \sqrt{2\pi} \, \mu g_1(\pm 1, v)|v_y| \, dv, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t g_2 + v_y \partial_y g_2 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} g_2 + 2q \alpha \frac{v_x v_y}{1 + |v|^2} g_2 + (v_0 - \lambda_0) g_2 \\ &= w_q K \bigg(\frac{g_2}{w_q} \bigg) + (1 - \chi_M) w_q \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} \bigg(\frac{g_1}{w_q} \bigg), \\ g_2(0, y, v) = 0, \quad g_2(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \tilde{w}_2^{-1} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \tilde{w}_2 \sqrt{2\pi} \, \mu g_2(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y} | \, dv. \end{aligned}$$

Along the characteristic line (3.3) the solution to the above problem can be written in the mild form

$$g_{1}(t, y, v) = \mathbf{1}_{t_{1} \leq 0} e^{-\int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{A}_{1}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} (w_{q} f_{0})(Y(0), V(0)) + \int_{\max\{0, t_{1}\}}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}_{1}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} \left\{ \chi_{M} w_{q} \mathcal{K}\left(\frac{g_{1}}{w_{q}}\right) \right\} (V(s)) ds - \alpha \int_{\max\{0, t_{1}\}}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}_{1}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} \frac{V_{x}(s) V_{y}(s)}{2} \sqrt{\mu}(V(s)) g_{2}(V(s)) ds + \int_{\max\{0, t_{1}\}}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}_{1}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} e^{\frac{v_{0}s}{4}} (w_{q} H(f_{1}, f_{2}))(V(s)) ds + \sum_{n=1}^{5} \mathcal{J}_{n}^{(1)}, \quad (7.5)$$

and

$$g_{2}(t, y, v) = \int_{\max\{0, t_{1}\}}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}_{1}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} \left\{ (1 - \chi_{M}) \mu^{-1/2} w_{q} \mathcal{K}\left(\frac{g_{1}}{w_{q}}\right) \right\} (V(s)) ds + \int_{\max\{0, t_{1}\}}^{t} e^{-\int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{A}_{1}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} \left[w_{q} \mathcal{K}\left(\frac{g_{2}}{w_{q}}\right) \right] (V(s)) ds + \sum_{n=1}^{3} \mathcal{J}_{n}^{(2)}, \quad (7.6)$$

where

$$\mathcal{A}_1(\tau, V(\tau)) = \nu_0 - \lambda_0 + 2q\alpha \frac{V_y(\tau)V_x(\tau)}{1 + |V(\tau)|^2}.$$

We will take $0 < \lambda_0 \leq \frac{\nu_0}{4}$ and let $2q\alpha \leq \frac{\nu_0}{4}$ such that $\mathcal{A}_1(\tau, V(\tau)) \geq \frac{\nu_0}{2}$. Moreover, for an integer $k \geq 2$, the terms $\mathcal{J}_n^{(1)}$ $(1 \leq n \leq 5)$ in (7.5) are given by

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{J}_{1}^{(1)} &= \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{t_{1}>0} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} A_{1}(\mathbf{r},V(\mathbf{r})) d\,\mathbf{r}} \tilde{w}_{1}^{-1}(V(t_{1}))}_{W_{1}^{(1)}} \\ &\times \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} \mathbf{1}_{t_{k}>0} g_{1}^{n+1-k}(t_{k}, y_{k}, V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{k-1}(t_{k})) d\,\tilde{\Sigma}_{k-1}^{(1)}(t_{k}), \\ \mathcal{J}_{2}^{(1)} &= W_{1}^{(1)} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}\leq 0 < t_{l}\}}(w_{q} f_{0})(Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(0), V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(0)) d\,\tilde{\Sigma}_{l}^{(1)}(0), \\ \mathcal{J}_{3}^{(1)} &= W_{1}^{(1)} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}\leq 0 < t_{l}\}} \int_{0}^{t_{l}} + \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}>0\}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \right\} \left\{ \chi_{M} w_{q} \,\mathcal{K}\left(\frac{g_{1}}{w_{q}}\right) \right\} \\ &\times (Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}, V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l})(s) \, d\,\tilde{\Sigma}_{l}^{(1)}(s) \, ds, \\ \mathcal{J}_{4}^{(1)} &= -\alpha \, W_{1}^{(1)} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}\leq 0 < t_{l}\}} \int_{0}^{t_{l}} + \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}>0\}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \right\} \left\{ \frac{v_{x}v_{y}}{2} \,\sqrt{\mu} \, g_{2} \right\} \\ &\times (Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}, V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l})(s) \, d\,\tilde{\Sigma}_{l}^{(1)}(s) \, ds, \\ \mathcal{J}_{5}^{(1)} &= W_{1}^{(1)} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}\leq 0 < t_{l}\}} \int_{0}^{t_{l}} + \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}>0\}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \left\{ w_{q} \, H(f_{1}, f_{2}) \right\} \\ &\times (Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}, V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l})(s) \, d\,\tilde{\Sigma}_{l}^{(1)}(s) \, ds. \end{split}$$

And the terms $\mathcal{J}_n^{(2)}$ $(1 \le n \le 3)$ in (7.6) are

$$\mathcal{J}_{1}^{(2)} = \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{t_{1}>0} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \mathcal{A}_{1}(\tau, V(\tau)) d\tau} \tilde{w}_{2}^{-1}(V(t_{1}))}_{W_{1}^{(2)}} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} v_{j}} \mathbf{1}_{t_{k}>0} g_{2}(t_{k}, y_{k}, V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{k-1}(t_{k})) \times d\tilde{\Sigma}_{k-1}^{(2)}(t_{k}),$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_{2}^{(2)} &= \mathcal{W}_{1}^{(2)} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_{j}} \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1} \leq 0 < t_{l}\}} \int_{0}^{t_{l}} + \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1} > 0\}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \right\} \left\{ w_{q} K\left(\frac{g_{2}}{w_{q}}\right) \right\} \\ &\times (Y_{\mathbf{d}}^{l}, V_{\mathbf{d}}^{l})(s) \, d \, \tilde{\Sigma}_{l}^{(2)}(s) \, ds, \\ \mathcal{J}_{3}^{(2)} &= \mathcal{W}_{1}^{(2)} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_{j}} \left\{ \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1} \leq 0 < t_{l}\}} \int_{0}^{t_{l}} + \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1} > 0\}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_{l}} \right\} \\ &\left\{ (1 - \chi_{M}) w_{q} \, \mu^{-1/2} \, \mathcal{K}\left(\frac{g_{1}}{w_{q}}\right) \right\} (Y_{\mathbf{d}}^{l}, V_{\mathbf{d}}^{l})(s) \, d \, \tilde{\Sigma}_{l}^{(2)}(s) \, ds, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\tilde{\Sigma}_{l}^{(i)}(s) = \prod_{j=l+1}^{k-1} d\sigma_{j} e^{-\int_{s}^{t_{l}} \mathcal{A}_{1}(\tau, V_{el}^{l}(\tau)) d\tau} \tilde{w}_{i}(v_{l}) d\sigma_{l} \\ \times \prod_{j=1}^{l-1} \frac{\tilde{w}_{i}(v_{j})}{\tilde{w}_{i}(V_{el}^{j}(t_{j+1}))} e^{-\int_{t_{j+1}}^{t_{j}} \mathcal{A}_{1}(\tau, V_{el}^{l}(\tau)) d\tau} d\sigma_{j}, \quad i = 1, 2.$$

Consequently, for any $t \ge 0$, by applying Lemmas 2.2, 2.4 and 8.1 as well as the a priori assumption (7.1), we deduce from (7.5) that

$$\begin{split} \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|g_1(s, y, v)\|_{L^{\infty}} &\le C_q \|w_q f_0\|_{L^{\infty}} + (C/q + C\bar{\varepsilon}) \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|g_1(s, y, v)\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ C(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon}) \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \{\|g_1(s, y, v)\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|g_2(s, y, v)\|_{L^{\infty}}\}, \end{split}$$

which gives (7.2).

For g_2 , similar to (5.26), one has

$$\begin{aligned} |g_{2}(t, y, v)| \\ &\leq C_{q} e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(t-t_{1})} \int_{\max\{t_{1}, 0\}}^{t} e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(t-s)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(V(s), v') |g_{2}(s, Y(s; t, y, v), v')| \, dv' \, ds \\ &+ C_{q} e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(t-t_{1})} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} v_{j}} \int_{\max\{t_{l+1}, 0\}}^{t_{l}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(V_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s), v') \\ &\times |g_{2}(s, Y_{\mathbf{cl}}^{l}(s; t, y, v), v')| \, dv' \, d \, \tilde{\Sigma}_{l}^{(2)}(s) \, ds \\ &+ \mathcal{P}(t), \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\mathcal{P}(t) = C_q \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|g_1(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} + \tilde{\varepsilon}C_q \sup_{0 \le s \le t} \|g_2(s)\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$
(7.8)

We now have, by iterating (7.7),

$$\begin{split} \|g_{2}(t, y, v)\| &\leq C_{q} \int_{\max\{t_{1}, 0\}}^{t} e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(t-s)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(V(s), v') \int_{\max\{t'_{1}, 0\}}^{s} e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(s-s')} \\ &\times \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(\bar{V}(s'; Y(s), v'), v'') |g_{2}(s', \bar{Y}(s'; Y(s), v'), v'')| dv'' ds' dv' ds \\ &+ C_{q} \int_{\max\{t_{1}, 0\}}^{t} e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(t-s)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(V(s), v') e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(s-t'_{1})} \sum_{\ell=1}^{t-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{t-1} V_{j}} \int_{\max\{t'_{\ell+1}, 0\}}^{t'_{\ell}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \\ &\mathbf{k}_{w}(\bar{V}_{\mathbf{d}}^{\ell}(s'; Y(s), v'), v'') |g_{2}(s', \bar{Y}_{\mathbf{d}}^{\ell}(s'; Y(s), v'), v'')| dv'' d\tilde{\Sigma}_{\ell}^{(2)}(s') ds' dv' ds \\ &+ C_{q} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} \int_{\max\{t_{l+1}, 0\}}^{t_{l}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(V_{\mathbf{d}}^{l}(s), v') \int_{\max\{t'_{l}(s), v')}^{s} e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(s-s')} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \\ &\mathbf{k}_{w}(\bar{V}(s'; Y_{\mathbf{d}}^{\mathbf{d}}(s), v'), v'') |g_{2}(s', \bar{Y}(s'; Y_{\mathbf{d}}^{l}(s), v'), v'')| dv'' ds' dv' d\tilde{\Sigma}_{\ell}^{(2)}(s) ds \\ &+ C_{q} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} V_{j}} \int_{\max\{t_{l+1}, 0\}}^{t_{l}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(V_{\mathbf{d}}^{l}(s; v), v') |dv'' d\tilde{\Sigma}_{\ell}^{(2)}(s), v'), v'') \\ &\times |g_{2}(s', \bar{Y}_{\mathbf{d}}^{\ell}(s), v'), v''| |dv'' d\tilde{\Sigma}_{\ell}^{(2)}(s') ds' dv' d\tilde{\Sigma}_{l}^{(2)}(s) ds \\ &+ C_{q} \int_{\max\{t_{l}, 0\}}^{t} e^{-\frac{v_{0}}{2}(t-s)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathbf{k}_{w}(V(s), v') \mathcal{P}(s) dv' d\tilde{\Sigma}_{\ell}^{(2)}(s) ds. \end{split}$$

With (7.9), similar to (5.28), for sufficiently large $T_0 > 0$, we have

$$\sup_{0 \le s \le T_0} \|g_2(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \bar{\varepsilon} \sup_{0 \le s \le T_0} \|g_2(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_0) \sup_{0 \le s \le T_0} \|f_2(s)\| + C \sup_{0 \le s \le T_0} \mathcal{P}(s),$$

which together with (7.8) gives

$$\sup_{0 \le s \le T_0} \|g_2(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \sup_{0 \le s \le T_0} \|g_1(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_0) \sup_{0 \le s \le T_0} \|f_2(s)\|.$$
(7.10)

Next, combining (7.2) at $t = T_0$ and (7.10), one gets

$$\sup_{0 \le s \le T_0} \|[g_1, g_2](s)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \|w_q[f_1(0, y, v), f_2(0, y, v)]\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_0) \sup_{0 \le s \le T_0} \|f_2(s)\|$$
$$\le C \|w_q f_0\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_0) \sup_{0 \le s \le T_0} \|f_2(s)\|.$$

Then it follows that for any $t \in [0, T_0]$,

$$\|w_q[f_1, f_2](t)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C e^{-\lambda_0 t} \|w_q f_0\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_0) e^{-\lambda_0 t} \sup_{0 \le s \le T_0} \|f_2(s)\|.$$
(7.11)

In particular, we have

$$\|w_{q}[f_{1}, f_{2}](T_{0})\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq Ce^{-\lambda_{0}T_{0}}\|w_{q}[f_{1}(0, y, v), f_{2}(0, y, v)]\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_{0})e^{-\lambda_{0}T_{0}}\sup_{0\leq s\leq T_{0}}\|f_{2}(s)\| \leq Ce^{-\lambda_{0}T_{0}}\|w_{q}f_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_{0})e^{-\lambda_{0}T_{0}}\sup_{0\leq s\leq T_{0}}\|f_{2}(s)\|.$$

$$(7.12)$$

Moreover, (7.11) can be extended to

$$\|w_q[f_1, f_2](t)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le Ce^{-\lambda_0(t-s)} \|w_q[f_1, f_2](s)\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_0)e^{-\lambda_0(t-s)} \sup_{s \le \tau \le t} \|f_2(\tau)\|$$
(7.13)

for any $t \in [s, s + T_0]$ with $s \ge 0$.

Next, for any integer $m \ge 1$, we can repeat the estimate (7.12) finitely many times so that the functions $[f_1, f_2](lT_0 + s)$ for l = m - 1, m - 2, ..., 0 satisfy

$$\begin{split} \|w_{q}[f_{1}, f_{2}](mT_{0})\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\leq Ce^{-\lambda_{0}T_{0}} \|w_{q}[f_{1}, f_{2}](\{m-1\}T_{0})\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_{0})e^{-\lambda_{0}T_{0}} \sup_{\{m-1\}T_{0} \leq s \leq mT_{0}} \|f_{2}(s)\| \\ &\leq Ce^{-\lambda_{0}T_{0}} \|w_{q}[f_{1}, f_{2}](\{m-1\}T_{0})\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ C(T_{0})e^{-\lambda_{0}T_{0}}e^{-\lambda_{0}(m-1)T_{0}} \sup_{\{m-1\}T_{0} \leq s \leq mT_{0}} \|e^{\lambda_{0}s}f_{2}(s)\| \\ &\leq Ce^{-\lambda_{0}mT_{0}} \|w_{q}[f_{1}, f_{2}](0)\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &+ C(T_{0})\sum_{l=0}^{m-1}e^{-m\lambda_{0}T_{0}} \sup_{\{m-l-1\}T_{0} \leq s \leq (m-l)T_{0}} \|e^{\lambda_{0}s}f_{2}(s)\| \\ &\leq Ce^{-\lambda_{0}mT_{0}} \|w_{q}f_{0}\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_{0})e^{-m\lambda_{0}T_{0}} \sup_{0 \leq s \leq mT_{0}} \|e^{\lambda_{0}s}f_{2}(s)\|. \end{split}$$
(7.14)

Furthermore, for any $t \ge T_0$, we can find an integer $m \ge 0$ such that $t = mT_0 + s$ with $0 \le s \le T_0$. Then, on the one hand, by (7.14) we have

$$\|[g_1, g_2](mT_0)\|_{\infty} \le C \|w_q f_0\|_{L^{\infty}} + C(T_0) \sup_{0 \le s \le mT_0} \|e^{\lambda_0 s} f_2(s)\|.$$
(7.15)

On the other hand, (7.13) implies that

$$\begin{split} \|w_q[f_1, f_2](t)\|_{\infty} &= \|w_q[f_1, f_2](mT_0 + s)\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\leq C e^{-\lambda_0 s} \|w_q[f_1, f_2](mT_0)\|_{\infty} + C(T_0) e^{-\lambda_0 s} \sup_{\substack{mT_0 \leq \tau \leq mT_0 + s}} \|e^{\lambda_0 \tau} f_2(\tau)\|, \end{split}$$

which is equivalent to

$$\|w_q[g_1, g_2](t)\|_{\infty} = \|w_q[g_1, g_2](mT_0 + s)\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

$$\leq C \|w_q[g_1, g_2](mT_0)\|_{\infty} + C(T_0) \sup_{mT_0 \leq \tau \leq mT_0 + s} \|e^{\lambda_0 \tau} f_2(\tau)\|.$$
(7.16)

Consequently, applying (7.15) to (7.16) gives the second estimate (7.3). This together with (7.2) yields the L^{∞} estimate of f_1 and f_2 , and thus completes the proof of Lemma 7.1.

7.2. L^2 estimates

In order to close the L^{∞} estimate in terms of (7.2) and (7.3), we need to deduce the L^2 estimate of $e^{\lambda_0 t} f_2(t, y, v)$. As pointed out in Section 4, the key is to obtain the dissipation estimate of the macroscopic component of f_2 as well as f_1 through the conservation of mass. Therefore, we need to resort to the original perturbation $\sqrt{\mu} g_{\lambda} := g_1 + \sqrt{\mu} g_2$ with some abuse of notation,

$$[g_1, g_2](t, y, v) := e^{\lambda_0 t} [f_1, f_2](t, y, v),$$
(7.17)

compared to (7.4) in the previous subsection. Note that the velocity weight is no longer needed for the L^2 estimates. Indeed, the only time-weighted function g_{λ} satisfies the IBVP

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t g_{\lambda} + v_y \partial_y g_{\lambda} - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} g_{\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} \alpha v_x v_y g_{\lambda} + Lg_{\lambda} - \lambda_0 g_{\lambda} \\ = \underbrace{e^{\lambda_0 t} \Gamma(f, f) + \alpha e^{\lambda_0 t} \{ \Gamma(G_1 + \alpha G_R, f) + \Gamma(f, G_1 + \alpha G_R) \}}_{\mathcal{H}}, \\ t > 0, \ y \in (-1, 1), \ v = (v_x, v_y, v_z) \in \mathbb{R}^3, \\ \sqrt{\mu} g_{\lambda}(0, y, v) = f_0(y, v) = F(0, y, v) - F_{st}(y, v), \quad y \in (-1, 1), \ v \in \mathbb{R}^3, \\ g_{\lambda}(t, \pm 1, v)|_{v_y \leq 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \geq 0} \sqrt{\mu} g_{\lambda}(t, \pm 1, v)|v_y| \ dv, \quad t \geq 0, \ v \in \mathbb{R}^3. \end{cases}$$
(7.18)

Note that since $\int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f(t, y, v) \sqrt{\mu} \, dv \, dy = 0$ according to (1.22) and (6.2), it is direct to see that

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} g_{\lambda}(t, y, v) \sqrt{\mu} \, dv \, dy = 0, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

Next, as in (5.67) and (5.68), we define

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{P}_{0}g_{\lambda} &= (a_{\lambda} + \mathbf{b}_{\lambda} \cdot v + c_{\lambda}(|v|^{2} - 3))\sqrt{\mu}, \\ \mathbf{P}_{0}g_{2} &= (a_{\lambda,2} + \mathbf{b}_{\lambda,2} \cdot v + c_{\lambda,2}(|v|^{2} - 3))\sqrt{\mu}, \\ \bar{\mathbf{P}}_{0}g_{1} &= (a_{\lambda,1} + \mathbf{b}_{\lambda,1} \cdot v + c_{\lambda,1}(|v|^{2} - 3))\mu. \end{aligned}$$

We also use the notation $\mathbf{b}_{\lambda} = (b_{\lambda}^1, b_{\lambda}^2, b_{\lambda}^3)$. Obviously,

$$a_{\lambda} = a_{\lambda,1} + a_{\lambda,2}, \quad \mathbf{b}_{\lambda} = \mathbf{b}_{\lambda,1} + \mathbf{b}_{\lambda,2}, \quad c_{\lambda} = c_{\lambda,1} + c_{\lambda,2},$$

$$\int_{-1}^{1} a_{\lambda}(t, y) \, dy = 0, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$
 (7.19)

As in Section 4, we are able to prove the following result in order to capture the macroscopic dissipation of g_{λ} .

Lemma 7.2. Under the assumption (7.1), there exists an instant functional $\mathcal{E}_{int}(t)$ satisfying

$$|\mathcal{E}_{\text{int}}(t)| \le \|g_2\|^2 + \|w_q g_1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2$$
(7.20)

such that for any $t \ge 0$,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{E}_{\rm int}(t) + \lambda \|[a_{\lambda}, \mathbf{b}_{\lambda}, c_{\lambda}]\|^{2} \leq C \|\mathbf{P}_{1}g_{2}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}g_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon})\|g_{2}\|^{2} + C|\{I - P_{\gamma}\}g_{2}|_{2,+}^{2}.$$
(7.21)

Proof. The proof of (7.21) is similar to that of (5.82) in Section 5. For brevity, we only show how to derive an L^2 estimate of a_{λ} . By letting $\Psi = \Psi(t, y, v) \in C^{\infty}([0, \infty) \times [-1, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ be a test function and taking the inner product of (7.18) and Ψ , one has

$$\frac{d}{dt}(g_{\lambda},\Psi) - (g_{\lambda},\partial_{t}\Psi) - (v_{y}g_{\lambda},\partial_{y}\Psi) + \langle v_{y},(g_{\lambda}\Psi)(1)\rangle - \langle v_{y},(g_{\lambda}\Psi)(-1)\rangle + \alpha(v_{y}g_{\lambda},\partial_{v_{x}}\Psi) + \frac{1}{2}\alpha(v_{x}v_{y}g_{\lambda},\Psi) + ((-\lambda_{0}+L)g_{\lambda},\Phi) = (\mathcal{H},\Phi).$$
(7.22)

Choose

$$\Psi = \Psi_{a_{\lambda}} = v_y \partial_y \phi_{a_{\lambda}}(t, y) (|v|^2 - 10) \sqrt{\mu},$$

where

$$\partial_y^2 \phi_{a_\lambda} = a_\lambda, \quad \partial_y \phi_{a_\lambda}(\pm 1) = 0, \quad \int_{-1}^1 a_\lambda(y) \, dy = 0. \tag{7.23}$$

It follows that

$$\|\phi_{a_{\lambda}}\|_{H^2} \le C \|a_{\lambda}\|. \tag{7.24}$$

We now estimate the terms in (7.22) one by one. The Cauchy–Schwarz inequality and (7.24) directly give

$$\begin{split} |(g_{\lambda}, \Psi_{a_{\lambda}})| &\leq C \|g_{2}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}g_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}, \\ \alpha |(v_{y}g_{\lambda}, \partial_{v_{x}}\Psi_{a_{\lambda}})| &\leq C\alpha \|g_{2}\|^{2} + C\alpha \|w_{q}g_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}, \\ \frac{1}{2}\alpha |(v_{x}v_{y}g_{\lambda}, \Psi_{a_{\lambda}})| &\leq C\alpha \|g_{2}\|^{2} + C\alpha \|w_{q}g_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}, \\ |(Lg_{\lambda}, \Psi_{a_{\lambda}})| &\leq \eta \|a_{\lambda,2}\|^{2} + C_{\eta} \|g_{2}\|^{2} + C_{\eta} \|w_{q}g_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

And from Lemma 2.2 and the a priori assumption (7.1) we have

$$|(\mathcal{H}, \Psi_{a_{\lambda}})| \leq C(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon} + \eta) ||a_{\lambda}||^2 + C_{\eta}(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon}) \{ ||w_q g_2||_{L^{\infty}}^2 + ||w_q g_1||_{L^{\infty}}^2 \},$$

where we have used

$$\begin{split} &|(e^{\lambda_0 t} \Gamma(f, f), \Psi_{a_{\lambda}})| \\ &\leq \eta \|a_{\lambda}\|^2 + C_{\eta} \int_{-1}^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} [e^{\lambda_0 t} \Gamma(f, f)|v_y| (|v|^2 - 10)^2 \sqrt{\mu}]^2 \, dv \, dy \\ &\leq \eta \|a_{\lambda}\|^2 + C_{\eta} \|w_q Q(\mu^{1/2} g_{\lambda}, \mu^{1/2} g_{\lambda})\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \int_{-1}^1 \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} w_{-q} [|v_y| (|v|^2 - 10)^2]^2 \, dv \right)^2 dy \\ &\leq \eta \|a_{\lambda}\|^2 + C_{\eta} \|w_q \mu^{1/2} g_{\lambda}\|_{L^{\infty}}^4 \\ &\leq \eta \|a_{\lambda}\|^2 + C_{\eta} \tilde{\varepsilon}^2 \{ \|w_q g_2\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + \|w_q g_1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \}. \end{split}$$

For the second term on the left hand side of (7.22), from the inner product $\langle (7.31), \sqrt{\mu} \rangle$, we have

$$\partial_t a_\lambda + \partial_y b_\lambda^2 = 0$$

in the weak sense, which yields

$$|(g_{\lambda}, \partial_t \Psi_{a_{\lambda}})| \le C \|b_{\lambda}^2\|^2 + C \|\mathbf{P}_1 g_2\|^2 + C \|w_q g_1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2.$$

In particular, the third term on the left hand side of (7.22) gives the following main contribution:

$$-(v_{y}g_{\lambda},\partial_{y}\Psi_{a_{\lambda}}) = -(v_{y}\mathbf{P}_{0}g_{\lambda},\partial_{y}\Psi_{\lambda,2}) - (v_{y}\mathbf{P}_{1}g_{\lambda},\partial_{y}\Psi_{\lambda})$$

$$\geq 5\|a_{\lambda}\|^{2} - \eta\|a_{\lambda}\|^{2} - C_{\eta}\|\mathbf{P}_{1}g_{\lambda}\|^{2}.$$

The boundary term $\langle v_y, (g_\lambda \Psi_{a_\lambda})(1) \rangle - \langle v_y, (g_\lambda \Psi_{a_\lambda})(-1) \rangle$ vanishes due to the boundary condition in (7.23). Putting all the above estimates for a_λ together, we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}(g_{\lambda}, \Psi_{a_{\lambda}}) + \kappa \|a_{\lambda}\|^{2}
\leq C \|b_{\lambda}^{y}\|^{2} + C \|\mathbf{P}_{1}g_{2}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}g_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon}) \|w_{q}g_{2}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2}.$$
(7.25)

Next, let

$$\Psi = \Psi_{b_{\lambda}^{i}} = \begin{cases} v_{y} v_{x} \frac{d}{dy} \phi_{b_{\lambda,1}}(y) \sqrt{\mu}, & i = 1, \\ v_{y} v_{z} \frac{d}{dy} \phi_{b_{\lambda,3}}(y) \sqrt{\mu}, & i = 3, \\ v_{y}^{2}(|v|^{2} - 5) \frac{d}{dy} \phi_{b_{\lambda,2}}(y) \sqrt{\mu}, & i = 2, \end{cases}$$

.

where

$$-\phi_{b_{\lambda}^{i}}^{\prime\prime}=b_{\lambda}^{i},\quad\phi_{b_{\lambda}^{i}}(\pm 1)=0,$$

and

$$\Psi = \Psi_{c_{\lambda}} = v_{y}(|v|^{2} - 5)\frac{d}{dy}\phi_{c_{\lambda}}(y)\sqrt{\mu},$$

where

$$-\phi_{c_{\lambda}}''=c_{\lambda}, \quad \phi_{c_{\lambda}}(\pm 1)=0$$

Similar to (5.79) and (5.81), one can show that

$$\frac{d}{dt}(g_{\lambda}, \Psi_{\mathbf{b}_{\lambda}}) + \kappa \|\mathbf{b}_{\lambda}\|^{2} \leq C \|c_{\lambda}\|^{2} + C \|\mathbf{P}_{1}g_{2}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}g_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon}) \|w_{q}g_{2}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}g_{2}|_{2,+}^{2}, \quad (7.26)$$

and

$$\frac{d}{dt}(g_{\lambda}, \Psi_{c_{\lambda}}) + \kappa \|c_{\lambda}\|^{2} \leq C \|\mathbf{P}_{1}g_{2}\|^{2} + C \|w_{q}g_{1}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon}) \|w_{q}g_{2}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}g_{2}|_{2,+}^{2}, \quad (7.27)$$

respectively. Note that the decomposition $\sqrt{\mu} g_{\lambda} = g_1 + \sqrt{\mu} g_2$ has also been used to handle the terms involving $\langle v_y, (\{I - P_y\}g_{\lambda}\Psi)(1)\rangle - \langle v_y, (\{I - P_y\}g_{\lambda}\Psi)(-1)\rangle$.

Consequently, by choosing $0 < \kappa_1 \ll \kappa_2 \ll 1$, from $\kappa_1 \times (7.25) + \kappa_2 \times (7.26) + (7.27)$ we get

$$\frac{d}{dt} \{ \kappa_1(g_{\lambda}, \Psi_{\mathbf{b}_{\lambda}}) + \kappa_2(g_{\lambda}, \Psi_{\mathbf{b}_{\lambda}}) + (g_{\lambda}, \Psi_{c_{\lambda}}) \} + \kappa \| [a_{\lambda}, \mathbf{b}_{\lambda}, c_{\lambda} \|^2
\leq C \| \mathbf{P}_1 g_2 \|^2 + C \| w_q g_1 \|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon}) \| w_q g_2 \|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}g_2|_{2,+}^2.$$
(7.28)

Finally, (7.21) follows from (7.28) by defining

$$\mathcal{E}_{\text{int}}(t) = \kappa_1(g_\lambda, \Psi_{\mathbf{b}_\lambda}) + \kappa_2(g_\lambda, \Psi_{\mathbf{b}_\lambda}) + (g_\lambda, \Psi_{c_\lambda}).$$
(7.29)

Note that (7.20) is satisfied. Thus the proof of Lemma 7.2 is complete.

Now, with Lemmas 7.2 and 7.1, we are ready to complete the proof of Theorem 1.2.

Proof of Theorem 1.2. The global existence of solution to the problem (6.2) follows from the local existence established in Section 6 and the a priori estimates in the weighted L^{∞} space by the continuity argument. Therefore, to prove Theorem 1.2, it remains to show the uniform estimate (1.23) under the a priori assumption (7.1). Indeed, by (7.19), we can rewrite (7.21) as

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{E}_{\text{int}}(t) + \lambda \|\mathbf{P}_0 g_2\|^2 \le C \|\mathbf{P}_1 g_2\|^2 + C \|w_q g_1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon}) \|w_q g_2\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C |\{I - P_\gamma\} g_2|_{2,+}^2,$$
(7.30)

where $[g_1, g_2]$ is defined in (7.17). For an L^2 estimate of $\mathbf{P}_1 g_2$, note that g_2 satisfies

$$\partial_t g_2 + v_y \partial_y g_2 - \alpha v_y \partial_{v_x} g_2 + (-\lambda_0 + L)g_2 = (1 - \chi_M) \mu^{-1/2} \mathcal{K} g_1, \qquad (7.31)$$

and

$$g_2(0, y, v) = 0, \quad g_2(\pm 1, v)|_{v_y \le 0} = \sqrt{2\pi\mu} \int_{v_y \ge 0} \sqrt{\mu} g_2(\pm 1, v)|_v v_y| dv.$$

By taking the inner product of (7.31) and g_2 with respect to y and v over $(-1, 1) \times \mathbb{R}^3$, one has

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|g_2\|^2 + |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}g_2|_{2,+}^2 + \delta_0 \|\mathbf{P}_1 g_2\|^2 \le C_{\eta} \|w_q g_1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C(\eta + \lambda_0) \|w_q g_2\|^2.$$
(7.32)

Let $\tilde{C} > 0$ be a constant sufficiently large. By taking the sum of $\tilde{C} \times (7.32)$ and (7.30) we have

$$\frac{d}{dt} \{ \tilde{C} \| g_2(t) \|^2 + \mathcal{E}_{int}(t) \} + \lambda \| g_2 \|^2 + \lambda | \{ I - P_\gamma \} g_2 |_{2,+}^2 \\
\leq C \| w_q g_1 \|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon}) \| w_q g_2 \|_{L^{\infty}}^2.$$
(7.33)

Denote

$$\mathcal{E}(t) = \tilde{C} \|g_2(t)\|^2 + \mathcal{E}_{\text{int}}(t).$$

For $\tilde{C} > 0$ large enough, from (7.20) there exist constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$ such that for any $t \ge 0$,

$$2\tilde{C} \|g_2(t)\|^2 + C_2 \|w_q g_1(t)\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \ge \mathcal{E}(t) \ge \frac{1}{2}\tilde{C} \|g_2(t)\|^2 - C_1 \|w_q g_1(t)\|_{L^{\infty}}^2.$$
(7.34)

Then, from (7.33) and (7.34), it follows that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{E}(t) + \frac{2\lambda}{\tilde{C}}\mathcal{E}(t) + \lambda |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}g_2|_{2,+}^2 \le C \|w_q g_1\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + C(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon}) \|w_q g_2\|_{L^{\infty}}^2.$$

Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}(t) + \lambda \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{2\lambda}{C}(t-s)} |\{I - P_{\gamma}\}g_{2}(s)|_{2,+}^{2} ds \\ &\leq \mathcal{E}(0)e^{-\frac{2\lambda}{C}t} + C \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{2\lambda}{C}(t-s)} \|w_{q}g_{1}(s)\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} ds \\ &+ C(\alpha + \tilde{\epsilon}) \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{2\lambda}{C}(t-s)} \|w_{q}g_{2}(s)\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} ds \\ &\leq \mathcal{E}(0) + C \sup_{0 \leq s \leq t} \|w_{q}g_{1}(s)\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} + C(\alpha + \tilde{\epsilon}) \sup_{0 \leq s \leq t} \|w_{q}g_{2}(s)\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \end{aligned}$$
(7.35)

for any $t \ge 0$. Therefore, by using (7.34) and (7.17), it follows from (7.35) that

$$\sup_{0 \le s \le t} e^{\lambda_0 s} \|f_2(s)\| \le C \sup_{0 \le s \le t} e^{\lambda_0 s} \|w_q f_1(s)\|_{L^{\infty}}$$
$$+ C(\alpha + \tilde{\varepsilon}) \sup_{0 \le s \le t} e^{\lambda_0 s} \|w_q f_2(s)\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

By putting the above estimate back to (7.3) and using the smallness of α and $\tilde{\varepsilon}$, one has

$$\sup_{0 \le s \le t} e^{\lambda_0 s} \|w_q f_2(s)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \|w_q f_0\|_{L^{\infty}} + C \sup_{0 \le s \le t} e^{\lambda_0 s} \|w_q f_1(s)\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$
 (7.36)

•
Moreover, by plugging (7.36) into (7.2) and using the smallness of α and $\tilde{\varepsilon}$ as well as (7.36), one obtains

$$\sup_{0 \le s \le t} e^{\lambda_0 s} \| w_q[f_1, f_2](s) \|_{L^{\infty}} \le C \| w_q f_0 \|_{L^{\infty}},$$

which gives (1.23). Since $||w_q f_0||_{L^{\infty}}$ is sufficiently small, the a priori assumption (7.1) is closed.

Finally, the nonnegativity of the global solution constructed above can be proved similarly to [15], so that the proof of Theorem 1.2 is complete.

8. Appendix

Recall the backward time cycle starting at $(t_0, y_0, v_0) = (t, y, v)$ in (5.18), the boundary probability measure $d\sigma_l$ on \mathcal{V}_l in (5.19) and the product measure $d\Sigma_l(s)$ over $\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_j$ in (5.24). The following lemma gives an estimate on the measure of the phase space $\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_j$ when there are k bounces.

Lemma 8.1. For any $\bar{\varepsilon} > 0$ and any $T_0 > 0$, there exists an integer $k_0 = k_0(\bar{\varepsilon}, T_0)$ such that for any integer $k \ge k_0$ and any $1 \gg \eta_0 \ge 0$ and for all $(t, y, v) \in [0, T_0] \times [-1, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^3$,

$$\int_{\prod_{l=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_l} \mathbf{1}_{\{t_k(t, y, v, v_1, \dots, v_{k-1}) > 0\}} \prod_{l=1}^{k-1} e^{\frac{\eta_0}{2} |v_{l_x}|^2} \, d\sigma_l \le \bar{\varepsilon}.$$
(8.1)

In particular, for $T_0 > 0$ large enough, there exist constants C_1 and $C_2 > 0$ independent of T_0 such that for $k = C_1 T_0^{5/4}$ with a suitable choice of C_1 such that k is an integer and for all $(t, y, v) \in [0, \infty) \times [-1, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^3$, one has

$$\int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_j} \mathbf{1}_{\{t_k(t,y,v,v_1,\dots,v_{k-1})>0\}} \prod_{l=1}^{k-1} e^{\frac{\eta_0}{2}|v_{l_x}|^2} \, d\sigma_l \le \left\{\frac{1}{2}\right\}^{C_2 T_0^{5/4}}.$$
(8.2)

Furthermore, for any q > 0 in the weight function $w_q(v)$, there exist constants $C_3, C_4 > 0$ independent of k and T_0 such that

$$\int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{V}_j} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1} \le 0 < t_l\}} \int_0^{t_l} d\Sigma_l(s) \, ds \le C_3, \tag{8.3}$$

$$\int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} v_j} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1}>0\}} \int_{t_{l+1}}^{t_l} d\Sigma_l(s) \, ds \le C_4. \tag{8.4}$$

Proof. We only give the proof for (8.1) and (8.3), since (8.2) and (8.4) can be proved similarly by using Lemma 23 in [25, p. 781]. By definition (5.19), we rewrite

$$e^{\eta_0|v_{lx}|^2} d\sigma_l = \frac{1}{2\pi} e^{\frac{\eta_0}{2}|v_{lx}|^2} e^{-\frac{|v_l|^2}{2}} |v_{ly}| dv_l$$

= $\frac{1}{2\pi} e^{\frac{1}{2}(\eta_0 - 1)|v_{lx}|^2} dv_{lx} e^{-\frac{|v_{ly}|^2 + |v_{lz}|^2}{2}} |v_{ly}| dv_{ly} dv_{lz}.$

On the other hand, if we choose η_0 so that $0 \le \eta_0 \le \frac{1}{k-1}$, then we have

$$\prod_{l=1}^{k-1} (\sqrt{2\pi})^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{\frac{1}{2}(\eta_0 - 1)|v_{lx}|^2} \, dv_{lx} = (1 - \eta_0)^{-(k-1)/2} \le e^{1/2}.$$

Thus for $0 \le \eta_0 \le \frac{1}{k-1}$, one gets

$$\int_{\prod_{l=1}^{k-1} v_l} \mathbf{1}_{\{t_k(t,y,v,v_1,\dots,v_{k-1})>0\}} \prod_{l=1}^{k-1} e^{\frac{n_0}{2} |v_{l_x}|^2} d\sigma_l$$

$$\leq e^{1/2} \int_{\prod_{l=1}^{k-1} \tilde{v}_l} \mathbf{1}_{\{t_k(t,y,v,v_1,\dots,v_{k-1})>0\}} d\bar{\sigma}_l, \quad (8.5)$$

where

$$\bar{\mathcal{V}}_j = \{ (v_{jy}, v_{jz}) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid v_j \cdot n(y_j) > 0 \}, \quad \bar{\sigma}_l = e^{-\frac{|v_{ly}|^2 + |v_{lz}|^2}{2}} |v_{ly}| \, dv_{ly} \, dv_{lz}.$$

Next performing similar calculations to the proof of (194) in [25, Lemma 23, p. 781], we can obtain

$$\int_{\prod_{l=1}^{k-1} \bar{v}_l} \mathbf{1}_{\{t_k(t,y,v,v_1,...,v_{k-1})>0\}} \, d\bar{\sigma}_l \leq e^{-1/2} \bar{\varepsilon},$$

which together with (8.5) implies that (8.1) is valid.

We now turn to the proof of (8.3). Recall the definition (5.24). We have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} v_j} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1} \le 0 < t_l\}} \int_0^{t_l} d\Sigma_l(s) \, ds \\ &= \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} v_j} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \mathbf{1}_{\{t_{l+1} \le 0 < t_l\}} \int_0^{t_l} \prod_{j=l+1}^{k-1} d\sigma_j \, e^{-\int_s^{t_l} \mathcal{A}^\epsilon(\tau, V_{\mathbf{cl}}^l(\tau)) \, d\tau} \tilde{w}(v_l) \, d\sigma_l \\ &\qquad \times \prod_{j=1}^{l-1} \frac{\tilde{w}(v_j)}{\tilde{w}(V_{\mathbf{cl}}^j(t_{j+1}))} e^{-\int_{t_{j+1}}^{t_j} \mathcal{A}^\epsilon(\tau, V_{\mathbf{cl}}^l(\tau)) \, d\tau} \, d\sigma_j \, ds, \end{split}$$

which, using direct calculations, can be bounded by

$$\begin{split} \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{k-1} v_j} \mathbf{1}_{t_k \le 0} \int_0^{t_l} \prod_{j=l+1}^{k-1} d\sigma_j e^{-\frac{v_0}{2}(t_l-s)} \tilde{w}(v_l) \, d\sigma_l \\ & \times \prod_{j=1}^{l-1} \frac{\tilde{w}(v_j)}{\tilde{w}(V_{\mathbf{cl}}^j(t_{j+1}))} e^{-\frac{v_0}{2}(t_j-t_{j+1})} \, d\sigma_j \, ds \\ & \le C \int_{\prod_{j=1}^{l} v_j} \int_0^{t_l} e^{-\frac{v_0}{2}(t_l-s)} \tilde{w}(v_l) \, d\sigma_l \prod_{j=1}^{l-1} \, d\sigma_j \, ds \le C. \end{split}$$

Here we have used, for $0 \le \eta_0 \ll 1$,

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_l} \tilde{w}_2(v_l) \, d\sigma_l < \infty, \quad \int_{\mathcal{V}_j} e^{\eta_0 |v_{jx}|^2/4} \, d\sigma_j < \infty,$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\tilde{w}(v_j)}{\tilde{w}(V_{\mathbf{cl}}^j(t_{j+1}))} &= \frac{w_q(V_{\mathbf{cl}}^j(t_{j+1}))\mu^{1/2}(V_{\mathbf{cl}}^j(t_{j+1}))}{w_q(v_j)\mu^{1/2}(v_j)} \\ &= \frac{(1+|V_{\mathbf{cl}}^j(t_{j+1})|^2)^q}{(1+|v_j|^2)^q} \cdot e^{\frac{|v_j|^2 - |V_{\mathbf{cl}}^j(t_{j+1})|^2}{4}} \\ &\leq 2^q(1+|V_{\mathbf{cl}}^j(t_{j+1}) - v_j|^2)^q e^{\frac{C\eta_0\alpha^2(t_b(v_j)v_{jy})^2 + \eta_0|v_{jx}|^2}{4}} \\ &\leq 2^q(1+4\alpha^2)^q e^{C\eta_0\alpha^2} e^{\frac{\eta_0|v_{jx}|^2}{4}}, \end{aligned}$$

by Peetre's inequality and the fact that $\alpha |t_b(v_j)v_{jy}| \le 2\alpha$. Thus the proof of the lemma is complete.

Remark 8.1. The time interval $[0, T_0]$ in Lemma 8.1 can be replaced by any interval [s, t] of length $t - s = T_0$. In addition, since

$$\int_{\mathcal{V}_l} \tilde{w}_1(v_l) \, d\sigma_l < \infty, \quad q > 3/2,$$

and \mathcal{A}^{ϵ} , \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}_1 have the same lower bound $\nu_0/2$, the statement in Lemma 8.1 is also valid if $\Sigma_l(s)$ is replaced by either $\overline{\Sigma}_l(s)$ or $\widetilde{\Sigma}_l^{(i)}(s)$ (i = 1, 2).

Funding. Renjun Duan's research was partially supported by the General Research Fund (Project No. 14301719) from RGC of Hong Kong and the Direct Grant (4053515) from CUHK. Shuangqian Liu's research was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (contracts 12325107 and 11971201), and Hong Kong Institute for Advanced Study No. 9360157. Tong Yang's research was supported by a fellowship award from the Research Grants Council of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, China (Project no. SRF2021-1S01) and the National Natural Science Foundation of China no. 11971200. This work was also partially supported by the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities.

References

- Arkeryd, L., Esposito, R., Marra, R., Nouri, A.: Ghost effect by curvature in planar Couette flow. Kinet. Relat. Models 4, 109–138 (2011) Zbl 1210.82027 MR 2765739
- [2] Arkeryd, L., Esposito, R., Pulvirenti, M.: The Boltzmann equation for weakly inhomogeneous data. Comm. Math. Phys. 111, 393–407 (1987) Zbl 0663.76080 MR 900501
- [3] Arkeryd, L., Nouri, A.: The stationary nonlinear Boltzmann equation in a Couette setting with multiple, isolated L^q-solutions and hydrodynamic limits. J. Statist. Phys. 118, 849–881 (2005) Zbl 1076.82039 MR 2130642
- [4] Arkeryd, L., Nouri, A.: On a Taylor–Couette type bifurcation for the stationary nonlinear Boltzmann equation. J. Statist. Phys. 124, 401–443 (2006) Zbl 1134.82028 MR 2264614

- [5] Bedrossian, J., Germain, P., Masmoudi, N.: On the stability threshold for the 3D Couette flow in Sobolev regularity. Ann. of Math. (2) 185, 541–608 (2017) Zbl 1366.35113 MR 3612004
- [6] Bedrossian, J., Germain, P., Masmoudi, N.: Stability of the Couette flow at high Reynolds numbers in two dimensions and three dimensions. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 56, 373–414 (2019) Zbl 1445.76042 MR 3974608
- [7] Bedrossian, J., Masmoudi, N.: Inviscid damping and the asymptotic stability of planar shear flows in the 2D Euler equations. Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 122, 195–300 (2015) Zbl 1375.35340 MR 3415068
- [8] Bedrossian, J., Masmoudi, N., Vicol, V.: Enhanced dissipation and inviscid damping in the inviscid limit of the Navier–Stokes equations near the two dimensional Couette flow. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 219, 1087–1159 (2016) Zbl 1339.35208 MR 3448924
- [9] Bobylev, A., Nota, A., Velázquez, J. J. L.: Self-similar asymptotics for a modified Maxwell– Boltzmann equation in systems subject to deformations. Comm. Math. Phys. 380, 409–448 (2020) Zbl 1454.82032 MR 4166631
- [10] Caflisch, R. E.: The Boltzmann equation with a soft potential. II. Nonlinear, spatially-periodic. Comm. Math. Phys. 74, 97–109 (1980) Zbl 0434.76066 MR 576265
- [11] Cercignani, C.: The Boltzmann equation and its applications. Applied Mathematical Sciences 67, Springer, New York (1988) Zbl 0646.76001 MR 1313028
- [12] Cercignani, C., Cortese, S.: Validation of a Monte Carlo simulation of the plane Couette flow of a rarefied gas. J. Statist. Phys. 75, 817–838 (1994) Zbl 0834.76066
- [13] Di Meo, M., Esposito, R.: The Navier–Stokes limit of the stationary Boltzmann equation for hard potentials. J. Statist. Phys. 84, 859–873 (1996) Zbl 1078.82524 MR 1400188
- [14] Duan, R., Huang, F., Wang, Y., Zhang, Z.: Effects of soft interaction and non-isothermal boundary upon long-time dynamics of rarefied gas. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 234, 925–1006 (2019) Zbl 1428.35265 MR 3995054
- [15] Duan, R., Liu, S.: The Boltzmann equation for uniform shear flow. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 242, 1947–2002 (2021) Zbl 1477.76075 MR 4334739
- [16] Esposito, R., Guo, Y., Kim, C., Marra, R.: Non-isothermal boundary in the Boltzmann theory and Fourier law. Comm. Math. Phys. 323, 177–239 (2013) Zbl 1280.82009 MR 3085665
- [17] Esposito, R., Guo, Y., Kim, C., Marra, R.: Stationary solutions to the Boltzmann equation in the hydrodynamic limit. Ann. PDE 4, art. 1, 119 pp. (2018) Zbl 1403.35195 MR 3740632
- [18] Esposito, R., Lebowitz, J. L., Marra, R.: Hydrodynamic limit of the stationary Boltzmann equation in a slab. Comm. Math. Phys. **160**, 49–80 (1994) Zbl 0790.76072 MR 1262191
- [19] Esposito, R., Lebowitz, J. L., Marra, R.: The Navier–Stokes limit of stationary solutions of the nonlinear Boltzmann equation. J. Statist. Phys. 78, 389–412 (1995) Zbl 1078.82525 MR 1317151
- [20] Esposito, R., Marra, R.: Stationary non equilibrium states in kinetic theory. J. Statist. Phys. 180, 773–809 (2020) Zbl 1447.82026 MR 4131014
- [21] Galkin, V. S.: On a class of solutions of Grad's moment equations. Prikl. Mat. Mekh. 20, 445–446 (1956) (in Russian); English transl.: J. Appl. Math. Mech. 22, 532–536 (1958)
 Zbl 0171.46601 MR 104370
- [22] Garzó, V., Santos, A.: Kinetic theory of gases in shear flows. Fundamental Theories of Physics 131, Kluwer, Dordrecht (2003) Zbl 1140.82030 MR 2012795
- [23] Guo, Y.: The Vlasov–Poisson–Boltzmann system near Maxwellians. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 55, 1104–1135 (2002) Zbl 1027.82035 MR 1908664
- [24] Guo, Y.: Boltzmann diffusive limit beyond the Navier–Stokes approximation. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 59, 626–687 (2006) Zbl 1089.76052 MR 2172804
- [25] Guo, Y.: Decay and continuity of the Boltzmann equation in bounded domains. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 197, 713–809 (2010) Zbl 1291.76276 MR 2679358

- [26] Ionescu, A. D., Jia, H.: Inviscid damping near the Couette flow in a channel. Comm. Math. Phys. 374, 2015–2096 (2020) Zbl 1468.76025 MR 4076093
- [27] James, R. D., Nota, A., Velázquez, J. J. L.: Self-similar profiles for homoenergetic solutions of the Boltzmann equation: particle velocity distribution and entropy. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 231, 787–843 (2019) Zbl 1430.82012 MR 3900814
- [28] Kogan, M. N.: Rarefied Gas Dynamics. Plenum Press, New York (1969)
- [29] Liu, C.-Y., Lees, L.: Kinetic theory description of plane compressible Couette flow. In: Rarefied gas dynamics, Adv. Appl. Mech., Supplement 1, Academic Press, New York, 391–428 (1961) MR 153220
- [30] Ohwada, T., Sone, Y., Aoki, K.: Numerical analysis of the shear and thermal creep flows of a rarefied gas over a plane wall on the basis of the linearized Boltzmann equation for hardsphere molecules. Phys. Fluids A 1, 1588–1599 (1989)
- [31] Rogozin, O.: Numerical analysis of the nonlinear plane Couette-flow problem of a rarefied gas for hard-sphere molecules. Eur. J. Mech. B Fluids 60, 148–163 (2016) Zbl 1408.76456 MR 3554212
- [32] Schmid, P. J., Henningson, D. S.: Stability and transition in shear flows. Applied Mathematical Sciences 142, Springer, New York (2001) Zbl 0966.76003 MR 1801992
- [33] Sone, Y.: Molecular gas dynamics. Modeling and Simulation in Science, Engineering and Technology. Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA (2007) Zbl 1144.76001 MR 2274674
- [34] Sone, Y., Takata, S., Ohwada, T.: Numerical analysis of the plane Couette flow of a rarefied gas on the basis of the linearized Boltzmann equation for hard-sphere molecules. Eur. J. Mech. B Fluids 9, 273–288 (1990) Zbl 0696.76089
- [35] Sone, Y., Yamamoto, K.: Flow of rarefied gas over plane wall. J. Phys. Soc. Japan 29, 495–508 (1970) Zbl 0245.76063
- [36] Truesdell, C.: On the pressures and the flux of energy in a gas according to Maxwell's kinetic theory. II. J. Ration. Mech. Anal. 5, 55–128 (1956) Zbl 0070.23505 MR 75726
- [37] Truesdell, C., Muncaster, R. G.: Fundamentals of Maxwell's kinetic theory of a simple monatomic gas. Pure and Applied Mathematics 83, Academic Press, New York (1980) Zbl 1515.80001 MR 554086